



# VOLUME II ISSUE IV

# ISSN 2619-9653

http://dergipark.gov.tr/ujma

VOLUME II ISSUE IV ISSN 2619-9653 December 2019 http://dergipark.gov.tr/ujma

# UNIVERSAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS

# UJMA

#### **Editors in Chief**

Emrah Evren Kara Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE eevrenkara@duzce.edu.tr Fuat Usta Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE fuatusta@duzce.edu.tr

#### Managing Editor

Merve İlkhan Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE merveilkhan@duzce.edu.tr

#### Editorial Board of Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Hari Mohan Srivastava University of Victoria, CANADA

Poom Kumam King Mongkut's University of Technology Thonburi, THAILAND

Necip Şimşek İstanbul Commerce University, TÜRKİYE

Michael Th. Rassias University of Zurich, SWITZERLAND

Murat Tosun Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Dumitru Baleanu Çankaya University, TÜRKİYE

İshak Altun Kırıkkale University, TÜRKİYE Mohammad Mursaleen Aligarh Muslim University, INDIA

> Soley Ersoy Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Syed Abdul Mohiuddine Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Murat Kirişçi İstanbul Cerrahpaşa University, TÜRKİYE

Feng Qi Henan Polytechnic University, CHINA

> Silvestru Sever Dragomir Victoria University, AUSTRALIA

> > İsmet Altıntaş Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Changjin Xu Guizhou University of Finance and Economics, CHINA

Sidney Allen Morris Federation University, AUSTRALIA

Mahmut Akyiğit Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Mujahid Abbas University of Pretoria, SOUTH AFRICA Ljubisa D. R. Kocinac University of Nis, SERBIA

Waqas Nazeer University of Education, PAKISTAN

Yeol Je Cho Gyeongsang National University, KOREA

#### **Editorial Secretariat**

Pınar Zengin Alp Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE Editorial Secretariat Hande Kormalı Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE

### Contents

1	The Topological Connectivity of the Independence Complex of Circular-Arc Graphs Yousef Mathkal Abd Algani	159-169
2	Dynamics of a Host-Parasitoid Model Related to Pennycuick Growth Form Özlem Ak Gümüüş, Bekir Sıtkı Bilgi	170-179
3	Compact Finite Differences Method for FitzHugh-Nagumo Equation Canan Akkoyunlu	180-187
4	Some Relations Between the Riemann Zeta Function and the Generalized Bernoulli Pomials of Level $m$ Yamilet Quintana, Hector Torres-Guzman	olyno- 188-201
5	Solutions of a System of Two Higher-Order Difference Equations in Terms of Lucas Sequ Amira Khelifa, Yacine Halim, Massaoud Berkal	uence 202-211
6	Global Behavior of Two Rational Third Order Difference Equations R. Abo-Zeid, H. Kamal	212-217
7	Some Results on Nearly Cosymplectic Manifolds Adile Dündar, Nesip Aktan	218-223
8	On a Competitive System of Rational Difference Equations Mehmet Gümüş	224-228

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: https://doi.org/10.32323/ujma.556457



# The Topological Connectivity of the Independence Complex of Circular-Arc Graphs

Yousef Mathkal Abd Algani<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, University of Haifa, Haifa. <sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics, The Arab Academic College for Education, Haifa. Israel.

Article Info

#### Abstract

Keywords: Topological Connectivity, Independence Complex, Circular-Arc Graphs. 2010 AMS: 97K30 Received: 20 April 2019 Accepted: 25 September 2019 Available online: 26 December 2019 Let us denoted the topological connectivity of a simplicial complex *C* plus 2 by  $\eta(C)$ . Let  $\psi$  be a function from class of graphs to the set of positive integers together with  $\infty$ . Suppose  $\psi$  satisfies the following properties:

1.  $\psi(K_0)=0$ .

2. For every graph G there exists an edge e = (x, y) of G such that

 $\psi(G-e) \ge \psi(G)$ 

(where G - e is obtained from G by the removal of the edge e), and

 $\psi(G - N(\{x, y\})) \ge \psi(G) - 1$ 

then

 $\eta(\mathscr{I}(G)) \ge \psi(G)$ 

(where  $(G - N(\{x, y\}))$  is obtained from G by the removal of all neighbors of x and y (including, of course, x and y themselves).

Let us denoted the maximal function satisfying the conditions above by  $\psi_0$ .

Berger [3] prove the following conjecture:

$$\eta(\mathscr{I}(G)) = \psi_0(G)$$

for trees and completements of chordal graphs.

Kawamura [2] proved conjecture, for chordal graphs. Berger [3] proved Conjecture for trees and completements of chordal graphs. In this article I proved the following theorem: Let *G* be a circular-arc graph *G* if  $\psi_0(G) \leq 2$  then  $\eta(\mathscr{I}(G)) \leq 2$ . Prior the attempt to verify the previously mentioned cases, we need a few preparations which will be discussed in the introduction.

#### 1. Introduction

A non-empty collection C of sets is called a *simplicial complex* if it is hereditary, namely if  $\sigma \in C$  and  $\tau \subseteq \sigma$  imply  $\tau \in C$ . It is well known that every simplicial complex has a unique (up to homeomorphism) geometric realisation, namely an embedding in some space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , in which every simplex  $\sigma \in C$  is realized as a homeomorph of a simplex in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

The simplicial join of X and Y. Denoted by X \* Y is the (geometric realization of) a simplicial complex defined by

 $X * Y = \{ \sigma \cup \tau \mid \sigma \in X \tau \in Y \}$ 

Email address and ORCID number: yosefabdalgani@gmail.com, 0000-0003-2801-5880 (Y. M. Abd Algani)

Although we use the same symbol \* to mean the join of graphs and the join of simplicial complex, this causes no confusion in the seqel. the join of simplicial complex X with a singleton v is the cone of X with apex v, denoted  $C_v X$ . the suspension of X the join of  $S^0$  and X, is denoted by susp X.

We shall identify a complex with its geometric realisation. *The topological connectivity* of a simplicial complex *C* is the largest number *c* such that for every number  $k \le c$ , every embedding of the *k*-dimensional sphere  $S^k$  is extendable to an embedding of the k+1-dimensional ball  $B^{k+1}$  in *C*. The connectivity of a complex may be infinite. The connectivity of *C*, plus 2, is denoted by  $\eta(C)$  .the reason for this definition is that the addition of 2 makes the formulation of some results more elegant.

For a graph *G* with the vertex set *V*, a subset *A* of *V* is said to be independent if no two distinct vertices of *A* are adjacent. A subset *S* of *V* is said to be dominating in *G* if every vertex  $v \in V$  is adjacent to a vertex of *S*. The domination number  $\gamma(G)$  is the minimum of the cardinality of dominating sets of *G* :  $\gamma(G) = min\{|S||S \text{ is dominating in } G\}$ .

For a graph *H*, we denote by  $\mathscr{I}(H)$  the simplicial complex consisting of all independent sets of vertices in *H*. As before, let  $V_i, i \le m$  be a partition of the vertex set of a graph *G*. Given a vertex  $v \in V(G)$ , we write i(v). for the index *i* for which  $v \in V_i$ . For a set *Z* of vertices we write  $I(Z) = \{i(z) : z \in Z\}$ . As usual, we denote the set  $\{1, ..., m\}$  by [m]. Given a subset *I* of [m], we write  $V_I$  for  $\bigcup_{i \in I} V_i$ .

Consider a graph G with a partition  $V_1, V_2, ..., V_m$  of its vertex set. A choice of one vertex from each set  $V_i$  is called an *independent system of representative* (ISR) if the selected vertices are non-adjacent in G. Existence of ISR :

**Theorem 1.1.** *If for all*  $I \subseteq [m]$ 

$$\eta(\mathscr{I}(G[V_I])) \ge |I|$$

then the partition  $(V_i)$   $(i \le m)$  of V(G) has an ISR.

To exemplify these notions and the above theorem, consider a bipartite graph *G*, whose sides are the two parts  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  of the given partition. In this case there exists an ISR if and only if the graph is not complete bipartite. But not being complete bipartite means the existence if a connection in  $\mathscr{I}(G)$  between the two simplices  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  of  $\mathscr{I}(G)$ . Thus, not being complete bipartite is tantamount to  $\mathscr{I}(G)$  being connected, which, in the above terminology, means being 0-connected, which means that  $\eta(\mathscr{I}(G)) \ge 2$ . Thus is this example, the condition of the theorem is not only sufficient, but also necessary (Enough to inseart one arc between tow simplices to be connected).

**Theorem 1.2.** Let  $\psi$  be a function from class of graphs to the set of positive integers together with  $\infty$ . Suppose  $\psi$  satisfies the following properties:

1.  $\psi(K_0) = 0$ .

2. For every graph G there exists an edge e=(x,y) of G such that

$$\psi(G-e) \geq \psi(G)$$

(where G - e is obtained from G by the removal of the edge e), and

$$\psi(G - N(\{x, y\})) \ge \psi(G) - 1$$

then

$$\eta(\mathscr{I}(G)) \geq \psi(G)$$

(where  $(G - N(\{x, y\}))$  is obtained from G by the removal of all neighbors of x and y (including, of course, x and y themselves).

In fact, there is a maximal function  $\psi_0$  satisfying the conditions of the theorem. It is best described in terms of a game between two players, (I) and (II). Player (I) want to maximize the function  $\psi$  in the theorem(and hence prove that  $\psi$  is large), while player(II) wants to minimize  $\psi$ . Player (I) selects an edge e = (x, y) in the graph given at the present stage of the game. Player (II) chooses between two possibilities: he or she either (1) deletes *e* from the graph, or else (2) deletes all neighbors of *x* and *y* (including, of course, *x* and *y* themselves). the game ends when either there remains an isolated vertex, in which case  $\psi$  is defined as  $\infty$ , or there are no remaining vertices, in which case  $\psi$  is defined as the number of moves of player (II) of type (2).

We define  $\psi_0(G)$  as the maximal value of  $\psi(G)$  player (I) can achieve in the game. Theorem 1.2 then states that  $\eta(\mathscr{I}(G)) \ge \psi(G)$ . Aharoni, Berger and Ziv [1] suggested the following *conjecture*:

#### Conjecture 1.3.

$$\eta(\mathscr{I}(G)) = \psi_0(G)$$

Kawamura [2] proved the conjecture for chordal graphs. Now we define a chordal graph: A graph is *chordal* if each of its cycles of four or more nodes has a chord, which is an edge joining two nodes that are not adjacent in the cycle. Chordal graphs are know to be perfect graphs. They are sometimes also called triangulated graphs.

The chordal graphs are the intersection graphs of subtrees of a tree A classical theorem of Dirac [4] states that For each chordal graph G, there exists a vertex, called a *simplicial vertex*, such that N(v) is a complete graph.

In this article I proved the obove conjecture for Circular-arc graphs. The *circular-arc graphs*, defined as the intersection graphs of a set of arcs on the circle. Such a graph has one vertex for each arc in the set, and an edge between every pair of vertices corresponding to arcs that intersect.

Formally, let

$$I_1, I_2, \dots, I_n \subseteq S^1$$

be a set of arcs. Then the corresponding circular-arc graph is G = (V, E), where

$$V = \{I_1, I_2, \dots, I_n\}$$

and

$$\{I_{\alpha}, I_{\beta}\} \in E \Leftrightarrow I_{\alpha} \bigcap I_{\beta} \neq \emptyset$$

A family of arcs that corresponds to G is called an arc model of G. In [3] the following was proved:

**Theorem 1.4.** Let G be a minimal counterexample for conjecture 1.3. Then G has no vertex of degree 1.

Corollary 1.5. Conjecture 1.3 holds for every tree.

The following was also proved in [3]

**Theorem 1.6.** If G is a connected chordal graph then  $\psi_0(\overline{G}) = \infty$ .

Theorems 1.6 and Corollary 1.5 of Berger prove Conjecture 1.3 for trees and completements of chordal graphs. Kawamura [2] proved it for chordal graphs.

**Theorem 1.7.** Let G be a chordal graph. then  $\mathscr{I}(G)$  is either contractible or is homotopy equivialent to the wedge of finitely many spheres  $\bigvee S^{k_t}$ . where  $k_t \ge \gamma(G) - 1$  for each  $k_t$ .

Conversely, all finite wedges of phares appear as homotopy types of independence complex of chordal graphs. thus

**Observation 1.8.** (1) Let *L* be a simplicial complex and let  $k_1, ..., k_r$  be subcomplexes of *L* (repetitions allowed). Take mutually distinct points  $u_1, ..., u_r$  and *v* with  $\{u_1, ..., u_r, v\} \cup L = \phi$ . then the union

$$X = C_v L \cup \bigcup_{i=1}^r C_{u_i} K$$

Subject to the conditions

$$C_{u_i}K_i \cap C_v L = K_i and$$
  

$$C_{u_i}K_i \cap C_{u_i}L = K_i \cap K_i (i, j = 1, ..., i \neq j).$$

is homotopy equivalent to  $\bigvee_{i=1}^{r} suspK_i$ . (2)The suspension susp X is contractible for each contractible complex X. (3)susp $(\lor S^{k_r}) \simeq \lor S^{k_r+1}$ .

The following lemma provides us with a clear view on the structure of independence complexes of chordal graphs. For a vertex v of a graph G, let  $I_v(G)$  be the subcomplex generated by the independent sets containing v:

 $I_{v}(G) = \{A \mid \text{there exists a simplex } B \in I(G) \text{ such that } v \in B \text{ and } A \subset B \}.$ 

**Lemma 1.9.** Let G be a graph and let v be a simplicial vertex of G. Enumerate N(v) as  $N(v) = \{w_1, ..., w_r\}$ . then we have the following.

$$I(G) \simeq \bigvee suspI(G - N[w_i]).$$

For each chordal garph *G*, we define  $\eta(G) \in \{0, 1, ..., \infty\}$  as follows: if I(G) is contractible, then let  $\eta(G) = \infty$  and, if I(G) is homotopy equivalent to the wedge  $\bigvee S^{i_r}$ , then let  $\eta(G) = mini_r$ , the minimum dimension of the associated spheres. under this notation theorem 1.7 and lemmaa 1.9 yield the following corollary.

#### **Corollary 1.10.** *Let G be a chordal graph.*

(1) We have an inequality  $\eta(G) \ge \gamma(G) - 1$ . (2) Let v be a simplicial vertex of G and enumerate N(v) as  $N(v) = \{w_1, ..., w_r\}$ . then we have  $\eta(G) = \min\{\eta(g - n[w_i]) | i = 1, ..., r\} + 1$ . here we make a convention that  $\min\{\infty, ..., \infty\} + 1 = \infty$ .

For the path  $P_n$  with n edges,  $I(P_n)$  is contractible if  $n \equiv 0 \pmod{3}$  and is homotopy equivalent to the sphere of dimension  $\lfloor \frac{n}{3} \rfloor$ . hence we have  $\begin{pmatrix} \infty & if \qquad n \equiv 0 \pmod{3} \end{pmatrix}$ 

$$\eta(P_n) = \begin{cases} \infty & if \quad n \equiv 0 \pmod{3} \\ \\ \lfloor \frac{n}{3} \rfloor & otherwise \end{cases}$$

It shoud be noted that *Kazuhiro Kawwamura* [2] was proved above for chordal graphes (*Theorem 1.7, Observation 1.8, Lemma 1.9 and Corollary 1.10*).

#### 2. New Result

In this article I proved the following theorem, about circular-arc graphes.

**Theorem 2.1.** Let G be a circular-arc graph, if exist that  $\psi_0(G) \leq 2$  then  $\eta(\mathscr{I}(G)) \leq 2$ .

#### 3. Some simple graphs

#### **3.1.** Path Grap, $P_n$

**Definition 3.1.** In graph theory, Graph (V, E) with n + 1 vertices, which is a simple path is called path graph and is denoted  $P_n$ . Formally, a set V of vertices  $V = \{1, 2, ..., n+1\}$ , and a set E of edges  $E = \{\{i, i+1\} | i = 1, 2, ..., n\}$ .

(see Fig. 3.1).





Before we begin we want to define the concept of *retraction*:

**Definition 3.2.** Let X be a topological space, let  $A \subseteq X$ , and let  $i : A \hookrightarrow X$  be the inclusion map. A continuous map  $f : X \to A$  is called a *retraction* if

$$f|_A = id_A;$$

Correspondingly, A is called a retract, a deformation retraction of X.

In the first stage we will explain the previously mention corollary 1.10:, but will begin by adding a chart which summarizes the main points regarding the corollary 1.10

$$\eta(P_n) = \psi_0(P_n) = \begin{cases} \infty & if \qquad n \equiv 0 \pmod{3} \\ \\ \lfloor \frac{n}{3} \rfloor & otherwise \end{cases}$$





Figure 1: The independent complex of *P*<sub>5</sub>.

Let's start from  $P_1$  and  $P_2$ , the independent complex is not connected, then:

 $\eta(P_1) = \eta(P_2) = 1.$ 

In the case  $P_3$  the  $\mathscr{I}(P_3)$  is contractible, then  $\eta(P_3) = \infty$ .

In the case  $P_4$ , let us denote the vertecies  $v_1, v_2...v_5$ . In the  $\mathscr{I}(P_4)$  (See Fig 1), let *L* be a set that contains  $\{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$ , denote by *K* the set of vertecies which are connected to  $v_4$ , and  $v_5$  connected to the elements in *L*. Now we can contractible  $v_3$  into  $v_4$ ,( and this does not change homotopy ).



Figure 2: contractibiton v<sub>3</sub> into v<sub>4</sub>.

then

 $\eta(susp(\mathscr{I}(P_4))) = 2.$ 

(See Fig. 2).

In the case of  $P_7$ , we denote the vertecies  $\{v_1, v_2, ..., v_7\}$ . We will construct the independent complex as shown in the picture below (See Fig.3), we notice that  $N(v_5) \subseteq N(v_7)$ , then we can contract  $v_5$  into  $v_7$ .





After contraction, the result is Figure 4.



Figure 4: Contraction v<sub>5</sub> into v<sub>7</sub>.

In the case of  $P_{10}$ , we denote the vertecies  $v_1, v_2, ..., v_{10}$ . We construct the independent complex, we notice that  $N(v_8) \subseteq N(v_{10})$ , then we can contract  $v_8$  into  $v_{10}$ .

Now can prove the above case using induction, if we have two arcs  $U \subseteq V$ , (Fig 5), (If all the neighbors of U contained in the neighbors of V) we can contract all independent sets in U into V and they remain independent.



#### 3.2. Circle Grap, C<sub>n</sub>

Now we want to know the topology connectivity of a Circle Graph. At first I want to deine the Circle Graph.

**Definition 3.3.** A graph with *n* vertexes which resembles a circle, is called a **Circle Graph** and is denoted by  $C_n$ . Formally, the graph set of vertexes is  $V = \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$  and the arc's set is  $E = \{\{i, (i+1) \mod n\} | i = 0, 1, ..., n-1\}$ .

We will start case  $C_5$ , and we will finde its topological connectivity:

#### 3.2.1. C<sub>5</sub>

In the first stage we built the independent complex of  $C_5$  (Figure 6), and the  $\mathscr{I}(C_5)$  is connected, but not simply connected then

$$\eta(C_5)=2.$$



Figure 6:  $\mathscr{I}(C_5)$ 

To get  $\psi_0$  we want to remove an arc, Then the new graph is  $P_4$ . Then

$$\eta(C_5) = \psi_0(C_5) = 2.$$

**3.2.2.** C<sub>6</sub>

At this stage we will show that

 $\eta(C_5) = \psi_0(C_5) = 2.$ 

 $C_6$  contains the vertexes { $v_1, v_2, ..., v_6$ }. At the independent complex of  $C_6$  (Figure 7), the  $N(v_4)$ -( $v_1$  and  $v_2$ ) denote by  $K_1$ , the  $N(v_6)$ -( $v_2$  and  $v_3$ ) denote by  $K_2$ , the  $N(v_5)$ -( $v_1, v_2$  and  $v_3$ ) denote by L.



Figure 7:  $\mathscr{I}(C_6)$ 

$$\mathscr{I}(c_6) \cong susp \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ \cdot \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \lor susp \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ \cdot \\ 3 \end{pmatrix} =$$
  
For the same reason of the case  $C_5$ :  $\psi_0 = 2$ , then

$$\psi_0(C_6) = \eta(C_6) = 2.$$

**3.2.3.** C<sub>8</sub>



**Figure 8:** (*C*<sub>8</sub>)

Constructing the independent complex of  $C_8$  is not simple.

We denote the vertexes of  $C_8$  by  $\{v_1, v_2, ..., v_8\}$ , see figure 8.

We will construct the independent complex as follows:

We denote the neighbors of the vertex  $v_6$  by K1, and denote the neighbors of the vertex  $v_8$  by K2. The suspension of the form Figure 9



**Figure 9:** The first stage of constructing  $\mathscr{I}(C_8)$ 

is homotope to:

$$\mathscr{I}(fig9) \cong susp \begin{pmatrix} 2\\4\\1\\3 \end{pmatrix} \lor susp \begin{pmatrix} 4\\2\\5\\3 \end{pmatrix}$$

and we have the arc { $v_6$ ,  $v_8$ }. Ohterwise the independent complex is contactible and the topological connectivity will be  $\infty$ . Will complete construction of independent complex of  $C_8$ , and we will obtain the form seen in *Fig.*10.



Figure 10:  $\mathscr{I}(C_8)$ 

We have put two contractible independent complexes with anther contractible, that is the neighbors of  $v_7$  (See Fig. 11).



Figure 11: Contraction

We will contract the form Fig 11, to three vertexes  $v_2, v_4$  and  $v_3 \stackrel{v_2}{\bullet} \stackrel{v_4}{\bullet}$  and one arc  $\{v_2, v_4\}$ . We will contract  $\stackrel{v_2}{\bullet} \stackrel{v_4}{\bullet}$  to one vertex denoted by  $v_{24}$ .

The independent complex of  $C_8$  after the contraction, looks like Fig. 12, and that homotopy to  $S^2$ . Then

 $\eta(C_8)=3.$ 



Figure 12: Contractible  $\mathscr{I}(C_8)$ 

#### 3.2.4. General Case C<sub>n</sub>

Getting back to the last case  $(C_8)$ , and denoting  $v_8$  by n,  $v_7$  by n-1 and  $v_6$  by n-2. We have seen something else: if we ignore the relationship between n and n-2, then we have obtained:

 $\mathscr{I}(C_n) \cong Susp(P_{n-5}) \bigvee Susp(P_{n-5}) \bigvee Susp(Susp(P_{n-6})).$ 

and the value of  $\eta(C_n)$ :

 $\eta(C_n) = min(\eta(P_{n-5}) + 1, \eta(P_{n-6}) + 2).$ 

We have three cases:

1. If  $n \equiv 0 \pmod{3}$ 

then  $\eta(P_{n-6}) = \infty$ , then the minimum is  $\eta(P_{n-5}) + 1 = \lceil \frac{n-5}{3} \rceil + 1$ , and the result is:

$$\lceil \frac{n-5}{3} \rceil + 1 = \frac{n}{3}$$

2. If  $n \equiv 1 \pmod{3}$ 

then we get the minimum in  $\eta(P_{n-5}) + 1 = \lceil \frac{n-5}{3} \rceil + 1$  and the result is:

$$\left\lceil \frac{n-5}{3} \right\rceil + 1 = \left\lfloor \frac{n}{3} \right\rfloor.$$

3. If  $n \equiv 2 \pmod{3}$ 

then we get the minimum in  $\eta(P_{n-6}) + 2 = \lceil \frac{n-6}{3} \rceil + 2$  and the result is:

$$\lceil \frac{n-6}{3} \rceil + 2 = \lceil \frac{n}{3} \rceil.$$

In the end, we have obtained the same result in the three cases:

$$\frac{n}{3}.$$
  
 $\eta(C_n) = min(\eta(P_{n-5}) + 1, \eta(P_{n-6}) + 2) = \frac{n}{3}.$ 

#### 4. Proof of theorem 2.1

Now we want to prove the theorem 2.1.

Let us denote the largest independent set in the cycle arc graph *G* by  $\alpha$ . We need to prove that: if  $\psi_0 \leq 2$  then  $\eta \leq 2$ .

- 1. If  $\alpha = 1$  then  $\psi_0 = \eta = 1$ , because *G* is a complete graph.
- 2. If  $\alpha = 2$ , the independent complex of *G* is  $\overline{G}$ ,  $(\mathscr{I}(G) = \overline{G})$ .
  - (a) If  $\overline{G}$  not connected graph, then:

$$\psi_0 = \eta = 1$$

because G contains a bipartite graph.

(b) If  $\overline{G}$  is a tree [3] then:

 $\psi_0 = \eta = \infty.$ 

(c) If  $\overline{G}$  is a connected graph but not a tree, then:

$$\psi_0 = \eta = 2.$$

In order to see that  $\eta = 2$ , note that there is a circle in  $\overline{G} = \mathscr{I}(G)$  and we can not fill it. In order to see that  $\psi_0 = 2$  it is enough to show that  $\psi_0 \ge 2$  and this can be achieved by using the strategy of always choosing an edge between two vertices of distance 2 in  $\overline{G}$ .

3. If  $\alpha = 3$ 

Recall that the collection of all simplices of  $\mathscr{I}(G)$  of dimension less than or equal to *d* is called the *d*-*skeleton* of  $\mathscr{I}(G)$ , and is denoted by  $\mathscr{I}(G)^{(d)}$ . In particular,  $\overline{G}$  is the 1-*skeleton* of  $\mathscr{I}(G)$ .

We now define a continuous function  $f : \bar{G} \to S^1$  (where  $\bar{G}$  is viewed as a topological space). The function maps each vertex to the middle of the appropriate segment, and maps each edge to an arc between the mid-segments according to the following rule. If there exists a third segment disjoint from both segments, then the arc goes through this third segment (see fig 13).



Figure 13: mapping vertics to mid-segment, and edges between mid-segment through the third segment.

The image of the triangle in  $\overline{G}$  is arounded  $S^1$  exactly twice.

Now the image of every triangle in  $\bar{G}$  goes around  $S^1$  an even number of times, and therefore it is impossible to fill a cycle in  $\bar{G}$  that goes around  $S^1$  an odd number of times.

4.  $\alpha \ge 4$ 

Let  $v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4$  be independent vertices.

Given sphare, and a segment corresponding to  $v_1$ ,  $v_1$  that does not contain any other segmet, but can stand out from side. We will review cutoff  $v_1$  from all outstandingIt can stick out from the left side and the right side, (see fig.14).



Figure 14: We will review cutoff  $v_1$  from all aspects.

In the case of containment we remove the arc between the two segments (see fig.15).



Figure 15: we remove the arc between the two segments.

For example, the first player chooses an arc, the second player removes all its neighbors, then: remains  $\psi_0 = 1$ , and the new graph is chordal.

In the case of a sticking out from the left side or the right side:

We begin from the segment in the least standing out to the longest, which we cannot remove, this vertex we denote by *x*.(See fig.16).



Figure 16: The longest arc, we can not remove.

If we remove  $\{v_1, x\}$  and all its neighbors, then a dominating vertex will exist, which we denote by y.

We claim that the vertices x and y is dominating set.

If x is connected to  $v_1$ ,  $v_2$  and  $v_3$ , then we can remove  $\{x, v_2\}$ . We can not disconnect y from  $v_3$ , because, the result would be bipartite graph, (we have a dominating vertex), (see fig. 17).



Figure 17: The structure of the graph.



**Figure 18:** y and y' is a dominating set.

Therefore, there is a square we cannot fill.

Then we proved that: If

 $\psi_0(G) \leq 2$ 

then

$$\eta(\mathscr{I}(G)) \leq 2.$$

#### References

- R. Aharoni, E. Berger, R. Ziv, *Independent systems of representatives in weighted graphs*, Combinatorica, **27** (2007), 253–267.
   K. Kawamura, *Independence complex of chordal graphs*, Discrete Math., **310** (2010), 2204–2211.
   E. Berger, *Topological Methods in Matching Theory*, Faculty Of Princeton University In Candidacy.
   G. A. Dirac, *On rigid circuit graphs*, Math. sem. Univ. Hamburg, **25** (1961), 71-76.
   D. Kozov, Combinatorial Algebraic Topology.

UJMA

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: https://doi.org/10.32323/ujma.561690



## Dynamics of a Host-Parasitoid Model Related to Pennycuick Growth Form

Özlem Ak Gümüş<sup>1\*</sup> and Bekir Sıtkı Bilgi<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Adıyaman University, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, 02040, Adiyaman, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Akkent Anatolian High School, 27070, Şahinbey, Gaziantep, Turkey \*Corresponding author

#### **Article Info**

#### Abstract

In this study, the dynamical results of the model by obtaining the steady states existing in the host-parasitoid model were given. Also, some results relating to steady states of the model by depending the parameter made from biological assumptions were obtained.

model, Pennycuick form, Stability, Steady state 2010 AMS: 39A30, 91B76, 92B05, 92D25 Received: 8 May 2019

Keywords: Discrete-time system, Host-

Parasitoid model, Nicholson Bailey

Accepted: 16 September 2019 Available online: 26 December 2019

#### 1. Introduction

Stability analysis which examines the dynamics of the populations plays an important role in population dynamics. For local asymptotic stability, solutions must approach a steady state under initial conditions close to the steady state. In global asymptotic stability, solutions must approach a steady state under all initial conditions. Since a globally attractive equilibrium point is locally attractive, a globally asymptotically stable steady state is locally asymptotically stable.

It is well known that the Allee effect plays an important role in the stability analysis of the steady states of a population dynamic model (see, for instance, [4, 8, 9]). The Allee effect, first introduced by Allee [8], represents a negative density dependence when the population growth rate is reduced at low population size. It may be due to a number of sources including difficulties in finding mates, inbreeding depression, food exploitation, predator avoidance of defense, and social dysfunction at small population size. In recent years, the studies on stability of population model with different forms derived from biological facts have attracted many mathematicians [3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9].

Many ecological models consisting interspecific interactions are generated by differential and difference equations. Especially, the discretetime ecological form with non-overlapping populations are better formulated than continuous-time form. The host-parasitoid models are one of such forms which are studied intensively in the last few decades. One of the earliest applications of discrete-time models including host-parasitoid interaction was obtained by Nicholson and Bailey who applied it to the parasitoid *Encarsia formosa* and the host *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* in 1935 [1, 2]. Parasitoids are parasites which lay their eggs to host larvae and pupae. Hosts escaping parasitism increase their generation. The searching efficiency of parasitoid increases the number of the parasitized host. The successful parasitized hosts die, but the eggs laid by the parasites can survive for future generations. The general host-parasitoid model proposed by Nicholson-Bailey is presented in the following form

$$N_{t+1} = rN_t e^{-cP_t}$$
$$P_{t+1} = eN_t (1 - e^{-cP_t}).$$

where *r* and *e* are positive parameters. This model assumes as follows:  $N_t$  is the density of host species in generation *t*;

 $P_t$  is the density of parasitoid species in generation t;

r is the number of eggs laid by a host that survive through the larvae, pupae and adult stages;

e is the number of eggs laid by parasitoid on a single host that survive through larvae, pupae, adult stages;

c is the searching efficiency.

Also,  $e^{-cP_t}$  is a fraction of hosts that are not parasitized according to number of encounters under the law of mass action and Poisson distribution.

In this paper, we will investigate the dynamics of a host-parasitoid interaction connected to Pennycuick growth form [10] with different modifications as follows:

$$H_{t+1} = \frac{(1+ae^{b})H_{t}}{1+ae^{bH_{t}}}e^{-cP_{t}}; \quad a,b,c > 0$$

$$P_{t+1} = H_{t}(1-e^{-cP_{t}}).$$
(1)

Here,  $H_t$  is the host population at time t;  $P_t$  is the parasitoid population at time t. The growth rate of the host population in the absence of the parasitoid,  $\frac{(1+ae^b)}{1+ae^{bH_t}}$ , is associated with the Pennycuick function comes from Pennycuick et al [10]. The aim of this study is to find steady states of the model (1) with and without Allee effect and immigration parameter; and is to investigate

the locally asymptotically stability of these steady states.

This paper is regulated as: In Section II, we investigated the steady states of the model (1), and analyzed the locally asymptotically stability of the model (1). In Section III, the steady states of host parasitoid model (1) was examined with immigration parameter. Also, the locally asymptotically stability of this points was investigated. Section IV gives the locally asymptotically stability of the steady states of the host-parasitoid model (1) with Allee effect. Finally, the conclusion is presented.

#### 2. Steady states of the model (1)

In this section, we will obtain the steady states of model (1) by using  $H_t = H_{t+1} = H^*$  and  $P_t = P_{t+1} = P^*$  as follows:

$$H^* = \frac{(1+ae^b)H^*}{1+ae^{bH^*}}e^{-cP^*}; \quad a,b,c > 0$$

$$P^* = H^*(1-e^{-cP^*}).$$
(2)

Then, we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.1.** The model (1) has the steady states (0,0), (1,0) and  $(H^*, P^*)$ .

*Proof.* It is clearly seen that (0,0) is a steady state for model (1). Let's take  $H^* \neq 0$  and  $P^* = 0$ . Then we have

$$H^* = \frac{(1+ae^b)H^*}{1+ae^{bH^*}}.$$
(3)

by from (2). So, we can see that Eq.(3) is provided for  $H^* = 1$ . Then (1,0) is steady state of the model (1). Now, we must show that the model (1) has the steady state  $(H^*, P^*)$  such that  $H^* \neq 0$  and  $P^* \neq 0$ . If the first equality in (2) is considered, we can write

$$H^* = \frac{(1+ae^b)H^*}{1+ae^{bH^*}}e^{-cP^*}$$

$$\Rightarrow e^{-cP^*} = \frac{1+ae^{bT}}{1+ae^{b}} \tag{4}$$

$$\Rightarrow P^* = \frac{-1}{c} \ln \frac{1 + ae^{bH^*}}{1 + ae^b}.$$
(5)

If the following inequality is provided

$$0 < \frac{1 + ae^{bH^*}}{1 + ae^b} < 1 \tag{6}$$

then  $P^* > 0$  in Eq.(5). We obtain

$$0 < H^* < 1 \tag{7}$$

by from inequality (6). If we combine Eq.(4) with the second equation of (2), then we get

$$P^* = H^* (1 - \frac{1 + ae^{bH^*}}{1 + ae^b})$$

If  $P^*$  is written in the first equation in (2), then we obtain

$$1 + ae^{b} = (1 + ae^{bH^{*}})e^{cH^{*}(1 - \frac{1 + ae^{bH^{*}}}{1 + ae^{b}})}.$$
(8)

Let's write the following function by using the right side of (8) such that  $H^* = x$ 

hv

$$f(x) = (1 + ae^{bx})e^{cx(1 - \frac{1 + ae^{bx}}{1 + ae^{b}})}$$

Since (1,0) is a steady state of the model (1), we can easily see that x = 1 is a solution of the Eq.(8). By considering (7), let's investigate some other points providing Eq.(8) apart from x = 1. In this way, if the derivation of the function f(x) is calculated, we get

$$f'(x) = e^{cx(1 - \frac{1 + ae^{bx}}{1 + ae^{b}})} \left[ abe^{bx} + (1 + ae^{bx}) \left( \frac{ace^{b}}{1 + ae^{b}} - \frac{ace^{bx} + abce^{bx}x}{1 + ae^{b}} \right) \right].$$
  

$$f'(x) = 0,$$
  

$$1 = \frac{(1 + abe^{bx})}{abe^{bx}} \left( \frac{ace^{bx} + abce^{bx}x}{1 + ae^{b}} - \frac{ace^{b}}{1 + ae^{b}} \right).$$
(9)

is obtained. Let the function in the right side in Eq.(9) be F(x). Since F(x) is increasing  $(F(x) = \infty \text{ as } x \to \infty)$ , Eq.(9) has an interaction point. Also, since f(0) = 1 + a,  $f'(0) = ab + \frac{(1+a)ace^b}{1+ae^b} > 0$ , this critical point is a local maximum for f(x). From this and by considering inequality (7), f'(1) < 0 must be provided. If this inequality is solved, we get the condition c > 1.



Figure 1: a & b

Figure 2.1- (a): Graphs of  $(1 + ae^b)$  and function f(x) where a = 1, b = 0.02 and  $c \approx 45.161$ . Figure 2.1- (b): Graphs showing the intersection point x = 0.58208 where a = 1, b = 0.02 and  $c \approx 45.161$ . In Figure 2.1-(a), it is easily seen that the function f(x) has a critical point. If the graphics of the functions Eq. (2.8) are drawn on the same coordinate plane, we observe this interaction point in Fig 2.1-(b).

**Corollary 2.2.** For the model (1), the following statements hold true: (a)-If  $c \le 1$ , then the model (1) has the steady states (0,0) and (1,0). (b)-If c > 1, then the model (1) has the steady states (0,0), (1,0) and  $(H^*, P^*)$ .

#### 2.1. Stability analysis of model (1)

In this section, we will investigate the locally asymptotically stability conditions of the steady states of (1).

**Theorem 2.3.** For the steady states of the model (1), the following statements hold true. (a)-The steady state (0,0) is not locally asymptotically stable. (b)-If  $2 + 2ae^b - abe^b > 0$  and c < 1, then the steady state (1,0) is locally asymptotically stable. (c)-If c > 1 and under additional conditions, then the steady state ( $H^*$ ,  $P^*$ ) is locally asymptotically stable.

*Proof.* (a)-If the model (1) is considered, then we can write

$$F(H_t, P_t) = \frac{(1 + ae^b)H_t}{1 + ae^{bH_t}}e^{-cP_t} ; \ a, b, c > 0$$
  
$$G(H_t, P_t) = H_t(1 - e^{-cP_t}).$$

Firstly, let's consider  $c \le 1$ . If the Jacobian matrix of model (1) is created in the neighborhood of (0,0), then we have

$$J_{(0,0)} = \left[ \begin{array}{cc} 1 + ae^b & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{array} \right].$$

From

The eigenvalues of  $J_{(0,0)}$  are  $\sigma_1 = 1 + ae^b$  and  $\sigma_2 = 0$ . So, (0,0) is locally asymptotically stable if

$$|\sigma_1| < 1 \text{ and } |\sigma_2| < 1 \tag{10}$$

hold. Since  $ae^b > 0$ , one of the inequalities in (10) is not provided. Namely, the steady state (0,0) is not locally asymptotically stable. (b)-Similarly, if the Jacobian matrix of model (1) is created in the neighborhood of (1,0), then we have

$$U_{(1,0)} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1+ae^b-abe^b}{(1+ae^b)} & -c\\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix}$$

From this (1,0), is locally asymptotically stable if

$$|c| < 1 \text{ and } \left| \frac{1 + ae^b - abe^b}{(1 + ae^b)} \right| < 1.$$
 (11)

hold. We know that c > 0. If the (11) is solved, we obtain

 $c<1,\ abe^b>0$  and  $2+2ae^b-abe^b>0$  .

Since  $abe^b > 0$  is always true, (1,0) is locally asymptotically stable under the condition

$$c < 1 \text{ and } 2 + 2ae^b - abe^b > 0$$
 . (12)



Figure 2.2-(*a*): Time series diagram of the model (1) where a = 1.75, b = 2 and c = 0.5. The initial conditions are  $H_0 = 0.8$  and  $P_0 = 0.1$ . Figure 2.2-(*b*): Phase diagram of the model (1) where a = 1.75, b = 2 and c = 0.5. The initial conditions are  $H_0 = 0.8$  and  $P_0 = 0.1$ . (c)-Finally, let's consider that c > 1. The entries of the Jacobian matrix which is evaluated in the neighborhood of  $(H^*, P^*)$  can be written as follows:

$$\begin{split} J_{11} &= e^{-cP^*} (1+ae^b) \frac{\left[ (1+ae^{bH^*}-abe^{bH^*}H^* \right]}{(1+ae^{bH^*})^2} \\ J_{12} &= -ce^{-cP^*} \frac{(1+ae^b)H^*}{(1+ae^{bH^*})} \\ J_{21} &= (1-e^{-cP^*}) \\ J_{22} &= cH^*e^{-cP^*}. \end{split}$$

From the definition of the determinant and the trace of the matrix  $J_{(H^*,P^*)}$ , we can write

$$\begin{split} trJ_{_{(H^*,P^*)}} &= e^{-cP^*} \left( \frac{(1+ae^b)\left[1+ae^{bH^*}-abe^{bH^*}H^*\right]}{(1+ae^{bH^*})^2} + cH^* \right) \\ \det J_{_{(H^*,P^*)}} &= e^{-2cP^*} \frac{(1+ae^b)\left[1+ae^{bH^*}-abe^{bH^*}H^*\right]}{(1+ae^{bH^*})^2} cH^* + ce^{-cP^*} \frac{(1+ae^b)H^*}{(1+ae^{bH^*})} (1-e^{-cP^*}). \end{split}$$

respectively. If the following inequality (see [2])

 $|trJ| < 1 + \det J < 2.$ 

is provided, then  $(H^*, P^*)$  is locally asymptotically stable.

By using the inequality (13), we get that  $(H^*, P^*)$  is locally asymptotically stable if

$$e^{-cP^{*}}\left(\frac{(1+ae^{b})\left[1+ae^{bH^{*}}-abe^{bH^{*}}H^{*}\right]}{(1+ae^{bH^{*}})^{2}}\right)\left(1-e^{-cP^{*}}cH^{*}\right)+cH^{*}e^{-cP^{*}}-ce^{-cP^{*}}\frac{(1+ae^{b})H^{*}}{(1+ae^{bH^{*}})}(1-e-cP^{*})<1$$

$$e^{-2cP^{*}}\frac{(1+ae^{b})\left[1+ae^{bH^{*}}-abe^{bH^{*}}H^{*}\right]}{(1+ae^{bH^{*}})^{2}}cH^{*}+ce^{-cP^{*}}\frac{(1+ae^{b})H^{*}}{(1+ae^{bH^{*}})}(1-e^{-cP^{*}})<1$$

$$e^{-cP^{*}}\left(\frac{(1+ae^{b})\left[1+ae^{bH^{*}}-abe^{bH^{*}}H^{*}\right]}{(1+ae^{bH^{*}})^{2}}\right)\left(1+e^{-cP^{*}}cH^{*}\right)+cH^{*}e^{-cP^{*}}+ce^{-cP^{*}}\frac{(1+ae^{b})H^{*}}{(1+ae^{b})H^{*}}(1-e^{-cP^{*}})>-1$$

$$(15)$$

such that c > 1.



Figure 3: a & b

*Figure 2.3-(a): Time series diagram of the model (1) where a* = 1, *b* = 1.25 *and c* = 2.75. *The initial conditions are H*<sub>0</sub> = 0.8 *and P*<sub>0</sub> = 0.1. *Figure 2.3-(b): Phase Diagram of the model (1) where a* = 1, *b* = 1.25 *and c* = 2.75 *The initial conditions are H*<sub>0</sub> = 0.8 *and P*<sub>0</sub> = 0.1.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 2.4.** If the inequality  $c \le 1$  is provided, then the model (1) has the steady states (0,0) and (1,0). The steady state (0,0) is always unstable. The steady state (1,0) is only unique locally asymptotically stable point under condition (12).

**Corollary 2.5.** If the inequality c > 1 is provided, then the model (1) has the steady states (0,0), (1,0) and  $(H^*,P^*)$ . The steady state  $(H^*,P^*)$  is only unique locally asymptotically stable point under conditions (14).

#### 3. Steady states of the model (1) with immigration parameter

We will investigate the steady states of the model subject to the parameter  $\beta$  into host population in the model (1). Then, the general discrete-time host-population model is

$$H_{t+1} = \frac{(1+ae^{b})H_{t}}{1+ae^{bH_{t}}}e^{-cP_{t}} + \beta \ ; \ a,b,c > 0$$

$$P_{t+1} = H_{t}(1-e^{-cP_{t}}).$$
(16)

Here,  $\beta \in (1,\infty)$  is a diffusive force which called as immigration ([3, 4]). Now, let's examine the steady states of the model (16). From  $H_t = H_{t+1} = H_1^*$  and  $P_t = P_{t+1} = P_1^*$ , we can write

$$H_1^* = \frac{(1+ae^b)H_1^*}{1+ae^{bH_1^*}}e^{-cP_1^*} + \beta \ ; \ a,b,c > 0$$

$$P_1^* = H_1^*(1-e^{-cP_1^*}).$$
(17)

Then, we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.1.** If  $0 < \frac{(1+ae^{bH_1^*})(H_1^*-\beta)}{(1+ae^b)H_1^*} < 1$  is provided, then the model (16) has the steady state  $(H_1^*, 0)$  and  $(H_1^*, P_1^*)$  such that  $H_1^* > \beta$ . Otherwise,  $(H_1^*, 0)$  is unique steady state.

*Proof.* It is clearly seen that there is not the steady state (0,0). Since  $\beta \in (1,\infty)$ ; it must be  $H_1^* \neq 0$ . Let's take  $H_1^* \neq 0$  and  $P_1^* = 0$ . Then we can write

$$H_{1}^{*} = \frac{(1 + ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}}{1 + ae^{bH_{1}^{*}}} + \beta$$
  

$$\Rightarrow (1 + ae^{b}) = \frac{(1 + ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})(H_{1}^{*} - \beta)}{H_{1}^{*}} , \quad H_{1}^{*} > \beta$$
(18)

from Eq.(17). Let's define the following the function such that  $H_1^* = x$ ,

$$g(x) = \frac{(1 + ae^{bx})(x - \beta)}{x} , \quad x \neq 0$$
(19)



Figure 4: Graphs showing the intersection point

*Figure 3.1 Graphs showing the intersection point*  $H_1^*$  *in (18) where* a = 0.5, b = 1.2 *and*  $\beta = 1.5$ . From the g'(x) = 0, we have

$$abe^{bx}(1-\frac{\beta}{x}) = -\frac{\beta}{x^2}(1+ae^{bx}).$$
 (20)

Eq.(20) has not an interaction point. Also, we can seen that  $g(x) = \infty$  as  $x \to \infty$ . Since the function g(x) is increasing, Eq.(18) has an interaction point  $H_1^*$ .

Now, let's investigate other points  $(H_1^*, P_1^*)$  of the model (16) such that  $H_1^* \neq 0$  and  $P_1^* \neq 0$ . If the first equality in (16) is considered, we can write

$$H_{1}^{*} = \frac{(1+ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}}{1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}}}e^{-cP_{1}^{*}} + \beta$$
  

$$\Rightarrow (1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})(H_{1}^{*}-\beta) = (1+ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}e^{-cP_{1}^{*}}$$
  

$$e^{-cP_{1}^{*}} = \frac{(1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})(H_{1}^{*}-\beta)}{(1+ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}}$$
(21)

$$\Rightarrow P_1^* = -\frac{1}{c} \ln \frac{(1 + ae^{bH_1^*})(H_1^* - \beta)}{(1 + ae^b)H_1^*}$$
(22)

If the following inequality is provided

$$0 < \frac{(1 + ae^{bH_1^*})(H_1^* - \beta)}{(1 + ae^b)H_1^*} < 1$$
(23)

then  $P_1^* > 0$  in (22). Also, we have

$$eta < H_1^* ext{ and } (1 + a e^{b H_1^*})(1 - rac{eta}{H_1^*}) < 1 + a e^{b H_1^*}$$

from inequality (23). If we combine (21) with the second equation of (16), then we obtain

$$P_1^* = H_1^* (1 - \frac{(1 + ae^{bH_1^*})(H_1^* - \beta)}{(1 + ae^b)H_1^*})$$

If  $P_1^*$  is written in the first equation in the model (16), then we obtain

$$H_{1}^{*} = \frac{(1+ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}}{1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}}}e^{-cH_{1}^{*}(1-\frac{(1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})(H_{1}^{*}-\beta)}{(1+ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}})} + \beta$$
  

$$\Rightarrow 1+ae^{b} = (1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})(1-\frac{\beta}{H_{1}^{*}})e^{cH_{1}^{*}(1-\frac{(1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})(H_{1}^{*}-\beta)}{(1+ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}})}$$
(24)

If the previous similar operations are done, it is seen that Eq.(24) has an interaction point. Let's write the following function by using the right side (24)

$$h(x) = (1 + ae^{bx})(1 - \frac{\beta}{x})e^{cx(1 - \frac{(1 + ae^{bx})(x - \beta)}{(1 + ae^{b})x})}$$

for  $H_1^* = x$ . Here,  $h(x) \to 0$  as  $x \to \infty$ .



Figure 3.2 Graphs of  $(1 + ae^b)$  and function h(x) where a = 0.5, b = 1.2, c = 1 and  $\beta = 1.5$ .

#### 3.1. Stability analysis of model (1) with immigration parameter

In this section, we will investigate the locally asymptotically stability conditions of steady states of (16). If the model (16) is considered, we can write

$$F(H_t, P_t) = \frac{(1 + ae^b)H_t}{1 + ae^{bH_t}}e^{-cP_t} + \beta \ ; \ a, b, c > 0$$
  
$$G(H_t, P_t) = H_t(1 - e^{-cP_t}).$$

Then, we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.2.** For the steady states of the model (16), the following statements hold true:

(a)-Assume that the inequality (23) is not provided. The steady state  $(H_1^*, 0)$  of the model (16) has the locally asymptotically stable if the conditions (14) are provided for  $(H_1^*, 0)$ .

(b)-Assume that the inequality (23) is provided and  $(H_1^*, 0)$  unstable. The steady state  $(H_1^*, P_1^*)$  of the model (16) has the locally asymptotically stable if the conditions (14) are provided for  $(H_1^*, P_1^*)$ .

*Proof.* (a)-On the assumption,  $(H_1^*, 0)$  is unique steady state of the model (16). If the Jacobian matrix, evaluated in the neighborhood of  $(H_1^*, 0)$ , is written, we get

$$J_{(H_1^*,0)} = \left[ \begin{array}{cc} \frac{(1+ae^{b})[(1+ae^{bH_1^*})-abe^{bH_1^*}H_1^*]}{(1+ae^{bH_1^*})^2} & -c\frac{(1+ae^b)H_1^*}{1+ae^{H_1^*}}\\ 0 & cH_1^* \end{array} \right]$$

The eigenvalues of  $J_{(H_1^*,0)}$  are  $\lambda_1 = \frac{(1+ae^{bH_1^*})-abe^{bH_1^*}H_1^*}{(1+ae^{bH_1^*})^2}$  and  $\lambda_2 = cH_1^*$ . Consequently,  $(H_1^*,0)$  is locally asymptotically stable if

$$\frac{(1+ae^{b})[(1+ae^{bH_1^*})-ae^{bH_1^*}H_1^*]}{(1+ae^{bH_1^*})^2} \Bigg| < 1 \text{ and } |cH_1^*| < 1.$$

We know that  $H_1^* > 1$  from Theorem 5 and c > 0. If the last inequalities are clearly written, we have the following inequalities

$$(1 + ae^{bH_1^*})^2 - (1 + ae^b)[(1 + ae^{bH_1^*}) - ae^{bH_1^*}H_1^*] > 0$$

$$(1 + ae^{bH_1^*})^2 + (1 + ae^b)[(1 + ae^{bH_1^*}) - ae^{bH_1^*}H_1^*] > 0$$

$$(25)$$

$$cH_1^* < 1.$$

(b)-On the assumption, we must consider that the conditions (25) are not provided. Then, we can investigate locally asymptotic stability conditions for  $(H_1^*, P_1^*)$ . The locally asymptotic stability conditions founded for the steady state  $(H^*, P^*)$  of the model (1) are also applied to stability of the steady state  $(H_1^*, P_1^*)$ . So, if the conditions (14) are re-written for  $(H_1^*, P_1^*)$ , then we get as follows:

$$e^{-cP_{1}^{*}}\left(\frac{(1+ae^{b})\left[1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}}-abe^{bH_{1}^{*}}H_{1}^{*}\right]}{(1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})^{2}}\right)\left(1-e^{-cP_{1}^{*}}cH_{1}^{*}\right)+cH_{1}^{*}e^{-cP_{1}^{*}}-ce^{-cP_{1}^{*}}\frac{(1+ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}}{(1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})}\left(1-e^{-cP_{1}^{*}}\right)<1$$

$$e^{-2cP_{1}^{*}}\frac{(1+ae^{b})\left[1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}}-abe^{bH_{1}^{*}}H_{1}^{*}\right]}{(1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})^{2}}cH_{1}^{*}+ce^{-cP_{1}^{*}}\frac{(1+ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}}{(1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})}(1-e^{-cP_{1}^{*}})<1$$

$$(26)$$

$$e^{-cP_{1}^{*}}\left(\frac{(1+ae^{b})\left[1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}}-abe^{bH_{1}^{*}}H_{1}^{*}\right]}{(1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})^{2}}\right)\left(1+e^{-cP_{1}^{*}}cH_{1}^{*}\right)+cH_{1}^{*}e^{-cP_{1}^{*}}+ce^{-cP_{1}^{*}}\frac{(1+ae^{b})H_{1}^{*}}{(1+ae^{bH_{1}^{*}})}(1-e^{-cP_{1}^{*}})>-1$$
(27)



Figure 6: Time series diagram of the model (1)

Figure 3.3. (a): Time series diagram of the model (1) where a = 1, b = 2, c = 0.5 and  $\beta = 2.4$ . The initial conditions are  $H_0 = 0.8$  and  $P_0 = 0.1$ . Figure 3.3. (b): Time series diagram of the model (1) where a = 1, b = 2, c = 0.5 and  $\beta = 1.2$ . The initial conditions are  $H_0 = 0.8$  and

Figure 5.5. (b): Time series diagram of the model (1) where a = 1, b = 2, c = 0.5 and p = 1.2. The initial conditions are  $H_0 = 0.8$  and  $P_0 = 0.1$ .

**Corollary 3.3.** The steady states (0,0), (1,0) and  $(H^*,P^*)$  of the model (1) under immigration parameter disappear. The model (1) which subject to immigration parameter appears the steady states  $(H_1^*,0)$  and  $(H_1^*,P_1^*)$ . When inequality (23) is not provided,  $(H_1^*,0)$  is unique steady state of the model (16), and it is locally asymptotically stable under (25). Otherwise, the model (16) has steady states  $(H_1^*,0)$  and  $(H_1^*,P_1^*)$ . If  $(H_1^*,0)$  unstable, then the steady state  $(H_1^*,P_1^*)$  is locally asymptotically stable under (26).

#### 4. The stability analysis of model (1) with Allee effect

We will investigate the steady states of the model by including the Allee effect  $\alpha(H_t)$  into host population in the model (1). Then, the general discrete-time host-population model is as follows:

$$H_{t+1,\alpha} = \frac{\alpha^* H_t}{1 + a e^{b H_t}} e^{-cP_t} \alpha(H_t) \; ; \; a, b, c > 0$$

$$P_{t+1} = H_t (1 - e^{-cP_t}),$$
(28)

where  $\alpha^* = (1 + ae^b)/\alpha$  such that  $\alpha : \alpha(H_t) > 0$ . Therefore, it is clear that the model (1) and the model (28) have the same steady states. The following assumptions on the Allee function  $\alpha$  are derived from biological facts:

(*i*) If there are no partners, there is no reproduction. Mathematically speaking, the Allee function is zero when the population density is zero. (*ii*) Allee effect increases as density increases. Mathematically speaking, the derivatives of the Allee function are always positive for all positive values.

(iii) Allee effect disappear at high densities. Namely, limit of the Allee function approaches to 1 as the population size increases.

**Theorem 4.1.** (0,0) is unique locally asymptotically stable steady state of the model (28).

Proof. The entries of the Jacobian matrix associated with the model (28) are given as follows:

$$J_{11,\alpha} = \frac{\alpha^{*}e^{-cP_{t}}}{(1+ae^{bH_{t}})^{2}} ([\alpha(H_{t})+\alpha'(H_{t})H_{t}](1+ae^{bH_{t}})$$

$$-abe^{bH_{t}}\alpha(H_{t})H_{t})$$

$$J_{12,\alpha} = -\alpha^{*}ce^{-cP_{t}}\frac{H_{t}\alpha(H_{t})}{(1+ae^{bH_{t}})}$$

$$J_{21,\alpha} = (1-e^{-cP_{t}})$$

$$J_{22,\alpha} = cH_{t}e^{-cP_{t}}.$$
(29)

The Jacobian matrix of the model (28) about the steady state (1,0) is

$$J_{\alpha(1,0)} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\alpha^*}{(1+ae^b)^2} ([\alpha(1) + \alpha'(1)](1+ae^b) - abe^b \alpha(1)) & \frac{-\alpha^* \alpha(1)}{(1+ae^b)} \\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix}.$$

Consequently, since  $\lambda_{1,\alpha} = \frac{\alpha^*}{(1+ae^b)^2}([\alpha(1)+\alpha'(1)](1+ae^b)-abe^b\alpha(1))$  and  $\lambda_{2,\alpha} = c$ , the steady state (1,0) is locally asymptotically stable if

$$\left|\frac{\alpha^*}{(1+ae^b)^2}([\alpha(1)+\alpha'(1)](1+ae^b)-\alpha^*abe^b\alpha(1))\right|<1 \text{ and } c<1$$

Also, by using (29), the entries of the Jacobian matrix of the model (28) of about  $(H^*, P^*)$  are given as follows:

$$J_{\alpha,11} = \frac{\alpha^* e^{-cP^*}}{(1+ae^{bH^*})^2} ([\alpha(H^*) + \alpha'(H^*)H^*](1+ae^{bH^*}) - abe^{bH^*}\alpha(H^*)H^*)$$
  

$$J_{\alpha,12} = -\alpha^* ce^{-cP_t} \frac{H^*\alpha(H^*)}{(1+ae^{bH^*})}$$
  

$$J_{\alpha,21} = (1-e^{-cP^*})$$
  

$$J_{\alpha,22} = cH^* e^{-cP^*}.$$

From the definition of the determinant and the trace of the matrix  $J_{(H^*,P^*)}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} tr J_{\alpha(H^*,P^*)} &= \frac{\alpha^* e^{-cP^*}}{(1+ae^{bH^*})^2} ([\alpha(H^*)+\alpha'(H^*)H^*](1+ae^{bH^*}) \\ &-abe^{bH^*}\alpha(H^*)H^*) + cH^* e^{-cP^*} \\ \det J_{\alpha(H^*,P^*)} &= \frac{\alpha^* e^{-2cP^*} cH^*}{(1+ae^{bH^*})^2} ([\alpha(H^*)+\alpha'(H^*)H^*](1+ae^{bH^*}) - abe^{bH^*}\alpha(H^*)H^*) \\ &+\alpha^* ce^{-cP_t} \frac{H^*\alpha(H^*)}{(1+ae^{bH^*})} (1-e^{-cP^*}). \end{split}$$

The (13) yields the following inequality

$$\frac{\alpha^* e^{-cP^*}}{(1+ae^{bH^*})^2} ([\alpha(H^*) + \alpha'(H^*)H^*](1+ae^{bH^*}) \\ -abe^{bH^*} \alpha(H^*)H^* + cH^*e^{-cP^*}]) \\ \alpha^* e^{-cP^*} \frac{\alpha(H^*)H^*}{(1+ae^{bH^*})^2} ([\alpha(H^*) + \alpha'(H^*)H^*](1+ae^{bH^*}) - abe^{bH^*} \alpha(H^*)H) \\ \alpha^* e^{-cP^*} \frac{\alpha(H^*)H^*}{(1+ae^{bH^*})} (1-e^{-cP^*}) < 2$$

such that c > 1. Similarly, the Jacobian matrix of the model (28) about the steady state (0,0) is

$$J_{lpha(0,0)} = \left[ egin{array}{cc} 0 & 0 \ 0 & 0 \end{array} 
ight].$$

Note that (0,0) is locally asymptotically stable steady state in every situation.

**Corollary 4.2.** The model (1) with and without Allee effect have the same steady states. As the steady state (1,0) and  $(H^*, P^*)$  become unstable with Allee effect, the steady state (0,0) becomes locally asymptotically stable. So, (0,0) is unique locally asymptotically stable steady state in the model (1) which subject to Allee effect.

#### 5. Conclusion

In this paper, we investigated the steady states of the model (1) with and without immigration parameter and Allee effect. Also, we examined the locally asymptotically stability of steady states of this models. So, we have reached some dynamical consequences which give conditions on stability of the steady states.

#### References

- [1] A. Nicholson and V. Bailey, The balance of animal population, Proc. Zool. Soc. Lond., 3, (1935).
- [2] L.J.S. Allen, An Introduction to Mathematical Biology, Pearson, New Jersey, (2007).
- [3] Ö. Ak Gümüş, Dynamical Consequences and Stability Analysis of a New Host-Parasitoid Model, Gen. Math. Notes, 27(1), (2015), 9-15.
- [4] Ö. Ak Gümüş, Kangalgil F., Allee effect and stability in a discrete-time host-parasitoid model, J. Adv. Res. Appl. Math., 7(1), (2015), 94-99.
- [5] U. Ufuktepe, S. Kapçak, *Stability analysis of a host parasite model*, Adv. Differ. Equ. doi:10.1186/1687-1847-2013-79.
  [6] M. N. Qureshi, A. Q. Khan and Q. Din, *Asymptotic behavior of a Nicholson-Bailey model*, 62, (2014), doi:10.1186/1687-1847.
- [7] A. Q. Khan and M. N. Qureshi, Dynamics of a modified Nicholson-Bailey host-parasitoid model, Adv. Difference Equ., 23, (2015), doi:10.1186/s13662-015-0357-2. W. C. Allee Animal Aggregations: A Study in General Sociology, University of Chicago Press, Chicago (1931). [8]
- [9] U. Ufuktepe, S. Kapçak S and O. Akman, Stability analysis of the Beddington model with Allee effect, Appl. Math. Inf. Sci. 9, (2015), 603-608.
   [10] C. J. Pennycuick, R. M. Compton and A. Beckingham, A Computer Model for Simulating the Growth of a Population, or of Two Interacting Populations, J. Theoret. Biol., 18, (1968), 316-329.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: https://doi.org/10.32323/ujma.561873



# Compact Finite Differences Method for FitzHugh-Nagumo Equation

Canan Akkoyunlu<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Faculty of Science and Letters, Istanbul Kültür University, Istanbul, Turkey

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: FitzHugh-Nagumo equa- tion, compact finite differences method. 2010 AMS: 65N99 Received: 8 May 2019 Accepted: 15 September 2019 Available online: 26 December 2019	In this paper, we developed the compact finite differences method to find approximate solutions for the FitzHugh-Nagumo (F-N) equations. To the best of our knowledge, until now there is no compact finite difference solutions have been reported for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equation arising in gene propagation and model. We have given numerical example to demonstrate the validity and applicability.

#### 1. Introduction

Nonlinear systems play a pivotal role in the mathematical modeling of scientific and engineering problems. The FitzHugh-Nagumo equation is a nonlinear reaction-diffusion equation that models an active pulse transmission line simulating a nerve axon [9] and it is used area of population genetics [4], circuit theory, and other fields [1], [8]. It is expressed as

$$u_t - u_{xx} + u(1 - u)(\rho - u) = 0$$

(1.1)

where  $0 < \rho < 1$  and u(x,t) is of the unknown function depending on the temporal variable *t* and the spatial variable *x*. If we take  $\rho = -1$ , then Eq. (1.1) converts into the Newell-Whitehead equation.

$$u_t - u_{xx} + u^3 - u = 0$$

F-N equation (1.1) combines diffusion, and nonlinearity which is controlled by the term  $u(1-u)(\rho-u)$ . Many physicists and mathematicians have paid much attention to the Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation in recent years due to its importance in mathematical physics. Shih et al.[10] studied this equation and showed its applications in the field of population and circuit theory. In a study, the authors of a paper [6] examined the F-N equation and derived a novel series of exact solutions with the aid of the first integral technique. In another investigation, Abbasbandy [15] applied the homotopy anlaysis approach to obtain the soliton solution of the F-N equation. In an attempt, the authors of an article [13] investigated the variational method for solving both the Nagumo telegraph and the Nagumo reaction-diffusion partial differential equations. Jacobi elliptic function has been presented by Nucci and Clarkson [11] to obtain the solution of the F-N equation. In another study, Jackson [3] examined the semi-discrete estimates for the F-N equations. Moreover, the semi-analytical techniques have been successfully applied by Dehghan et al.[9], to present the approximate solution of the standard F-N equation.

In this work, we aim to investigate a generalized Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation with time-dependent coefficients and linear dispersion term given by

$$u_t + \alpha(t)u_x - \beta(t)u_{xx} + \gamma(t)u(1-u)(\rho - u) = 0, \quad (x,t) \in [A,B] \times [0,T]$$
(1.2)

boundary condition

$$u(A,t) = g_1(t), \quad u(B,t) = g_2(t), \quad t \in [0,T]$$

initial condition

$$u(x,0) = f(t), \quad x \in [A,B]$$

where  $\alpha(t)$ ,  $\beta(t)$  and  $\gamma(t)$  are arbitrary functions of t.  $\alpha(t)$ ,  $\beta(t)$  and  $\gamma(t)$  are all real-valued functions. For  $\alpha(t) = 0$  and  $\beta(t) = \gamma(t) = 1$ , Eq. (1.2) will be reduced to the standard Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation (1.1).

The time-dependent Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation cannot be integrated by the classical integration methods. Triki and Wazwaz [7] examined a generalized F-N equation exhibiting time varying coefficients and linear dispersion term. Jacobi-Gauss-Lobatto collocation method has been applied for generalized F-N equation by Bhrawy [2].

Compact finite difference methods are techniques used in applied mathematics and scientific computing to numerically solve linear and nonlinear differential equations. Mohanty et al. [14] used new two-level implicit compact operator method for the solution of Burgers-Huxley equation. In a study, the authors of a paper [5] derived solution of the parabolic problems with delay using compact finite difference methods. Wang et al. [17] applied compact finite difference scheme to study the coupled Gross-Pitaevskii equations. In another investigation, Wu and Xu [18] derived the solutions of 2D Helmholtz equation with the compact sixth-order finite difference scheme.

Although there are many methods to construct the compact schemes, Pade Appoximation Method and Taylor Series Method which are the two basic approximations came into prominence. Many researchers are using higher order compact finite difference schemes to solve differential equations. This is because significant improvements to the accuracy of numerical solutions have been obtained by using fourth or sixth order compact finite difference schemes. Another advantage is that the high accuracy is obtained on coarser grids which ensures greater computational efficiency [12]. In this study, compact finite differences schemes for the first and second derivative approximations are constructed both for the inner points and the boundary points by using the Taylor approximation. Along the spatial coordinate , first and second derivatives are replaced with the fifth order compact schemes for the inner points and the sixth order compact schemes for the boundary points. The paper is arranged as follows: In Section 2, compact finite difference method for F-N equation is presented. In Section 3, numerical results for different problems are presented in tables and conclusion is given in Section 4.

#### 2. Compact Finite Differences Method

Compact finite difference method is a special finite difference method which uses the values of the function and its derivatives only at three consecutive points. The independent variable nodes are given as  $x_i = h(i-1)$  where h = (b-a)/(N-1), in the interval of [a,b] for  $1 \le i \le N$ . If the function values at the nodes are given as  $f_i = f(x_i)$  the finite differences approximation to the first derivative  $f'_i$  at the node indexed by *i* depends on the function values at the neighbor nodes [16].

The approximation for the first derivative of the function is expressed as in the following

$$f_{i-2}' + \eta f_{i-1}' + f_i' + \eta f_{i+1}' + \gamma f_{i+2}' = c \frac{f_{i+3} - f_{i-3}}{6h} + b \frac{f_{i+2} - f_{i-2}}{4h} + a \frac{f_{i+1} - f_{i-1}}{2h}$$
(2.1)

where  $f_i = f(x_i)$  and coefficients can be determined by the Taylor expansion. To get the fourth order tridiagonal schemes, the coefficients  $\gamma$  and *c* are set to be 0. The order of accuracy for the approximations for the first and second derivatives are calculated as  $O(h^5)$  for inner points and  $O(h^6)$  for the boundary points. The approximation for the second derivative of the function is expressed as in the following

$$\gamma f_{i-2}^{''} + \eta f_{i-1}^{''} + f_{i+1}^{''} + \eta f_{i+1}^{''} + \gamma f_{i+2}^{''} = c \frac{f_{i+3} - 2f_i + f_{i-3}}{9h^2} + b \frac{f_{i+2} - 2f_i + f_{i-2}}{4h^2} + a \frac{f_{i+1} - 2f_i + f_{i-1}}{h^2}$$
(2.2)

For boundary points, the approximation is written in the following form

$$f_1' + \eta f_2' = \frac{1}{h} (af_1 + bf_2 + cf_3 + df_4)$$
  
$$f_1'' + \eta f_2'' = \frac{1}{h^2} (af_1 + bf_2 + cf_3 + df_4 + ef_5)$$

The equations (2.1) and (2.2) can easily be adapted for the boundary point i = N. The compact schemes for the first and second derivative approximations for the interior and boundary points with their calculated coefficients can be seen below.

For the first derivative

$$\frac{h}{3}(-17u_1^{'}-14u_2^{'}+u_3^{'})=u_0+8u_1-9u_2$$
(2.3)

$$\frac{h}{3}(u'_{i-1} + 4u'_i + u'_{i+1}) = -u_{i-1} + u_{i+1}$$
(2.4)

$$\frac{h}{3}\left(\frac{1}{8}u'_{N-3} - \frac{5}{8}u'_{N-2} + \frac{19}{8}u'_{N-1} + \frac{9}{8}u'_{N}\right) = -u_{N-1} + u_N$$
(2.5)

For the second derivative

$$\frac{h^2}{12}(14u_1'' - 5u_2'' + 4u_3'' - 5u_4'') = u_0 - 2u_i + u_{i+1}$$
(2.6)

$$\frac{h^{2}}{12}\left(u_{i-1}^{''}+10u_{i}^{''}+u_{i+1}^{''}\right) = u_{i-1}-2u_{i}+u_{i+1}$$
(2.7)

$$\frac{h^2}{12}\left(-u_{N-4}^{''}+4u_{N-3}^{''}-5u_{N-2}^{''}+14u_{N-1}^{''}\right)=u_{N-2}-2u_{N-1}+u_N$$
(2.8)

By taking 7 nodes, the matrices obtained from (2.3), (2.4) and (2.5) are as in the following.

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{17h}{3} & -\frac{14h}{3} & \frac{h}{3} & 0 & 0\\ \frac{h}{3} & \frac{4h}{3} & \frac{h}{3} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{h}{3} & \frac{4h}{3} & \frac{h}{3} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{h}{3} & \frac{4h}{3} & \frac{h}{3}\\ 0 & \frac{h}{24} & -\frac{5h}{24} & \frac{19h}{24} & \frac{9h}{24} \end{pmatrix}, \quad U' = \begin{pmatrix} u_{1}' \\ u_{2}' \\ u_{3}' \\ u_{4}' \\ u_{5}' \end{pmatrix}$$
$$K_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 8 & -9 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ -1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 1\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad H_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{0} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

The matrix U' having the approximation values of the first derivative at each node is calculated via the equation (2.9). The following calculations are carried out to obtain the matrix U' after applying the LU decomposition technique to the known matrix  $A_1$ 

$$A_1 U' = K_1 U + H_1 \tag{2.9}$$

LU decomposition technique is applied to the known matrix  $A_1$  and other calculations are as in the following.

$$(L_{0}U_{0})U' = K_{1}U + H_{1}$$

$$L_{0}^{-1}L_{0}U_{0}U' = L_{0}^{-1}K_{1}U + L_{0}^{-1}H_{1}$$

$$T_{1} = L_{0}^{-1}K_{1}$$

$$G_{1} = L_{0}^{-1}H_{1}$$

$$U_{0}U' = T_{1}U + G_{1}$$

$$U_{0}^{-1}U_{0}U' = U_{0}^{-1}T_{1}U + U_{0}^{-1}G_{1}$$

$$S_{1} = U_{0}^{-1}G_{1}$$

$$C_{1} = U_{0}^{-1}T_{1}$$

$$U' = C_1 U + S_1$$

(2.10)

Using the compact schemes in (2.6), (2.7) and (2.8), the matrices below are obtained to get the matrix U'' having the approximation values of the second derivative at each node and similar calculations are carried out for that. U' and U'' are inserted as a first and second derivatives of the function while constructing the discretization scheme.

$$A_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{14h^{2}}{12} & -\frac{5h^{2}}{12} & \frac{4h^{2}}{12} & -\frac{h^{2}}{12} & 0 \\ \frac{h^{2}}{12} & \frac{10h^{2}}{12} & \frac{h^{2}}{12} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{h^{2}}{12} & \frac{10h^{2}}{12} & \frac{h^{2}}{12} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{h^{2}}{12} & \frac{10h^{2}}{12} & \frac{h^{2}}{12} \\ 0 & -\frac{h^{2}}{12} & \frac{4h^{2}}{12} & -\frac{5h^{2}}{12} & \frac{14h^{2}}{12} \end{pmatrix}, \quad U'' = \begin{pmatrix} u''_{1} \\ u''_{2} \\ u''_{3} \\ u'_{4} \\ u'_{5} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$U = \begin{pmatrix} u_{1} \\ u_{2} \\ u_{3} \\ u_{4} \\ u_{5} \end{pmatrix}, \quad K_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad H_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{0} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ u_{6} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$A_{2}U'' = K_{2}U + H_{2}$$

 $U^{''} = C_2 U + S_2$ 

(2.11)

#### 2.1. Compact Finite Difference method for Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation

Equations (2.10) and (2.11) approximating to the first and second derivatives of functions u is substituted to the equation (1.2). Compact finite differences for spatial dimension and finite differences along the time axis are applied, consequently they are rearranged via explicit approximation and the following discretization scheme is obtained.

$$\frac{U_n^{j+1} - U_n^j}{\Delta t} + \alpha(t_j)(C_1U_n^j + S_1) - \beta(t_j)(C_2U_n^j + S_2) + \gamma(t_j)U_n^j(1 - U_n^j)(\rho - U_n^j)$$

While the approximations to the functions u via compact scheme is being constructed, the known boundary values are placed in the vectors  $H_1$  and  $H_2$ . And the vectors  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  are calculated in each time step. Because they are dependent on the approximation values of u after the first step.

$$H_1 = \begin{pmatrix} u_0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad H_2 = \begin{pmatrix} u_0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ u_N \end{pmatrix}$$

#### 3. Numerical Results

In this section, solution for equation in (1.2) is obtained via compact finite differences method. To illustrate the efficiency of the compact finite differences method for the problem handled in this study, the maximum error which is defined by the equation below

$$L_{\infty} = \max_{1 \le j \le N} |u(x_j, t) - U(x_j, t)|$$

where  $u(x_i,t)$  and  $U(x_i,t)$  refer to the exact solution and solution via compact finite differences method, respectively.

**Example 1.** Consider equation (1.2) with  $\alpha(t) = 0, \beta(t) = 1, \gamma(t) = 1$ :

$$u_t - u_{xx} + u(1 - u)(\rho - u) = 0; \quad (x, t) \in [-10, 10] \times [0, T]$$
(3.1)

subject to the boundary conditions

$$u(-10,t) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \tanh\left(\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}(-10 - \frac{2\rho - 1}{\sqrt{2}}t)\right)$$
$$u(10,t) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \tanh\left(\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}(10 - \frac{2\rho - 1}{\sqrt{2}}t)\right)$$

and the initial condition

$$u(x,0) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\tanh(\frac{x}{2\sqrt{2}}), x \in [-10, 10]$$

The exact solution of Eq. (3.1) is

$$u(x,t) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \tanh(\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}(x - \frac{2\rho - 1}{\sqrt{2}}t))$$

The results for example 1 are displayed in Tables 4.1 and Figure 3.2. Numerical solutions at different *T* are presented for computational domain [-10, 10] using compact finite difference method in Table 1. And in Table 2, we exhibit the maximum absolute errors between exact and approximate solutions for N = 12,48,64. The Fig. 3.1 display the numerical results with exact one for  $\rho = 0.75, \Delta t = 0.001, N = 24$  in 3D form up to time T = 1. The Fig. 3.2 compares the numerical solutions with exact one for different  $\rho$  values. As it can be seen from the Table 1 and Table 2 the compact finite differences method is very accurate.

(3.2)



**Figure 3.1:** For  $N = 24, \Delta t = 0.001, T = 1, \rho = 0.75$  solution of Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation for Example 1



**Figure 3.2:** For N = 24,  $\Delta t = 0.001$ , T = 1 solution of Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation for Example 1

 Table 2:

 Example 2. In this example we examine the nonlinear time-dependent generalized F-H equation with time coefficients.

$$u_t + \cos(t)u_x - \cos(t)u_{xx} - 2\cos(t)(u(1-u)(\rho-u)) = 0; (x,t) \in [-10,10] \times [0,T]$$

\_

dt	T=0.2	T=1	T=2	T=3	T=4
dt=0.1	7.2090e-05	2.8991e-04	5.2054e-04	6.8524e-04	8.8408e-04
dt=0.01	2.3475e-05	8.0706e-05	1.1019e-04	1.5188e-04	1.7331e-04
dt=0.001	1.8739e-05	6.2242e-05	7.7129e-05	9.8812e-05	1.1203e-04
dt=0.0001	1.8267e-05	6.0398e-05	7.4378e-05	9.3508e-05	1.0590e-04

**Table 1:** Maximum error with  $\rho = 0.75$  and N = 24 for Example 1

Ν	dt=0.01	dt=0.001	dt=0.0001
12	3.9857e-04	3.9300e-04	3.9244e-04
48	8.3749e-06	4.0905e-06	3.7343e-06
64	5.9363e-06	8.1794e-07	3.9098e-07

**Table 2:** Maximum error with T = 0.2 and  $\rho = 0.75$  for Example 1

subject to the boundary conditions

$$u(-10,t) = \frac{\rho}{2} + \frac{\rho}{2} \tanh(\frac{\rho}{2}(-10 - (3 - \rho)\sin(t))),$$
  
$$u(10,t) = \frac{\rho}{2} + \frac{\rho}{2} \tanh(\frac{\rho}{2}(10 - (3 - \rho)\sin(t)))$$

and initial condition

$$u(x,0) = \frac{\rho}{2} + \frac{\rho}{2} \tanh(\frac{\rho x}{2}), x \in [-10, 10]$$

The analytical solution of Eq.(3.2) is

$$u(x,t) = \frac{\rho}{2} + \frac{\rho}{2} \tanh(\frac{\rho}{2}(x - (3 - \rho)\sin(t)))$$

The observed maximum absolute errors for different values of  $\rho$  are given in Table 3. The numerical results are illustrated in Fig. 3.3



Figure 3.3: For N = 24,  $\Delta t = 0.001$ , T = 0.01,  $\rho = 0.75$ , solution of Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation for Example 2

ρ	dt=0.1	dt=0.01	dt=0.001
ρ=0.25	0.0449	0.0451	0.0451
$\rho = 0.5$	0.1481	0.1489	0.1490
<i>ρ</i> =0.75	0.2682	0.2700	0.2701

**Table 3:** Maximum error with T = 1 and N = 24 for Example 2



**Figure 3.4:** For N = 24,  $\Delta t = 0.001$ , T = 0.01,  $\rho = 0.05$ , solution of Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation for Example 2

#### 4. Conclusion

In this study, compact finite differences method is used to solve Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation. To check the accuracy of the method two test problems available in the literature are solved. The maximum absolute errors are presented in Tables with different time step. From examples, we have observed that the choice of particular  $\rho$  values can affect accurate of the numerical solutions. It is suggested that the compact finite different method produced accurate solution.

#### References

- [1] A. C. Scott, Neunstor propagation on a tunnel diode loaded transmission line, Proceedings of IEEE 51 (1963), 240-249.
- [2] A. H. Bhrawy, A Jacobi-Gauss-Lobatto collocation method for solving generalized Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation with time-dependent coefficients, Appl. Math. Comput., 222 (2013), 255-264.
- [3] D. E. Jackson, Error estimates for the semidiscrete Galerkin approximations of the Fitzhugh-Nagumo equations, Appl. Math. Comput., 50 (1992), 93-114.
- [4] D. G. Aronson, H. F. Weinberger, Multidimensional nonlinear diffusion arising in population genetics, Advances in Mathematics, 30 (1978), 33-76.
- [5] F. Wu, D. Li, J. Wen, J. Duan, Stability and convergence of compact finite difference method for parabolic problems with delay, Appl. Math. and Comp., 322 (2018), 129-139.
- [6] H. Li, Y. Guo, New exact solutions to the Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation, Appl. Math. Comput., 180 (2006), 524-528.
- [7] H. Triki, A.-M. Wazwaz, On soliton solutions for the Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation with time-dependent coefficients, Appl. Math. Model., **37** (2013) 3821-3828.
- [8] J. Nagumo, S. Yoshizawa, S. Arimoto, *Bistable trunsmission lines*, Transactions on IEEE Circuit Theory, **12** (1965) 400-412.
- [9] M. Dehghan, J. M. Heris, A. Saadatmandi, Application of semi-analytic methods for the Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation, which models the transmission of nerve impulses, Math. Methods Appl. Sci., (2010)
- [10] M. Shih, E. Momoniat, F. M. Mahomed, Approximate conditional symmetries and approximate solutions of the perturbed Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation, J. Math. Phys., 46 (2005), (023503).
- [11] M. C. Nucci, P. A. Clarkson, The nonclassical method is more general than the direct method for symmetry reductions: an example of the Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation, Phys Lett. A, 164 (1992), 49-56.
- [12] P. G. Dlamini and M. Khumalo, A new compact finite difference quasilinearization method for nonlinear evolution partial differential equations, Open Math., 15 (2017), 1450-1462.
- [13] R. A. Van Gorder, A variational formulation of the Ngumo reaction-diffusion equation and the Nagumo telegraph equation, Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl., 11 (2010), 2957-2962.

- [14] RK. Mohanty, D. Weizhong, L. Donn, Operator compact method of accuracy two time in time and four in space for the solution of time dependent Burgers-Huxley equation, Numer Algor, 70 (2015), 591-605.
  [15] S. Abbasbandy, Soliton solutions for the Fitzhugh-Nagumo equation with the homotopy analysis method, Appl. Math. Model., 32 (2008), 2706-2714.
  [16] SK. Lele, Compact finite difference schemes with Spectral-like Resolution, Journal of Computational Physics, 103 (1992), 16-42.
  [17] T. Wang, J. Jiang, H. Wang, W. Xu, An efficient and conservative compact finite difference scheme for the coupled Gross-Pitaevskii equations describing spin-1 Bose-Einstein condensate, Appl. Math. and Comp., 323 (2018), 164-181.
  [18] T. Wu, R. Xu, An optimal compact sixth-order finite difference scheme for the Helmholtz equation, Comp. Math. and Appl., (2018).

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.602178



## Some Relations Between the Riemann Zeta Function and the Generalized Bernoulli Polynomials of Level m

Yamilet Quintana<sup>1\*</sup> and Héctor Torres-Guzmán<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Departamento de Matemáticas Puras y Aplicadas, Edificio Matemáticas y Sistemas (MYS), Apartado Postal: 89000, Caracas 1080 A, Universidad Simón Bolívar, Venezuela \*Corresponding author

Abstract

## Keywords: Bernoulli polynomials, Euler-Maclaurin quadrature formulae, generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level m, quadrature formula, Riemann zeta function. 2010 AMS: 65D32, 41A55, 65B15, 33F05. Received: 5 August 2019 Accepted: 14 September 2019 Available online: 26 December 2019

#### The main purpose of this paper is to show some relations between the Riemann zeta function and the generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level m. Our approach is based on the use of Fourier expansions for the periodic generalized Bernoulli functions of level m, as well as quadrature formulae of Euler-Maclaurin type. Some illustrative examples involving such relations are also given.

#### 1. Introduction

**Article Info** 

Let  $\zeta(s)$  be the Riemann zeta function defined by

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s}, \quad \Re(s) > 1.$$

It is a classical result due to Riemann that  $\zeta(s)$  can be analytically continued to a meromorphic function on the whole complex plane with the only pole at s = 1, which is a simple pole with residue 1. Also, if we consider the classical Bernoulli polynomials given by

$$\frac{ze^{xz}}{e^z - 1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n(x) \frac{z^n}{n!}, \quad |z| < 2\pi,$$

and the classical Bernoulli numbers,  $B_n = B_n(0)$ , for all  $n \ge 0$ , then it is well known the following relation between  $\zeta(s)$  and the Bernoulli polynomials:

$$\zeta(2k) = \frac{(-1)^{k-1} \pi^{2k} 2^{2k-1}}{(2k)!} B_{2k}, \quad k \ge 1.$$
(1.1)

Euler's relation (1.1) provides an elegant formula for the explicit evaluation of  $\zeta(2k)$ , which shows the arithmetical nature of  $\zeta(2k)$  (cf. eg., [3, 4, 5, 6]). However, for the zeta values  $\zeta(2k+1)$  there is very little known information. For instance, in his paper of 1981 R. Apéry showed that  $\zeta(3)$  is irrational, but for  $k \ge 2$  the arithmetical nature of  $\zeta(2k+1)$  remains open (cf. [1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7] and the references thereof). In this contribution we are interested in exploring similar relations to (1.1) in the setting of the generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m* [15, 18]. In order to do that, we show some constraints of the use of Fourier expansions for the periodic generalized Bernoulli functions of level *m*, as well as, our approach which is mainly based on quadrature formulae of Euler-Maclaurin type.

Email address and ORCID number: yquintana@usb.ve, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1053-0892 (Y. Quintana), 12-11307@usb.ve, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9101-7355 (H. Torres-Guzmán)

The outline of the paper as follows. Section 2 provides a short background about some relevant properties of the generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m*. Section 3 is devoted to show some constraints of the use of Fourier expansions for the periodic generalized Bernoulli functions of level *m* (see Theorems 3.2 and 3.3). Finally, Section 4 contains the basic ideas in order to obtain quadrature formulae of Euler-Maclaurin type based on generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m* (see Theorem 4.2). Also, in this section is proved a result that reveals an interesting property about the applications of the quadrature formulae of Euler-Maclaurin type based on these polynomials (see Theorem 4.3). As usual, throughout this paper the convention  $0^0 = 1$  will be adopted and an empty sum will be interpreted to be zero.

#### 2. Generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m*: some properties

For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , the generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m* are defined by means of the following generating function [14, 15, 18, 20, 21, 22]

$$\frac{z^m e^{xz}}{e^z - \sum_{l=0}^{m-1} \frac{z^l}{l!}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n^{[m-1]}(x) \frac{z^n}{n!}, \quad |z| < 2\pi$$
(2.1)

and, the generalized Bernoulli numbers of level *m* are defined by  $B_n^{[m-1]} := B_n^{[m-1]}(0)$ , for all  $n \ge 0$ . The generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m* also have been called hypergeometric Bernoulli polynomials [12]. It is clear that if m = 1 in (2.1), then we obtain the definition of the classical Bernoulli polynomials  $B_n(x)$ , and classical Bernoulli numbers, respectively, i.e.,  $B_n(x) = B_n^{[0]}(x)$ , and  $B_n = B_n^{[0]}$ , respectively, for all  $n \ge 0$ .

It is not difficult to check that the first four generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m* are:

$$\begin{split} B_0^{[m-1]}(x) &= m!, \\ B_1^{[m-1]}(x) &= m! \left( x - \frac{1}{m+1} \right), \\ B_2^{[m-1]}(x) &= m! \left( x^2 - \frac{2}{m+1} x + \frac{2}{(m+1)^2(m+2)} \right), \\ B_3^{[m-1]}(x) &= m! \left( x^3 - \frac{3}{m+1} x^2 + \frac{6}{(m+1)^2(m+2)} x + \frac{6(m-1)}{(m+1)^3(m+2)(m+3)} \right). \end{split}$$

The following results summarize some properties of the generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level m (cf. [14, 15, 13, 18]).

**Proposition 2.1.** [18, Proposition 1] For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\left\{B_n^{[m-1]}(x)\right\}_{n\geq 0}$  be the sequence of generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level m. Then the following statements hold:

*a)* Summation formula. For every  $n \ge 0$ ,

$$B_n^{[m-1]}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} B_k^{[m-1]} x^{n-k}.$$
(2.2)

b) Differential relations (Appell polynomial sequences). For  $n, j \ge 0$  with  $0 \le j \le n$ , we have

$$[B_n^{[m-1]}(x)]^{(j)} = \frac{n!}{(n-j)!} B_{n-j}^{[m-1]}(x).$$
(2.3)

c) Inversion formula. [15, Equation (2.6)] For every  $n \ge 0$ ,

$$x^{n} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \frac{k!}{(m+k)!} B_{n-k}^{[m-1]}(x).$$
(2.4)

*d*) Recurrence relation. [15, Lemma 3.2] For every  $n \ge 1$ ,

$$B_n^{[m-1]}(x) = \left(x - \frac{1}{m+1}\right) B_{n-1}^{[m-1]}(x) - \frac{1}{n(m-1)!} \sum_{k=0}^{n-2} \binom{n}{k} B_{n-k}^{[m-1]} B_k^{[m-1]}(x)$$

e) Integral formulas.

$$\int_{x_0}^{x_1} B_n^{[m-1]}(x) dx = \frac{1}{n+1} \left[ B_{n+1}^{[m-1]}(x_1) - B_{n+1}^{[m-1]}(x_0) \right] = \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{1}{n-k+1} \binom{n}{k} B_k^{[m-1]}((x_1)^{n-k+1} - (x_0)^{n-k+1}).$$
(2.5)

$$B_n^{[m-1]}(x) = n \int_0^x B_{n-1}^{[m-1]}(t) dt + B_n^{[m-1]}.$$
(2.6)

f) [15, Theorem 3.1] Differential equation. For every  $n \ge 1$ , the polynomial  $B_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  satisfies the following differential equation

$$\frac{B_n^{[m-1]}}{n!}y^{(n)} + \frac{B_{n-1}^{[m-1]}}{(n-1)!}y^{(n-1)} + \dots + \frac{B_2^{[m-1]}}{2!}y^{\prime\prime} + (m-1)!\left(\frac{1}{m+1} - x\right)y^{\prime} + n(m-1)!y = 0$$

If we denote by  $\mathbb{P}_n$  the linear space of polynomials with real coefficients and degree less than or equal to *n*, then (2.4) implies that
**Proposition 2.2.** [18, Proposition 2] For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and each  $n \ge 0$ , the set  $\left\{B_0^{[m-1]}(x), B_1^{[m-1]}(x), \dots, B_n^{[m-1]}(x)\right\}$  is a basis for  $\mathbb{P}_n$ , i.e.,

$$\mathbb{P}_n = span B_0^{[m-1]}(x), B_1^{[m-1]}(x), \dots, B_n^{[m-1]}(x).$$

We conclude this section showing in Figure 2.1 the plots of some generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level m.



Figure 2.1: Graphs of some generalized Bernoulli polynomials for the levels m = 1 (classical Bernoulli polynomials) and m = 5, respectively.

# **3.** Fourier expansions and generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m*

For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , the periodic generalized Bernoulli functions of level *m* are defined as follows.

$$p_n^{[m-1]}(x) = \frac{B_n^{[m-1]}(x)}{n!}, \quad 0 \le x < 1,$$

$$p_n^{[m-1]}(x+1) = p_n^{[m-1]}(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(3.1)

The functions  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  are continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$  with continuous derivatives up to order n-1 only if m=1 and n>2.

In what follows, the symbol " $\sim$ " is used to refer to the formal Fourier expansion for a given function on an interval, and it is not associated to some notion of convergence in particular, since as we know there are several kinds of convergence involved with the notion of Fourier expansion associated to a given function.

For m = 1 the Fourier expansions for the periodic generalized Bernoulli functions of level *m* coincide with the Fourier expansions for the periodic Bernoulli functions, i.e.,

$$p_1^{[0]}(x) = p_1(x) \sim -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\sin(2\pi kx)}{2\pi k},$$
(3.2)

$$p_{2r}^{[0]}(x) = p_{2r}(x) = (-1)^{r-1} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\cos(2\pi kx)}{(2\pi k)^{2r}},$$
(3.3)

$$p_{2r+1}^{[0]}(x) = p_{2r+1}(x) = (-1)^{r-1} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\sin(2\pi kx)}{(2\pi k)^{2r+1}},$$
(3.4)

with  $r \ge 1$ .

Notice that by a well known result on the uniform convergence of Fourier expansions (see, for instance, [10, 17, 23]), the Fourier series (3.3) and (3.4) are uniformly convergent, while this does not hold for the Fourier expansion (3.2), since

$$p_1(0) = p_1(1) = -\frac{1}{2}$$
, and  $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} p_1(1-\epsilon) = \frac{1}{2}$ 

whereas the Fourier expansion (3.2) assumes the value 0 at both x = 0 and x = 1. Figure 3.1 shows the plots for some periodic Bernoulli functions.



Figure 3.1: Periodic Bernoulli functions for n = 1, 5, 10.

It is important to note that the sequence of functions  $\{p_n(x)\}_{n\geq 2} \subset C^{n-2}(-\infty,\infty)$  (when n = 2, we are using the notation  $C^0(-\infty,\infty) = C(-\infty,\infty)$ ), because the Bernoulli numbers satisfy the equality  $B_n = (-1)^n B_n(1)$ , for any  $n \ge 0$  (see e.g., [3, Proposition 4.9]),  $B_n = 0$ , if  $n \ge 3$  is odd, and by the condition of periodicity (3.1) with m = 1. In Figure 3.2 the plots for several generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level m = 5 and their corresponding periodic generalized Bernoulli functions are shown.



Figure 3.2: Generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level m = 5 and their corresponding periodic generalized Bernoulli functions for n = 1, 10.

It is worthy to mention that for m, n > 1 the functions  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  are only differentiable on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  -unlike what happens when m = 1 and n > 2 are considered (cf. [17, Chap. 3, Sec. 3.2])-. Thus, from (3.1) and (2.3) we deduce that  $\left[p_{n+1}^{[m-1]}(x)\right]' = p_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  for each  $x \in (k, k+1)$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Hence,

$$\left[p_{n+1}^{[m-1]}(x)\right]' = p_n^{[m-1]}(x), \quad \text{if} \quad x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.5)

Also, the periodic generalized Bernoulli functions of level m are integrable function on [0,1]. Therefore, they satisfy Dirichlet conditions for the existence of their Fourier expansions [10, 23].

For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  we note that  $p_1^{[m-1]}(x)$  has the following Fourier coefficients:

$$\begin{aligned} a_{0,1}^{[m-1]} &= 2\int_0^1 p_1^{[m-1]}(x) \, dx = \frac{m!}{2} \left(\frac{m-1}{m+1}\right), \\ a_{k,1}^{[m-1]} &= 2\int_0^1 p_1^{[m-1]}(x) \cos(2\pi kx) \, dx = 0, \\ b_{k,1}^{[m-1]} &= 2\int_0^1 p_1^{[m-1]}(x) \sin(2\pi kx) \, dx = -\frac{2m!}{2\pi k},. \end{aligned}$$

with  $k \ge 1$ . Thus,  $p_1^{[m-1]}(x)$  has the Fourier expansion

$$p_1^{[m-1]}(x) \sim \frac{m!}{2} \left(\frac{m-1}{m+1}\right) - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2m! \sin(2\pi kx)}{2\pi k}.$$
(3.6)

For  $x \in (0, 1)$ , let us integrate the series (3.6) formally, term by term:

$$\int_{0}^{x} p_{1}^{[m-1]}(t) dt = \frac{m!}{2} \left(\frac{m-1}{m+1}\right) x - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2m!}{2\pi k} \int_{0}^{x} \sin(2\pi kt) dt$$

$$= \frac{m!}{2} \left(\frac{m-1}{m+1}\right) x - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2m!}{(2\pi k)^{2}} (1 - \cos(2\pi kx))$$

$$= \frac{m!}{2} \left(\frac{m-1}{m+1}\right) x - \frac{m!}{2\pi^{2}} \zeta(2) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2m!\cos(2\pi kx)}{(2\pi k)^{2}}.$$
(3.7)

From (2.5) we have

$$\int_{0}^{x} p_{1}^{[m-1]}(t) dt = p_{2}^{[m-1]}(x) - \frac{B_{2}^{[m-1]}}{2}.$$
(3.8)

Hence, the substitution of (3.8) into (3.7) yields the following expansion for  $p_2^{[m-1]}(x)$ 

$$p_2^{[m-1]}(x) = \frac{B_2^{[m-1]}}{2} + \frac{m!}{2} \left(\frac{m-1}{m+1}\right) x - \frac{m!}{2\pi^2} \zeta(2) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2m! \cos(2\pi kx)}{(2\pi k)^2}.$$
(3.9)

Since,  $p_2^{[m-1]}(x)$  has the following Fourier coefficients:

$$\begin{split} a_{0,2}^{[m-1]} &= \frac{m!}{3} \left( \frac{m-1}{(m+1)^2} \right) \left( \frac{m^2 + 2m - 2}{m+2} \right), \\ a_{k,2}^{[m-1]} &= 2 \int_0^1 p_2^{[m-1]}(x) \cos(2\pi kx) \, dx = \frac{2m!}{(2\pi k)^2}, \\ b_{k,2}^{[m-1]} &= 2 \int_0^1 p_1^{[m-1]}(x) \sin(2\pi kx) \, dx = -\frac{m!}{2\pi k} \left( \frac{m-1}{m+1} \right), \end{split}$$

with  $k \ge 1$ , then  $p_2^{[m-1]}(x)$  has the Fourier expansion

$$p_2^{[m-1]}(x) = \frac{m!}{6} \left(\frac{m-1}{(m+1)^2}\right) \left(\frac{m^2+2m-2}{m+2}\right) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2m!\cos(2\pi kx)}{(2\pi k)^2} - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{m!(m-1)\sin(2\pi kx)}{2\pi k(m+1)}.$$
(3.10)

On comparing (3.9) and (3.10), for  $x \in (0, 1)$  we see that

$$\frac{m!}{2\pi^2}\zeta(2) - \frac{B_2^{[m-1]}}{2} + \frac{m!}{6}\left(\frac{m-1}{(m+1)^2}\right)\left(\frac{m^2+2m-2}{m+2}\right) = \frac{m!}{2}\left(\frac{m-1}{m+1}\right)x + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\frac{m!(m-1)\sin(2\pi kx)}{2\pi k(m+1)}.$$
(3.11)

If we put  $x = \frac{1}{2}$  in (3.11), then we obtain

$$\zeta(2) = \frac{2\pi^2}{m!} \left[ \frac{B_2^{[m-1]}}{2} + \frac{m!}{4} \left( \frac{m-1}{m+1} \right) - \frac{m!}{6} \left( \frac{m-1}{(m+1)^2} \right) \left( \frac{m^2 + 2m - 2}{m+2} \right) \right].$$
(3.12)

The relation (3.12) connects the zeta number  $\zeta(2)$  with the generalized Bernoulli polynomial  $B_2^{[m-1]}(x)$  for any m > 1. Notice that if m = 1 then (3.12) coincides with Euler's relation (1.1) for k = 1. For example, if we take m = 2 then (3.12) becomes

$$\zeta(2) = \pi^2 \left( \frac{B_2^{[1]}}{2} + \frac{1}{6} - \frac{1}{18} \right) = \frac{\pi^2}{6}$$

Since on [0,1], the polynomial  $p_n(x)$  is symmetric about the midpoint  $x = \frac{1}{2}$ , when *n* is even, and it is antisymmetric about  $x = \frac{1}{2}$ , when *n* is odd; that is,

$$p_n(1-x) = (-1)^n p_n(x), \quad 0 \le x \le 1, \quad n \ge 2.$$
(3.13)

It follows that when m = 1, taking x = 0 in (3.3) and evaluating  $p_{2r}(0)$  from (3.1) and using (3.13), we obtain (cf. [17, Eq. (3.54)]):

$$\zeta(2r) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2r}} = (-1)^{r-1} \pi^{2r} 2^{2r-1} \frac{B_{2r}}{(2r)!}, \quad r \ge 1,$$

this last equation is precisely (1.1).

Next, we will use the notation  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x^-)$  and  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x^+)$  for representing the one-sided limits  $\lim_{y\to x^-} p_n^{[m-1]}(y)$  and  $\lim_{y\to x^+} p_n^{[m-1]}(y)$ , respectively. The following Proposition provides the Fourier expansion for  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  when m > 1.

**Proposition 3.1.** For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  be the periodic generalized Bernoulli functions of level m. Then Fourier expansion for  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  on [0,1] is given by

$$p_n^{[m-1]}(x) \sim \frac{a_{0,n}^{[m-1]}}{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_{k,n}^{[m-1]} \cos(2\pi kx) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} b_{k,n}^{[m-1]} \sin(2\pi kx),$$
(3.14)

where

$$\frac{a_{0,n}^{[m-1]}}{2} = p_{n+1}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n+1}^{[m-1]}(0) = \frac{1}{(n+1)!} \left( B_{n+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{n+1}^{[m-1]} \right).$$
(3.15)

And for  $k \ge 1$ :

$$a_{k,n}^{[m-1]} = \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1} (-1)^j \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^{2j+2}} \left( p_{n-2j-1}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-2j-1}^{[m-1]}(0) \right)$$
(3.16)

$$=\sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1} (-1)^j \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^{2j+2}} \frac{\left(B_{n-2j-1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{n-2j-1}^{[m-1]}\right)}{(n-2j-1)!},$$
(3.17)

$$b_{k,n}^{[m-1]} = \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} (-1)^{j+1} \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^{2j+1}} \left( p_{n-2j}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-2j}^{[m-1]}(0) \right)$$
(3.18)

$$=\sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} (-1)^{j+1} \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^{2j+1}} \frac{\left(B_{n-2j}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{n-2j}^{[m-1]}\right)}{(n-2j)!}.$$
(3.19)

*Proof.* For each  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  it is well known that its Fourier coefficients are given by

$$a_{0,n}^{[m-1]} = 2 \int_0^1 p_n^{[m-1]}(x) \, dx, \tag{3.20}$$

$$a_{k,n}^{[m-1]} = 2 \int_0^1 p_n^{[m-1]}(x) \cos(2\pi kx) \, dx, \tag{3.21}$$

$$b_{k,n}^{[m-1]} = 2 \int_0^1 p_n^{[m-1]}(x) \sin(2\pi kx) \, dx, \tag{3.22}$$

with  $k \ge 1$ . Then, (3.15) is a straightforward consequence of (3.20) and (3.5). For obtaining the relations (3.16) and (3.18) it suffices use integration by parts on the right-hand side of (3.21) and (3.22), respectively. So, we get

$$a_{k,n}^{[m-1]} = -\frac{1}{2\pi k} b_{k,n-1}^{[m-1]}, \tag{3.23}$$

$$b_{k,n}^{[m-1]} = -\frac{2}{2\pi k} \left( p_n^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_n^{[m-1]}(0) \right) + \frac{1}{2\pi k} a_{k,n-1}^{[m-1]}.$$
(3.24)

Then replacing n by n - 1 in (3.24) and substituting the result obtained into (3.23), we get the following recurrence relation

$$a_{k,n}^{[m-1]} + \frac{1}{(2\pi k)^2} a_{k,n-2}^{[m-1]} = \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^2} \left( p_{n-1}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-1}^{[m-1]}(0) \right).$$
(3.25)

Analogously, we can obtain

$$b_{k,n}^{[m-1]} + \frac{1}{(2\pi k)^2} b_{k,n-2}^{[m-1]} = -\frac{2}{2\pi k} \left( p_n^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_n^{[m-1]}(0) \right).$$
(3.26)

Finally, it follows from (3.25) and (3.26) that

$$a_{k,n}^{[m-1]} = \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^2} \left( p_{n-1}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-1}^{[m-1]}(0) \right) - \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^4} \left( p_{n-3}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-3}^{[m-1]}(0) \right) + \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^6} \left( p_{n-5}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-5}^{[m-1]}(0) \right) \\ - \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^8} \left( p_{n-7}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-7}^{[m-1]}(0) \right) + \dots + (-1)^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1} \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^{2\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}} \left( p_{n-(\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1)}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-(\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1)}^{[m-1]}(0) \right),$$

and

$$\begin{split} b_{k,n}^{[m-1]} &= -\frac{2}{2\pi k} \left( p_n^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_n^{[m-1]}(0) \right) + \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^3} \left( p_{n-2}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-2}^{[m-1]}(0) \right) - \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^5} \left( p_{n-4}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-4}^{[m-1]}(0) \right) \\ &+ \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^7} \left( p_{n-6}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-6}^{[m-1]}(0) \right) + \dots + (-1)^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1} \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^{2\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1}} \left( p_{n-2\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}^{[m-1]}(1^-) - p_{n-2\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}^{[m-1]}(0) \right). \end{split}$$

From these last relations we obtain (3.17) and (3.19), respectively.

**Theorem 3.2.** For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  be the periodic generalized Bernoulli functions of level m. If  $x \in (0,1)$ , then the following identity holds.

$$p_{n}^{[m-1]}(x) = \frac{m!(m-1)}{2(m+1)} \frac{x^{n}}{n!} + m! p_{n}(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} {\binom{n}{2k}} \left[ (2k)! p_{2k}^{[m-1]}(0) + \frac{2(-1)^{k} m! (2k)! \zeta(2k)}{(2\pi)^{2k}} \right] \frac{x^{n-2k}}{n!} + \sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \rfloor} p_{2k-1}^{[m-1]}(0) \frac{x^{n-2k-1}}{(n-2k-1)!}.$$
(3.27)

*Proof.* Using Proposition 3.1 we obtain the following expression for  $p_1^{[m-1]}(x)$ :

$$p_1^{[m-1]}(x) = \frac{m!(m-1)}{2(m+1)} - m! \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\sin 2\pi kx}{2\pi k}, \quad \text{whenever } x \in (0,1).$$
(3.28)

Then in view of (3.1) and (2.6), we see that

$$p_n^{[m-1]}(x) = p_n^{[m-1]}(0) + \int_0^x p_{n-1}^{[m-1]}(t) dt, \quad \text{if } x \in [0,1).$$
(3.29)

Taking n = 2 and substituting (3.28) into (3.29), we get

$$p_2^{[m-1]}(x) = p_2^{[m-1]}(0) + \int_0^x p_1^{[m-1]}(t) dt = \frac{m!(m-1)}{2(m+1)}x + \left(2!p_2^{[m-1]}(0) - \frac{2m!2!}{(2\pi)^2}\zeta(2)\right)\frac{1}{2!} + m!p_2(x).$$

Similarly, for n = 3 we can deduce

$$p_{3}^{[m-1]}(x) = p_{3}^{[m-1]}(0) + \int_{0}^{x} p_{2}^{[m-1]}(t) dt = \frac{m!(m-1)}{2(m+1)} \frac{x^{2}}{2!} + \left(2! p_{2}^{[m-1]}(0) - \frac{2m!2!}{(2\pi)^{2}} \zeta(2)\right) \frac{1}{2!} x + p_{3}^{[m-1]}(0) + m! p_{3}(x).$$

Iterating this procedure (3.27) follows.

Recall that the Dirichlet convergence theorem [10, 17, 23] guarantees that the Fourier series (3.14) converges pointwise at  $x \in \mathbb{Z}$  to the average of  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x^+)$  and  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x^-)$ . Indeed, based on this fact we prove the next result.

**Theorem 3.3.** For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and any  $r \in \mathbb{N}$ , the following identity holds.

$$\zeta(2r) = \frac{(-1)^{r-1} 2^{2r-1} \pi^{2r} B_{2r}^{[m-1]}}{m! (2r)!} + \Delta_r^{[m-1]}, \tag{3.30}$$

where

$$\Delta_{r}^{[m-1]} = \frac{(-1)^{r-1}2^{2r-1}\pi^{2r}}{m!} \left[ \frac{B_{2r}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r}^{[m-1]}}{2(2r)!} - \frac{B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}}{(2r+1)!} - \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \frac{\left(B_{2r-2j+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r-2j+1}^{[m-1]}\right)}{(2r-2j+1)!} \frac{B_{2j}}{(2j)!} \right]$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^{r-1}2^{2r-1}\pi^{2r}}{m!} \left[ \frac{1}{2(2r)!} \sum_{k=0}^{2r-1} \binom{2r}{k} B_{k}^{[m-1]} - \frac{1}{(2r+1)!} \sum_{k=0}^{2r} \binom{2r+1}{k} B_{k}^{[m-1]} - \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \sum_{k=0}^{2j} \binom{2j+1}{k} \frac{B_{k}^{[m-1]}B_{2j}}{(2j+1)!(2j)!} \right].$$

$$(3.31)$$

$$(3.32)$$

*Proof.* Let us consider n = 2r and x = 0 in (3.14). Since x = 0 is a point of discontinuity of  $p_{2r}^{[m-1]}(x)$ , by the Dirichlet convergence theorem [10, 17, 23] we have

$$\frac{p_{2r}^{[m-1]}(0^+) + p_{2r}^{[m-1]}(0^-)}{2} = \frac{a_{0,2r}^{[m-1]}}{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_{k,2r}^{[m-1]}.$$
(3.33)

Since

$$\frac{p_{2r}^{[m-1]}(0^+) + p_{2r}^{[m-1]}(0^-)}{2} = \frac{B_{2r}^{[m-1]} + B_{2r}^{[m-1]}(1)}{2(2r)!},$$

using (3.15) and (3.17), we can rewrite (3.33) as follows

$$\frac{B_{2r}^{[m-1]} + B_{2r}^{[m-1]}(1)}{2(2r)!} = \frac{1}{(2r+1)!} \left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{r-1} (-1)^j \frac{2}{(2\pi k)^{2j+2}} \frac{\left( B_{2r-2j-1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r-2j-1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2r-2j-1)!}.$$
(3.34)

Taking into account that

$$p_{2j+2}(0) = (-1)^{j+1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{2}{(2\pi n)^{2j+2}},$$

the relation (3.34) can be expressed as

$$\frac{B_{2r}^{[m-1]} + B_{2r}^{[m-1]}(1)}{2(2r)!} = \frac{1}{(2r+1)!} \left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right) + m! p_{2r}(0) + \sum_{j=0}^{r-2} \frac{\left( B_{2r-2j-1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r-2j-1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2r-2j-1)!} \frac{B_{2j+2}(1)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2j+2)!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left( B_{2r+1$$

Or equivalently,

$$\frac{B_{2r}^{[m-1]} + B_{2r}^{[m-1]}(1)}{2(2r)!} = \frac{1}{(2r+1)!} \left( B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]} \right) + m! p_{2r}(0) + \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \frac{\left( B_{2r-2j+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r-2j+1}^{[m-1]} \right)}{(2r-2j+1)!} \frac{B_{2j}}{(2j)!}.$$
(3.35)

Now, from (3.35) we deduce that

$$\frac{2(-1)^{r-1}\zeta(2r)}{(2\pi)^{2r}} = \frac{B_{2r}^{[m-1]}(1) + B_{2r}^{[m-1]}}{2m!(2r)!} - \frac{B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}}{m!(2r+1)!} - \frac{1}{m!}\sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \frac{\left(B_{2r-2j+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r-2j+1}^{[m-1]}\right)}{(2r-2j+1)!} \frac{B_{2j}}{(2j)!}.$$
(3.36)

Hence, (3.36) takes the form:

$$\zeta(2r) = \frac{(-1)^{r-1} 2^{2r-1} \pi^{2r} B_{2r}^{[m-1]}}{m! (2r)!} + \Delta_r^{[m-1]}, \tag{3.37}$$

where

$$\Delta_{r}^{[m-1]} = \frac{(-1)^{r-1}2^{2r-1}\pi^{2r}}{m!} \left[ \frac{B_{2r}^{[m-1]}(1) + B_{2r}^{[m-1]}}{2(2r)!} - \frac{B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r+1}^{[m-1]}}{(2r+1)!} - \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \frac{\left(B_{2r-2j+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2r-2j+1}^{[m-1]}\right)}{(2r-2j+1)!} \frac{B_{2j}}{(2j)!} \right]$$

Hence,  $\Delta_r^{[m-1]}$  satisfies (3.31).

Finally, the substitution of (2.2) into the above expression for  $\Delta_r^{[m-1]}$ , and some suitable computations yield the identity (3.32).

Notice that if m = 1 in (3.30) then we recover (1.1). It is not difficult to see that for r = 1 the identity (3.30) yields the same result than the identity (3.12).

# 4. Riemann zeta function and quadrature formulae of Euler-Maclaurin type

It is well known that using the Euler-Maclaurin summation formula (cf. [2, 8, 11], and [16, Chap. 2, Sec. 3, p. 30]) it is possible to deduce the following formula for the integral of the product of two classical Bernoulli polynomials

$$\int_0^1 B_s(t) B_r(t) dt = (-1)^{s+1} \frac{s! r!}{(s+r)!} B_{s+r}, \quad \text{where } r, s \ge 1.$$
(4.1)

Using integration by parts a similar formula to (4.1) has been deduced in [18]. More precisely, for an integer  $r \ge 0$  and a closed interval [a,b], let  $C^r[a,b]$  denote the set of all *r*-times continuously differentiable functions defined on [a,b]. Then following result holds.

**Lemma 4.1.** [18, Lemma 1] Let  $r \ge 1$  and  $f \in C^r[0,1]$ . For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\int_0^1 f(t)dt = \frac{1}{m!} \left[ \sum_{k=1}^r A_k^{[m-1]}(f) + \frac{(-1)^r}{r!} \int_0^1 f^{(r)}(t) B_r^{[m-1]}(t)dt \right],\tag{4.2}$$

where

$$A_k^{[m-1]}(f) = \frac{(-1)^k}{k!} \left( f^{(k-1)}(0) B_k^{[m-1]} - f^{(k-1)}(1) B_k^{[m-1]}(1) \right), \qquad k = 1, \dots, r.$$

Applying the substitution  $f(t) = B_{r+n}^{[m-1]}(t)$  into (4.2) and taking into account (2.3), (2.6) we have

$$\int_{0}^{1} B_{r}^{[m-1]}(t) B_{n}^{[m-1]}(t) dt = \frac{(-1)^{r+1} r! n! m!}{(r+n)!} \left[ \frac{B_{r+n+1}^{[m-1]} - B_{r+n+1}^{[m-1]}(1)}{r+n+1} + \frac{1}{m!} \sum_{k=1}^{r} A_{k}^{[m-1]} \right],$$
(4.3)

where  $r, n \ge 1$  and

$$A_{k}^{[m-1]} = \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} \binom{r+n}{k-1} \left( B_{r+n-k+1}^{[m-1]} B_{k}^{[m-1]} - B_{r+n-k+1}^{[m-1]}(1) B_{k}^{[m-1]}(1) \right), \qquad k = 1, \dots, r.$$

The expression (4.3) is the analogue of (4.1) in the setting of the generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m*. We strongly recommend to the interested reader see [18] for the corresponding proofs of the results mentioned above.

Let  $L^2[0,1]$  be the space of the square-integrable functions on [0,1], endowed with the norm

$$||f||_{L^2[0,1]} := \left(\int_0^1 |f(t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/2} = \langle f, f \rangle^{1/2},$$

where

$$\langle f,g \rangle := \int_0^1 f(t)g(t)dt$$
, for every  $f,g \in L^2[0,1]$ .

It is not difficult to see that we can determine the norm  $\|B_n^{[m-1]}\|_{L^2[0,1]}$  using (4.3), as

$$\begin{split} \|B_{n}^{[m-1]}\|_{L^{2}[0,1]}^{2} &= \frac{(n!)^{2}m!(-1)^{n}}{(2n+1)!} (B_{2n+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2n+1}^{[m-1]}) \\ &+ (n!)^{2}(-1)^{n+1} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{(2n+1-k)!k!} (B_{2n+1-k}^{[m-1]} B_{k}^{[m-1]} - B_{2n+1-k}^{[m-1]}(1) B_{k}^{[m-1]}(1)). \end{split}$$

$$(4.4)$$

From the trigonometric form of Fourier expansion for  $f \in L^2[0,1]$  it is possible to deduce the following form of Parseval's identity:

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}[0,1]}^{2} = \frac{|a_{0}(f)|^{2}}{4} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |a_{k}(f)|^{2} + |b_{k}(f)|^{2},$$
(4.5)

where

$$a_k(f) = 2\int_0^1 f(x)\cos(2\pi kx)\,dx, \quad k \ge 0,$$
  
$$b_k(f) = 2\int_0^1 f(x)\sin(2\pi kx)\,dx, \quad k \ge 1.$$

Hence, using (4.4) we show how linear combinations of the values of  $\zeta(2k)$  can be obtained by applying Parseval's identity (4.5) with the Fourier coefficients (3.15), (3.17) and (3.19) of the periodic generalized Bernoulli functions of level *m*. Applying Parseval's identity (4.5) to  $p_n^{[m-1]}(x)$  and using (3.15)-(3.19), we can deduce that

$$\begin{split} \|B_{n}^{[m-1]}\|_{L^{2}[0,1]}^{2} &= (n!)^{2} \left[ \frac{\left(a_{0,n}^{[m-1]}\right)^{2}}{4} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(a_{k,n}^{[m-1]}\right)^{2} + \left(b_{k,n}^{[m-1]}\right)^{2} \right] \\ &= \frac{(B_{n+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{n+1}^{[m-1]})^{2}}{(n+1)^{2}} + 2(n!)^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[ \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1} \frac{(-1)^{j}}{(2\pi k)^{2j+2}} \left( \frac{B_{n-2j-1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{n-2j-1}^{[m-1]}}{(n-2j-1)!} \right) \right]^{2} \\ &+ 2(n!)^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[ \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} \frac{(-1)^{j+1}}{(2\pi k)^{2j+1}} \left( \frac{B_{n-2j}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{n-2j}^{[m-1]}}{(n-2j)!} \right) \right]^{2}. \end{split}$$

$$(4.6)$$

Comparing (4.4) with (4.6) we obtain the next equality:

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} A_{k,n}^2 + B_{k,n}^2 = \frac{m!(-1)^n}{2(2n+1)!} (B_{2n+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{2n+1}^{[m-1]}) - \frac{(B_{n+1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{n+1}^{[m-1]})^2}{2(n+1)^2} \\ + \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{2} \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{(-1)^k}{(2n+1-k)!k!} (B_{2n+1-k}^{[m-1]} - B_{2n+1-k}^{[m-1]} - B_{2n+1-k}^{[m-1]}(1) B_k^{[m-1]}(1)),$$
(4.7)

where

$$\begin{split} &A_{k,n} = \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1} \frac{(-1)^j}{(2\pi k)^{2j+2}} \left( \frac{B_{n-2j-1}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{n-2j-1}^{[m-1]}}{(n-2j-1)!} \right), \\ &B_{k,n} = \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} \frac{(-1)^{j+1}}{(2\pi k)^{2j+1}} \left( \frac{B_{n-2j}^{[m-1]}(1) - B_{n-2j}^{[m-1]}}{(n-2j)!} \right). \end{split}$$

Furthermore, if m = 1 in (4.7) we recover (1.1). Following the ideas of [19] we can obtain a quadrature formulae of Euler-Maclaurin type based on generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level  $m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ .

**Theorem 4.2.** Let  $r \ge 1$ ,  $f \in C^r[a,b]$  and  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . For a fixed  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  let  $x_j = a + jh$ , j = 0, 1, ..., n, where  $h = \frac{b-a}{n}$ , and  $f_j^{(k-1)} = f^{(k-1)}(x_j)$ , k = 1, 2, ..., r. Then, the following composite trapezoidal rules hold.

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \sum_{k=1}^{r} \tilde{A}_{k,j}^{[m-1]}(f) + R_{r}^{[m-1]}(f),$$
(4.8)

where

$$\tilde{A}_{k,j}^{[m-1]}(f) = \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{m!k!} h^k \left( f_{j+1}^{(k-1)} B_k^{[m-1]}(1) - f_j^{(k-1)} B_k^{[m-1]} \right), \qquad 1 \le k \le r,$$

and

$$R_r^{[m-1]}(f) = \frac{(-h)^r}{m!r!} \int_a^b f^{(r)}(t) B_r^{[m-1]}\left(\frac{t-a}{h} - \left\lfloor \frac{t-a}{h} \right\rfloor\right) dt.$$

*Proof.* Let  $g \in C^r[0,1]$ . By (4.2) we get

$$\int_{0}^{1} g(t)dt = \frac{1}{m!} \sum_{k=1}^{r} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} \left( g^{(k-1)}(1)B_{k}^{[m-1]}(1) - g^{(k-1)}(0)B_{k}^{[m-1]} \right) + \frac{(-1)^{r}}{m!r!} \int_{0}^{1} g^{(r)}(t)B_{r}^{[m-1]}(t)dt.$$
(4.9)

Taking  $g(t) = f(x_j + ht)$  it is easy to check that  $g^{(k)}(t) = h^k f^{(k)}(x_j + ht)$  for k = 1, 2, ..., r. Substituting  $g^{(k-1)}(1)$ ,  $g^{(k-1)}(0)$ ,  $g^{(r)}(t)$  into (4.9), and making a suitable change of variable, we obtain that

$$\int_{x_j}^{x_{j+1}} f(t) dt = \frac{1}{m!} \sum_{k=1}^{r} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} h^k \left( f^{(k-1)}(x_{j+1}) B_k^{[m-1]}(1) - f^{(k-1)}(x_j) B_k^{[m-1]} \right) + \frac{(-h)^r}{m! r!} \int_{x_j}^{x_{j+1}} f^{(r)}(t) B_r^{[m-1]} \left( \frac{t - x_j}{h} \right) dt,$$
(4.10)

whenever j = 0, 1, ..., n-1. Next, adding all these terms for j = 0, ..., n-1 to both sides of (4.10), and nothing that if  $x_j \le t \le x_{j+1}$  then  $j \le \frac{t-a}{h} \le j+1$ , we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \int_{x_{j}}^{x_{j+1}} f(t) dt = \frac{1}{m!} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \sum_{k=1}^{r} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} h^{k} \left( f^{(k-1)}(x_{j+1}) B_{k}^{[m-1]}(1) - f^{(k-1)}(x_{j}) B_{k}^{[m-1]} \right) + R_{r}^{[m-1]}(f).$$

From this last equation (4.8) follows.

We conclude this section with a result that reveals an interesting property about the applications of the quadrature formulae of Euler-Maclaurin type (4.8). Using the approach given in [11, pp. 117-120], it is possible to provide a theorem comparing simultaneously the convergence of a series  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f(k)$  and an integral  $\int_{1}^{\infty} f(x)dx$  in the setting of generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level *m*. In particular, with such a theorem we can estimate the values  $\zeta(2k+1)$ , for  $k \ge 1$ .

Let  $r \ge 1$ ,  $f \in C^r[1,\infty)$ . For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , we will denote by

$$S(l) := \sum_{j=1}^{l} f(j), \tag{4.11}$$

$$\widetilde{\sigma}_{r}^{[m-1]}(q_{1}) := f(q_{1}) + \frac{1}{m!} \sum_{k=1}^{r} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} f^{(k-1)}(q_{1}) B_{k}^{[m-1]},$$
(4.12)

$$\sigma_r^{[m-1]}(q_2) := \frac{1}{m!} \sum_{k=1}^r \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} f^{(k-1)}(q_2) B_k^{[m-1]}(1), \tag{4.13}$$

$$\rho_r^{[m-1]}(q_1, q_2) := \frac{1}{m!} \sum_{j=q_1+1}^{q_2-1} \sum_{k=2}^r \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} (B_k^{[m-1]}(1) - B_k^{[m-1]}) f^{(k-1)}(j), \tag{4.14}$$

$$R_r^{[m-1]}(q_1, q_2) := \frac{(-1)^r}{r!} \int_{q_1}^{q_2} g_r^{[m-1]}(t) dt,$$
(4.15)

where  $l, q_1, q_2 \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $g_r^{[m-1]}(t) = f^{(r)}(t)B_r^{[m-1]}(t - \lfloor t \rfloor)$ . As well as, we will consider the following limits:

$$\begin{split} S(\infty) &:= \lim_{l \to \infty} S(l), \\ \sigma_r^{[m-1]}(\infty) &:= \lim_{q_2 \to \infty} \sigma_r^{[m-1]}(q_2), \\ \rho_r^{[m-1]}(q_1, \infty) &:= \lim_{q_2 \to \infty} \rho_r^{[m-1]}(q_1, q_2), \\ R_r^{[m-1]}(q_1, \infty) &:= \lim_{q_2 \to \infty} R_r^{[m-1]}(q_1, q_2), \\ e_r^{[m-1]}(q_1) &:= \rho_r^{[m-1]}(q_1, \infty), \\ \delta_r^{[m-1]}(q_1) &:= R_r^{[m-1]}(q_1, \infty). \end{split}$$

For the reader's convenience, we recall the definition of Euler's constant for a function f (cf. [11, p. 118]). For  $f \in C^r[1,\infty)$  and any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  let us consider the sequence

$$\gamma_n(f) := \sum_{i=1}^n f(i) - \int_1^n f(t) \, dt.$$
(4.16)

Euler's constant for function f is defined as the limit

$$\gamma(f) := \lim_{n \to \infty} \gamma_n(f), \tag{4.17}$$

whenever such limit exists and be finite.

The quadrature formulae of Euler-Maclaurin type (4.8) is also of theoretical interest. More precisely, the definitions (4.16), (4.17) and the formulae (4.8) imply the following result:

**Theorem 4.3.** For a fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , every  $r, p, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $f \in C^r[1,\infty)$ . Assume that  $\rho_r^{[m-1]}(1,\infty)$ ,  $\int_1^{\infty} |f^{(r)}(t)| dt$  converge, and the finite limit  $\lambda_0 := \lim_{n \to \infty} f(n)$  exists, then

- (a) The integral  $\int_{1}^{\infty} f(t) dt$  converges if and only if the series  $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} f(j)$  converges.
- (b) If the integral  $\int_1^{\infty} f(t) dt$  converges, then

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} f(t) dt = \int_{1}^{p} f(t) dt + S(\infty) - S(p-1) + \sigma_{r}^{[m-1]}(\infty) - \widetilde{\sigma}_{r}^{[m-1]}(p) + e_{r}^{[m-1]}(p) + \delta_{r}^{[m-1]}(p).$$

Notice that if  $\rho_r^{[m-1]}(1,\infty)$  converges, then  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f^{(k-1)}(n) = 0$  for every  $k = 2, \ldots, r$ .

*Proof.* Without loss of generality we can assume that  $p \le n$ . The substitution a = p, b = n and h = 1 into (4.8) and the use of (4.11)-(4.15) yield the identity

$$\int_{p}^{n} f(t) dt = S(n-1) - S(p-1) - f(n) + \sigma_{r}^{[m-1]}(n) - \widetilde{\sigma}_{r}^{[m-1]}(p) + \rho_{r}^{[m-1]}(p,n) + R_{r}^{[m-1]}(p,n),$$
(4.18)

where S(0) = 0 by definition. The remainder  $R_r^{[m-1]}(p,n)$  can be estimated by

$$\left| R_r^{[m-1]}(p,n) \right| \le \frac{\mu_r^{[m-1]}}{r!} \int_p^n |f^{(r)}(t)| \, dt, \tag{4.19}$$

where  $\mu_r^{[m-1]} = \max\{|B_r^{[m-1]}(x)|: 0 \le x \le 1\}$ . By (4.16) and the formula (4.18) we obtain

$$\gamma_n(f) = f(n) + \widetilde{\sigma}_r^{[m-1]}(1) - \sigma_r^{[m-1]}(n) - \rho_r^{[m-1]}(1,n) - R_r^{[m-1]}(1,n).$$
(4.20)

Our assumptions imply, according to (4.20), that the Euler's constant for the function f,  $\gamma(f)$ , exists and the next equality is satisfied:

$$\gamma(f) = \lambda_0 + \widetilde{\sigma}_r^{[m-1]}(1) - \sigma_r^{[m-1]}(\infty) - \rho_r^{[m-1]}(1,\infty) - R_r^{[m-1]}(1,\infty).$$
(4.21)

Now, from (4.20) and (4.21) we have

$$\gamma(f) = \gamma_n(f) + \lambda_0 - f(n) + \sigma_r^{[m-1]}(n) - \sigma_r^{[m-1]}(\infty) - e_r^{[m-1]}(n-1) - \delta_r^{[m-1]}(n),$$
(4.22)

where

$$\left|\delta_r^{[m-1]}(n)\right| \le \frac{\mu_r^{[m-1]}}{r!} \int_n^\infty \left|f^{(r)}(t)\right| dt$$

Thus, substituting (4.16) into (4.22) and using (4.11) we obtain

$$\int_{1}^{n} f(t) dt = S(n) - \gamma(f) + \lambda_{0} - f(n) + \sigma_{r}^{[m-1]}(n) - \sigma_{r}^{[m-1]}(\infty) - e_{r}^{[m-1]}(n-1) - \delta_{r}^{[m-1]}(n).$$
(4.23)

Finally, part (a) of Theorem 4.3 can be deduced from (4.23). In order to obtain part (b) of Theorem 4.3 it suffices to consider (4.18) and the equality  $\int_{p}^{n} f(t) dt = \int_{1}^{n} f(t) dt - \int_{1}^{p} f(t) dt$ .

The interested reader may consult the analogous result for m = 1 in [11, Theorem 2].

**Example 4.4.** To compute  $\zeta(3) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^3}$ , we can put m = 5, r = 2, p = 100,  $f(x) = \frac{1}{x^3}$ ,  $x \in [1, \infty)$  and apply part (b) of Theorem 4.3. Then, we obtain

$$\begin{split} S(99) &= 1.2020064006596776104, \\ \sigma_2^{[4]}(p) &= \frac{5}{6p^3} + \frac{85}{84p^4}, \\ \sigma_2^{[4]}(100) &= 8.4345238095238095238 \times 10^{-7}, \\ \sigma_2^{[4]}(\infty) &= 0, \\ \widetilde{\sigma}_2^{[4]}(p) &= \frac{5}{6p^3} + \frac{1}{84p^4}, \\ \widetilde{\sigma}_2^{[4]}(100) &= 8.3345238095238095238 \times 10^{-7}, \\ e_2^{[4]}(100) &= 3.2836666500022217224 \times 10^{-7}. \end{split}$$

Next, part (b) of Theorem 4.3 gives

$$\begin{split} \zeta(3) &= \int_{100}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t^3} + S(99) - \sigma_2^{[4]}(\infty) + \widetilde{\sigma}_2^{[4]}(100) - e_2^{[4]}(100) - \delta_2^{[4]}(100) \\ &= 0.00005 + 1.2020064006596776104 + (8.3345238095238095238) \times 10^{-7} \\ &- (3.2836666500022217224) \times 10^{-7} - \delta_2^{[4]}(100) \\ &= 1.2020560622930126102 - \delta_2^{[4]}(100). \end{split}$$

Since

$$\delta_2^{[4]}(100) \approx 3.10296 \times 10^{-7},$$

we obtain the following estimates for  $\zeta(3)$ :

$$\zeta(3) \approx 1.2020557519970993510.$$

(4.24)

In this case, our approximation is accurate up to five decimal places of  $\zeta(3) = 1.2020569031595942854...$ Since, for  $p \ge 1$ ,

$$\delta_2^{[4]}(p) \Big| \le \frac{\mu_2^{[4]}}{2} \int_p^\infty \frac{12}{t^5} dt = \frac{850}{7p^4}$$

Then,

 $\left|\delta_2^{[4]}(100)\right| \le 0.000001214285714,$ 

and the estimate (4.24) could be refined in order to get an accurate up to six decimal places.

**Example 4.5.** Now, we will estimate  $\zeta(3) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^3}$ , taking m = 2, r = 2, p = 20,  $f(x) = \frac{1}{x^3}$ ,  $x \in [1, \infty)$  and apply part (b) of Theorem 4.3 again. In this case, we have

S(19) = 1.2020064006596776104,

$$\begin{split} &\sigma_2^{[1]}(p) = \frac{2}{3p^3} + \frac{7}{12p^4}, \\ &\sigma_2^{[1]}(20) = 0.000086979166666666666666667, \\ &\sigma_2^{[1]}(\infty) = 0, \\ &\widetilde{\sigma}_2^{[1]}(p) = \frac{2}{3p^3} + \frac{1}{12p^4}, \\ &\widetilde{\sigma}_2^{[1]}(20) = 0.00008385416666666666666667, \\ &e_2^{[1]}(20) = 0.00002244785177830327. \end{split}$$

From part (b) of Theorem 4.3 we get

Since

$$\delta_2^{[1]}(20) \approx 9.40 \times 10^{-7}$$

*we obtain the following numerical approximation of*  $\zeta(3)$ 

$$\zeta(3) \approx 1.2019663288791965826$$
,

which only is accurate up to two decimal places of  $\zeta(3) = 1.2020569031595942854...$ 

**Example 4.6.** To estimate  $\zeta(5) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^5}$ , we put m = 2, r = 6, p = 30,  $f(x) = \frac{1}{x^5}$ ,  $x \in [1, \infty)$  and apply part (b) of Theorem 4.3. In this case, we have

$$\begin{split} &S(29) = 1.0369274253541474188, \\ &\sigma_6^{[1]}(p) = \frac{2}{3p^5} + \frac{35}{36p^6} + \frac{8}{9p^7} + \frac{77}{216p^8} \\ &\quad -\frac{26}{81p^9} - \frac{151}{270p^{10}}, \\ &\sigma_6^{[1]}(30) = 2.8809650704405569010 \times 10^{-8}, \\ &\sigma_6^{[1]}(\infty) = 0, \\ &\tilde{\sigma}_6^{[1]}(\infty) = 0, \\ &\tilde{\sigma}_6^{[1]}(p) = \frac{2}{3p^5} + \frac{5}{36p^6} + \frac{1}{18p^7} - \frac{7}{216p^8} \\ &\quad -\frac{5}{81p^9} - \frac{1}{270p^{10}}, \\ &\tilde{\sigma}_6^{[1]}(30) = 2.7627849714267435143 \times 10^{-8}, \\ &e_6^{[1]}(30) = 6.48060252152 \times 10^{-9}. \end{split}$$

From part (b) of Theorem 4.3 we get

$$\begin{split} \zeta(5) &= \int_{30}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t^5} + S(29) - \sigma_3^{[1]}(\infty) + \widetilde{\sigma}_3^{[1]}(30) - e_3^{[1]}(30) - \delta_3^{[1]}(30) \\ &= 3.0864197530864197531 \times 10^{-7} + 1.0369274253541474188 + 2.7627902250673169740 \times 10^{-8} \\ &- 6.47839130112 \times 10^{-9} - \delta_6^{[1]}(30) \\ &= 1.0369277263337192158 - \delta_6^{[1]}(30). \end{split}$$

According to

 $\delta_6^{[1]}(30) \approx -3.9236379933251 \times 10^{-51},$ 

we obtain the following numerical approximation of  $\zeta(5)$ 

 $\zeta(5) \approx 1.0369277263337192158.$ 

So, our approximation is accurate up to seven decimal places of  $\zeta(5) = 1.0369277551433699263...$ 

(4.26)

(4.25)

In [11, Example 5] the examples 4.4 and 4.5 are considered for the level m = 1. Indeed, putting r = 2 and p = 20 the estimate (4.24) is also obtained. So, from a numerical viewpoint the level m = 1 seems to provide a low computational cost.

Finally, the numerical evidence corresponding to the examples 4.4-4.6 suggests that when m > 1 for obtaining higher precision for our approximations to the series  $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} f(j)$  we need only use higher values of r in part (b) of Theorem 4.3.

**Example 4.7.** Using part (a) of Theorem 4.3 we can deduce that the series

$$sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(\sqrt{k})}{k}$$

converges, since

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(\sqrt{t})}{t} dt \approx -0.67480784580193626932...$$

The above approximation was performed using MAPLE 15. However, it is not difficult to show that the integral  $\int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(\sqrt{t})}{t} dt$  converges. Notice that

$$2\int_1^b \frac{d(\sin(\sqrt{t}))}{\sqrt{t}} = \int_1^b \frac{\cos(\sqrt{t})}{t} dt,$$

and by the formula for integration by parts of Riemann-Stieltjes, we have:

$$2\left[\int_{1}^{b} \frac{d(\sin(\sqrt{t}))}{\sqrt{t}} + \int_{1}^{b} \sin(\sqrt{t})d\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}\right)\right] = 2\left(\frac{\sin(\sqrt{b})}{\sqrt{b}} - \sin(1)\right).$$

Consequently,

$$\int_{1}^{b} \frac{\cos(\sqrt{t})}{t} dt = 2\left(\frac{\sin(\sqrt{b})}{\sqrt{b}} - \sin(1)\right) + \int_{1}^{b} \frac{\sin(\sqrt{t})}{t^{3/2}} dt$$

since  $\lim_{b\to\infty} \frac{\sin(\sqrt{b})}{\sqrt{b}} = 0$  and the integral  $\int_1^\infty \frac{\sin(\sqrt{t})}{t^{3/2}} dt$  converges, then

$$\int_1^\infty \frac{\cos(\sqrt{t})}{t} \, dt \quad converges.$$

We can provide another solution by using Dirichlet's test for improper integrals (see for instance, [11, Example 4] where a similar series is considered.)

## Acknowledgement

Research partially supported by Decanato de Investigación y Desarrollo, Universidad Simón Bolívar, Venezuela, grant DID-USB (S1-IC-CB-004-17).

## References

- [1] T. M. Apostol, Another elementary proof of Euler's formula for  $\zeta(2n)$ , AM. Math. Monthly, **80** (1973), 425-431.
- [2] T. M. Apostol, An elementary view of Euler's summation formula, AM. Math. Monthly, 106 (1999), 409-418.
- [3] T. Arakawa, T. Ibukiyama, M. Kaneko, Bernoulli numbers and Zeta Functions, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer, New York, 2014.
- R. Ayoub, Euler and the zeta function, AM. Math. Monthly, 81 (1974), 1067-1086.
- [4] R. Ayoub, Euler and the zeta function, AM. Math. Monthly, 81 (1974), 1067-1086.
  [5] R. Baker, An Introduction to Riemann's Life, His Mathematics and His Work on the Zeta Function, H. Montgomery, A. Nikeghbali, M. Th. Rassias
  [5] R. Baker, An Introduction to Riemann's Life, His Mathematics and His Work on the Zeta Function, H. Montgomery, A. Nikeghbali, M. Th. Rassias (editors), Exploring the Riemann Zeta Function: 190 years from Riemann's Birth, Springer International Publishing AG, Switzerland, 2017, pp. 1-12. [6] B. C. Berndt, A. Straub, Ramanujan's Formula for  $\zeta(2n+1)$ , H. Montgomery, A. Nikeghbali, M. Th. Rassias (editors), Exploring the Riemann Zeta
- Function: 190 years from Riemann's Birth, Springer International Publishing AG, Switzerland, 2017, pp. 13-14.
- [7] Ó. Ciaurri, L. M. Navas, F. J. Ruiz, J. L. Varona, A simple computation of  $\zeta(2k)$  by using Bernoulli polynomials and a telescoping series, AM. Math. Monthly, **122** (2015), 444-451.
- [8] P. J. Davis, P. Rabinowitz, Methods of Numerical Integration, Academic Press Inc., 1984.
- [9] E. De Amo, M. Díaz-Carrillo, J. Fernández-Sánchez, Another proof of Euler's formula for  $\zeta(2k)$ , Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 139 (2011), 1441-1444.
- [10] G. B. Folland, Fourier Analysis and Its Applications, Brooks/Cole Publishing Co., 1992.
- [11] V. Lampret, The Euler-Maclaurin and Taylor formulas: Twin, elementary derivations, Math. Mag., 74(2) (2001), 109-122.
- [12] A. Hassen, H. D. Nguyen, *Hypergeometric Bernoulli polynomials and Appell sequences*, Int. J. Number Theory, 4(5) (2008), 767-774.
  [13] P. Hernández-Llanos, Y. Quintana, A. Urieles, *About extensions of generalized Apostol-type polynomials*, Results Math., 68 (2015), 203-225.
  [14] F. T. Howard, *Some sequences of rational numbers related to the exponential function*, Duke Math. J., 34 (1967), 701-716.
- [15] P. Natalini, A. Bernardini, A generalization of the Bernoulli polynomials, J. Appl. Math., 2003(3) (2003), 155-163.
- [16] N. E. Nørlund, Vorlesungen über Differenzenrechnung, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1924, (reprinted 1954), (in German).
- [17] G. M. Phillips, Interpolation and Approximation by Polynomials, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2003. [18] Y. Quintana, W. Ramírez, A. Urieles, On an operational matrix method based on generalized Bernoulli polynomials of level m, Calcolo, 55(3) (2018),
- 29 pages. Y. Quintana, A. Urieles, *Quadrature formulae of Euler-Maclaurin type based on generalized Euler polynomials of level m*, Bull. Comput. Appl. Math., [19] 6(2) (2018), 43-64.
  [20] H. M. Srivastava, H. L. Manocha, A Treatise on Generating Functions, Ellis Horwood Ltd., West Sussex, England, 1984.

- [21] H. M. Srivastava, J. Choi, Zeta and q-Zeta Functions and Associated Series and Integrals, Elsevier, London, 2012.
   [22] H. M. Srivastava, M. Garg, S. Choudhary, A new generalization of the Bernoulli and related polynomials, Russ. J. Math. Phys., 17(2) (2010), 251-261.
- [23] R. D. Stuart, Introduction to Fourier Analysis, Methuen & Co. Ltd., London, 1961.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: https://doi.org/10.32323/ujma.610399



# Solutions of a System of Two Higher-Order Difference Equations in Terms of Lucas Sequence

Amira Khelifa<sup>1,3</sup>, Yacine Halim<sup>2,3,\*</sup> and Massaoud Berkal<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Mohamed Seddik Ben Yahia University, Jijel, Algeria <sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Abdelhafid Boussouf University, Mila, Algeria <sup>3</sup>LMAM laboratory, Mohamed Seddik Ben Yahia University, Jijel, Algeria. \*Corresponding author

Corresponding duit

#### **Article Info**

#### Abstract

Keywords: General solution, Lucas numbers, stability, system of difference equations 2010 AMS: 39A10, 40A05 Received: 25 August 2019 Accepted: 4 September 2019 Available online: 26 December 2019

In this paper we give some theoretical explanations related to the representation for the general solution of the system of the higher-order rational difference equations

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{5y_{n-k} - 5}{y_{n-k}}, \qquad y_{n+1} = \frac{5x_{n-k} - 5}{x_{n-k}}, \qquad n, k \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$

where  $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , and the initial conditions  $x_{-k}, x_{-k+1}, \dots, x_0, y_{-k}, y_{-k+1}, \dots, y_0$  are non zero real numbers such that their solutions are associated to Lucas numbers. We also study the stability character and asymptotic behavior of this system.

# 1. Introduction

Giving theoretical explanations related to the exact solutions of most systems of the higher-order rational difference equations is sophisticated sometimes. Therefore, some of the recent papers give formulas for solutions to systems of difference equations and prove them by using only the method of induction.

The prime purpose of this work is to give some theoretical explanations related to the general solution of the system of the higher-order rational difference equations

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{5y_{n-k} - 5}{y_{n-k}}, \qquad y_{n+1} = \frac{5x_{n-k} - 5}{x_{n-k}}, \qquad n, k \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$
(1.1)

where  $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , and the initial conditions  $x_{-k}, x_{-k+1}, \dots, x_0, y_{-k}, y_{-k+1}, \dots, y_0$  are non zero real numbers. The solutions of (1.1) are expressed using the famous Fibonacci and Lucas numbers.

The idea is establish the solution form of system (1.1) using appropriate transformation reducing the system into a system of linear type difference equations.

In [30], the authors give formulas for solutions of the equation

$$y_{n+1} = \frac{1+y_{n-1}}{y_n y_{n-1}}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$

and prove them by using only the method of induction. However, the formulas are not justified by some theoretical explanations. Halim et al. [8] gave the solutions of the systems of difference equations

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{1}{\pm 1 \pm y_{n-k}}, \quad y_{n+1} = \frac{1}{\pm 1 \pm x_{n-k}}, \qquad n,k \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$

such that their solutions are associated to Fibonacci numbers.

*Email addresses and ORCID numbers*: amkhelifa@yahoo.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1033-7016 (A. Khelifa), halyacine@yahoo.fr, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7582-8257 (Y. Halim), berkalmessaoud@gmail.com , https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4768-8442(M. berkal)

Also, in [7] Halim et al. establish the solution form of equation

$$y_{n+1} = \frac{\alpha + \beta y_{n-1}}{\delta y_n y_{n-1}}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$

using appropriate transformation reducing the equation into a linear type difference equation, such that their solutions are associated to generalized Padovan numbers.

In [19], Stevic gave a theoretical explanation for the formula of solutions of the following difference equation

$$y_{n+1} = \frac{\alpha y_n + \beta}{\gamma y_n + \delta}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0$$

where parameters  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta$  and initial value  $y_0$  are real numbers, such that their solutions are associated to generalized Fibonacci numbers. More details on this aspect can be simply found in refs. [1]-[3],[9]-[13], [19], [22]-[28], [30],[31].

# 2. Preliminaries

### 2.1. Linearized stability of the higher-order systems

Let f and g be two continuously differentiable functions:

 $f: I^{k+1} \times J^{k+1} \longrightarrow I, \quad g: I^{k+1} \times J^{k+1} \longrightarrow J,$ 

where *I*, *J* are some interval of real numbers. For  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , consider the system of difference equations

$$\begin{cases} x_{n+1} = f(x_n, x_{n-1}, \dots, x_{n-k}, y_n, y_{n-1}, \dots, y_{n-k}) \\ y_{n+1} = g(x_n, x_{n-1}, \dots, x_{n-k}, y_n, y_{n-1}, \dots, y_{n-k}) \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

where  $n, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $(x_{-k}, x_{-k+1}, \dots, x_0) \in I^{k+1}$  and  $(y_{-k}, y_{-k+1}, \dots, y_0) \in J^{k+1}$ . Define the map  $H : I^{k+1} \times J^{k+1} \longrightarrow I^{k+1} \times J^{k+1}$  by

$$H(W) = (f_0(W), f_1(W), \dots, f_k(W), g_0(W), g_1(W), \dots, g_k(W))$$

where

$$W = (u_0, u_1, \dots, u_k, v_0, v_1, \dots, v_k)^T,$$
  

$$f_0(W) = f(W), f_1(W) = u_0, \dots, f_k(W) = u_{k-1},$$
  

$$g_0(W) = g(W), g_1(W) = v_0, \dots, g_k(W) = v_{k-1}.$$

Let

 $W_n = [x_n, x_{n-1}, \dots, x_{n-k}, y_n, y_{n-1}, \dots, y_{n-k}]^T$ .

#### Then, we can easily see that system (2.1) is equivalent to the following system written in vector form

$$W_{n+1} = H(W_n), \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0$$

that is

$$\begin{cases} x_{n+1} = f(x_n, x_{n-1}, \dots, x_{n-k}, y_n, y_{n-1}, \dots, y_{n-k}), \\ x_n = & x_n, \\ \vdots \\ x_{n-k+1} = & x_{n-k+1}, \\ y_{n+1} = & g(x_n, x_{n-1}, \dots, x_{n-k}, y_n, y_{n-1}, \dots, y_{n-k}), \\ y_n = & y_n, \\ \vdots \\ y_{n-k+1} = & y_{n-k+1}. \end{cases}$$

**Definition 2.1** (Equilibrium point). An equilibrium point  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in I \times J$  of system (2.1) is a solution of the system

$$\begin{cases} x = f(x, x, \dots, x, y, y, \dots, y), \\ y = g(x, x, \dots, x, y, y, \dots, y). \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, an equilibrium point  $\overline{W} \in I^{k+1} \times J^{k+1}$  of system (2.2) is a solution of the system

$$W = H(W).$$

**Definition 2.2** (Stability). Let  $\overline{W}$  be an equilibrium point of system (2.2) and  $\| \cdot \|$  be any norm (e.g. the Euclidean norm).

(2.2)

- 1. The equilibrium point  $\overline{W}$  is called stable (or locally stable) if for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exist  $\delta$  such that  $||W_0 \overline{W}|| < \delta$  implies  $||W_n \overline{W}|| < \varepsilon$  for  $n \ge 0$ .
- 2. The equilibrium point  $\overline{W}$  is called asymptotically stable (or locally asymptotically stable) if it is stable and there exist  $\gamma > 0$  such that  $||W_0 \overline{W}|| < \gamma$  implies

 $\lim_{n \to \pm\infty} W_n = \overline{W}.$ 

3. The equilibrium point  $\overline{W}$  is said to be global attractor (respectively global attractor with basin of attraction a set  $G \subseteq I^{k+1} \times J^{k+1}$ , if for every  $W_0$  (respectively for every  $W_0 \in G$ )

 $\lim_{n \to +\infty} W_n = \overline{W}.$ 

4. The equilibrium point  $\overline{W}$  is called globally asymptotically stable (respectively globally asymptotically stable relative to G) if it is asymptotically stable, and if for every  $W_0$  (respectively for every  $W_0 \in G$ ),

 $\lim_{n\to+\infty}W_n=\overline{W}.$ 

5. The equilibrium point  $\overline{W}$  is called unstable if it is not stable.

**Remark 2.3.** Clearly,  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in I \times J$  is an equilibrium point for system (2.1) if and only if  $\overline{W} = (\bar{x}, \bar{x}, \dots, \bar{x}, \bar{y}, \bar{y}, \dots, \bar{y}) \in I^{k+1} \times J^{k+1}$  is an equilibrium point of system (2.2).

From here on, by the stability of the equilibrium points of system (2.1), we mean the stability of the corresponding equilibrium points of the equivalent system (2.2). The linearized system, associated to system (2.2), about the equilibrium point

 $\overline{W} = (\overline{x}, \overline{x}, \cdots, \overline{x}, \overline{y}, \overline{y}, \cdots, \overline{y}),$ 

is given by

$$W_{n+1} = AW_n, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$

where A is the Jacobian matrix of the map H at the equilibrium point  $\overline{W}$  given by

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial u_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial u_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial u_k}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial v_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial v_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial v_k}(\overline{W}) \\ \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial u_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial u_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial u_k}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial v_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial v_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial v_k}(\overline{W}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \frac{\partial f_k}{\partial u_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial f_k}{\partial u_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial f_k}{\partial u_k}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial f_k}{\partial v_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial f_k}{\partial v_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial f_k}{\partial v_k}(\overline{W}) \\ \frac{\partial g_0}{\partial u_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial g_0}{\partial u_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial g_0}{\partial u_k}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial g_0}{\partial v_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial v_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial g_0}{\partial v_k}(\overline{W}) \\ \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial u_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial u_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial u_k}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial v_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial v_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial v_k}(\overline{W}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \frac{\partial g_k}{\partial u_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial g_k}{\partial u_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial g_k}{\partial u_k}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial g_k}{\partial v_0}(\overline{W}) & \frac{\partial g_k}{\partial v_1}(\overline{W}) & \dots & \frac{\partial g_k}{\partial v_k}(\overline{W}) \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$$

**Theorem 2.4.** (Linearized stability)

- 1. If all the eigenvalues of the Jacobian matrix A lie in the open unit disk  $|\lambda| < 1$ , then the equilibrium point  $\overline{W}$  of system (2.2) is asymptotically stable.
- 2. If at least one eigenvalue of the Jacobian matrix A have absolute value greater than one, then the equilibrium point  $\overline{W}$  of system (2.2) is unstable.

## 2.2. Lucas sequence

The integer sequence defined by the recurrence relation

$$L_{n+1} = L_n + L_{n-1}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

with the initial conditions  $L_0 = 2$  and  $L_1 = 1$ , is known as the Lucas numbers and was named after François Edouard Anatole Lucas (1842-91). This is the same recurrence relation as for the Fibonacci sequence, but with different initial conditions ( $F_0 = 0, F_1 = 1$ ). The first few terms of the recurrence sequence are 2, 1, 3, 4, 7, 11, 18, 29, 47, 76, .... The Binet's formula for this recurrence sequence can easily be obtained and is given by

$$L_n = \alpha^n + \beta^n$$
,

where

$$\alpha = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2} (the \ so-called \ golden \ number), \quad \beta = \frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2}$$

That is,

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{L_{n+1}}{L_n}=\alpha.$$

For more informations associated with Lucas sequence, see [15] and [29].

# **3.** Closed-Form solutions and stability of system (1.1)

For the rest of our discussion we assume  $L_n$ , the *n*-th Lucas number, to satisfy the recurrence equation

$$L_{n+1}=L_n+L_{n-1}, \quad n\in\mathbb{N}_0,$$

with initial conditions  $L_0 = 2$  and  $L_1 = 1$ .

### 3.1. Linear second order differences equations with constants coefficients.

As is well-known, the equation

$$z_{n+1} + 5z_n + 5z_{n-1} = 0, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \tag{3.1}$$

(the homogeneous linear second order difference equation with constant coefficients), where  $z_0$  and  $z_{-1} \in \mathbb{R}$ , is usually solved by using the characteristic roots  $\lambda_1$  and  $\lambda_2$  of the characteristic polynomial  $\lambda^2 + 5\lambda + 5 = 0$ , so

$$\lambda_1 = \sqrt{5}\beta, \qquad \lambda_2 = -\sqrt{5}\alpha,$$

and the formulas of general solution is

$$x_n = c_1 \lambda_1^n + c_2 \lambda_2^n$$

Using the initial conditions  $z_0$  and  $z_{-1}$  with some calculations we get

$$c_1 = -\sqrt{5} \left( z_{-1} - \frac{z_0}{5} \lambda_1 \right),$$
  
$$c_2 = -\sqrt{5} \left( \frac{z_0}{5} \lambda_2 - z_{-1} \right).$$

So,

$$z_{n} = \sqrt{5} \left( z_{-1} \left[ \lambda_{2}^{n} - \lambda_{1}^{n} \right] - \frac{z_{0}}{5} \left[ \lambda_{2}^{n+1} - \lambda_{1}^{n+1} \right] \right),$$
  
=  $\sqrt{5} \left( z_{-1} (\sqrt{5})^{n} \left[ (-1)^{n} \alpha^{n} - \beta^{n} \right] - \frac{z_{0} (\sqrt{5})^{n+1}}{(\sqrt{5})^{2}} \left[ (-1)^{n+1} \alpha^{n+1} - \beta^{n+1} \right] \right),$ 

by put

$$N_n = \left( (-1)^n \alpha^n - \beta^n \right),$$

is obtained that the general solution of equation (3.1) is

$$z_n = (\sqrt{5})^n \left[ z_{-1} \sqrt{5} N_n - z_0 N_{n+1} \right].$$
(3.2)

Similarly, let

$$z_{n+1} - 5z_n + 5z_{n-1} = 0, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \tag{3.3}$$

so, by put

$$M_n = \left(\alpha^n - (-1)^n \beta^n\right),$$

is obtained that the general solution of equation (3.3) is

$$z_n = -(\sqrt{5})^n \left| \sqrt{5} z_{-1} M_n - z_0 M_{n+1} \right|.$$
(3.4)

### 3.2. Linear system of second order difference equations with constant coefficients.

Let the linear system of second order difference equations

$$u_{n+1} = 5v_n - 5u_{n-1}, \quad v_{n+1} = 5u_n - 5v_{n-1}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
(3.5)

From (3.5) we get

$$v_n = \frac{1}{5} \left( u_{n+1} + 5u_{n-1} \right). \tag{3.6}$$

We replace (3.6) in the second equation of the system (3.5), we get

$$\frac{1}{5}u_{n+2} - 3u_n + 5u_{n-2} = 0,$$

which can be written both as

$$\underbrace{(u_{n+2}-5u_{n+1}+5u_n)}_{s_{n+1}}+5\underbrace{(u_{n+1}-5u_n+5u_{n-1})}_{s_n}+5\underbrace{(u_n-5u_{n-1}+5u_{n-2})}_{s_{n-1}}=0, \quad n\in\mathbb{N},$$

which is in the form of equation (3.1) and as

$$\underbrace{(u_{n+2}+5u_{n+1}+5u_n)}_{k_{n+1}} - 5\underbrace{(u_{n+1}+5u_n+5u_{n-1})}_{k_n} + 5\underbrace{(u_n+5u_{n-1}+5u_{n-2})}_{k_{n-1}} = 0, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(3.7)

which is in the form of equation (3.3). Form (3.4) and (3.2) we can write

$$\begin{cases} s_{2n} = (\sqrt{5})^{2n} [5s_{-1}F_{2n} + s_0L_{2n+1}], \\ s_{2n+1} = (\sqrt{5})^{2n+2} [s_{-1}L_{2n+1} + s_0F_{2n+2}]. \end{cases}$$

Hence

$$u_{2n+1} - 5u_{2n} + 5u_{2n-1} = (\sqrt{5})^{2n} [5(u_0 - 5u_{-1} + 5u_{-2})F_{2n} + (u_1 - 5u_0 + 5u_{-1})L_{2n+1}],$$
(3.8)

and

$$u_{2n+2} - 5u_{2n+1} + 5u_{2n} = (\sqrt{5})^{2n+2} [(u_0 - 5u_{-1} + 5u_{-2})L_{2n+1} + (u_1 - 5u_0 + 5u_{-1})F_{2n+2}].$$

Similarly, form (3.3) and (3.7) we can write

$$\begin{cases} k_{2n} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n} [5k_{-1}F_{2n} - k_0L_{2n+1}], \\ k_{2n+1} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n+2} [k_{-1}L_{2n+1} - k_0F_{2n+2}]. \end{cases}$$

Hence

$$u_{2n+1} + 5u_{2n} + 5u_{2n-1} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n} \left[ 5(u_0 + 5u_{-1} + 5u_{-2})F_{2n} - (u_1 + 5u_0 + 5u_{-1})L_{2n+1} \right], \tag{3.9}$$

and

$$u_{2n+2} - 5u_{2n+1} + 5u_{2n} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n+2} \left[ (u_0 + 5u_{-1} + 5u_{-2})L_{2n+1} - (u_1 + 5u_0 + 5u_{-1})F_{2n+2} \right].$$

Now, by subtracting equation (3.9) from equation (3.8), we obtain

$$u_{2n} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n} [5v_{-1}F_{2n} - u_0 L_{2n+1}].$$
(3.10)

Also, by equation (3.9) and equation (3.8), we obtain

$$v_{2n} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n} \left[ 5u_{-1}F_{2n} - v_0 L_{2n+1} \right]. \tag{3.11}$$

By a similar calculation, we obtain

$$u_{2n+1} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n+2} [u_{-1}L_{2n+1} - v_0 F_{2n+2}], \tag{3.12}$$

and

$$v_{2n+1} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n} [v_{-1}L_{2n+1} - u_0F_{2n+2}].$$
(3.13)

Now we consider the system of two first-order difference equations

$$z_{n+1} = \frac{5w_n - 5}{w_n}, \qquad w_{n+1} = \frac{5z_n - 5}{z_n}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
(3.14)

where the initial conditions  $z_0$  and  $w_0$  are non zero real numbers. Through an analytical approach. We put

$$z_n = \frac{u_n}{v_{n-1}}, \quad w_n = \frac{v_n}{u_{n-1}}.$$

Hence we have the system

$$u_{n+1} = 5v_n - 5u_{n-1}, \quad v_{n+1} = 5u_n - 5v_{n-1}. \tag{3.15}$$

by formulas, (3.5), (3.2), (3.4), (3.10), (3.11), (3.12) and (3.13) is obtained that the general solution of system (3.15) is

$$\begin{cases} u_{2n} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n} [5v_{-1}F_{2n} - u_0L_{2n+1}], \\ u_{2n+1} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n+2} [u_{-1}L_{2n+1} - v_0F_{2n+2}], \\ v_{2n} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n} [5u_{-1}F_{2n} - v_0L_{2n+1}], \\ v_{2n+1} = -(\sqrt{5})^{2n+2} [v_{-1}L_{2n+1} - u_0F_{2n+2}]. \end{cases}$$

From all above mentioned we see that the following theorem holds.

**Theorem 3.1.** Let  $\{z_n, w_n\}_{n \ge -1}$  be a solution of (3.14). Then, for n = 2, 3, ...,

$$\begin{array}{rcl} z_{2n} & = & \displaystyle \frac{5F_{2n} - z_0L_{2n+1}}{L_{2n-1} - z_0F_{2n}}, \\ z_{2n+1} & = & \displaystyle \frac{5L_{2n+1} - 5w_0F_{2n+2}}{5F_{2n} - w_0L_{2n+1}}, \\ w_{2n} & = & \displaystyle \frac{5F_{2n} - w_0L_{2n+1}}{L_{2n-1} - w_0F_{2n}}, \\ w_{2n+1} & = & \displaystyle \frac{5L_{2n+1} - 5z_0F_{2n+2}}{5F_{2n} - z_0L_{2n+1}}. \end{array}$$

where  $\{L_n\}_n$  is the Lucas sequence,  $\{F_n\}_n$  is the Fibonacci sequence and the initial conditions  $z_0$  and  $w_0 \in \mathbb{R} - G_1$ , with  $G_1$  is the Forbidden Set of system (3.14) given by

$$G_1 = \bigcup_{n=-1}^{\infty} \{ (z_0, w_0) : L_{2n-1} - z_0 F_{2n} = 0, \quad 5F_{2n} - w_0 L_{2n+1} = 0 \}$$

Let

$$\begin{aligned} x_n^{(j)} &= x_{(k+1)n-j}, \\ y_n^{(j)} &= y_{(k+1)n-j}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.16)

where  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots k\}$ . Using notation (3.16), we can write (1.1) as

$$\begin{cases} x_{n+1}^{(j)} = \frac{5y_n^{(j)} - 5}{y_n^{(j)}}, \\ y_{n+1}^{(j)} = \frac{5x_n^{(j)} - 5}{x_n^{(j)}}. \quad n \in \mathbb{N}, \end{cases}$$

for each  $j \in \{0, 1, \dots, k\}$ . So, from Theorem (3.1) we get for  $n = 2, 3, \dots$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} x_{2n}^{(j)} &= \frac{5F_{2n} - x_0^{(j)}L_{2n+1}}{L_{2n-1} - x_0^{(j)}F_{2n}}, \\ x_{2n+1}^{(j)} &= \frac{5L_{2n+1} - 5y_0^{(j)}F_{2n+2}}{5F_{2n} - y_0^{(j)}L_{2n+1}}, \\ y_{2n}^{(j)} &= \frac{5F_{2n} - y_0^{(j)}L_{2n+1}}{L_{2n-1} - y_0^{(j)}F_{2n}}, \\ y_{2n+1}^{(j)} &= \frac{5L_{2n+1} - 5x_0^{(j)}F_{2n+2}}{5F_{2n} - x_0^{(j)}L_{2n+1}}. \end{aligned}$$

From all above mentioned we see that the following theorem holds.

**Theorem 3.2.** Let  $\{x_n, y_n\}_{n \ge -1}$  be a solution of (1.1). Then, for n = 2, 3, ...,

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_{(k+1)2n-j} & = & \displaystyle \frac{5F_{2n} - x_{-j}L_{2n+1}}{L_{2n-1} - x_{-j}F_{2n}}, \\ x_{(k+1)(2n+1)-j} & = & \displaystyle \frac{5L_{2n+1} - 5y_{-j}F_{2n+2}}{5F_{2n} - y_{-j}L_{2n+1}}, \\ y_{(k+1)2n-j} & = & \displaystyle \frac{5F_{2n} - y_{-j}L_{2n+1}}{L_{2n-1} - y_{-j}F_{2n}}, \\ x_{(k+1)(2n+1)-j} & = & \displaystyle \frac{5L_{2n+1} - 5x_{-j}F_{2n+2}}{5F_{2n} - x_{-j}L_{2n+1}}. \end{array}$$

where  $j \in \{0, 1, ..., k\}$ ,  $\{L_n\}_n$  the Lucas sequence,  $\{F_n\}_n$  the Fibonacci sequence and the initial conditions  $x_{-k}$ ,  $x_{-k+1}$ ,... $x_0$ ,  $y_{-k}$ ,  $y_{-k+1}$ ,..., $y_1$  and  $y_0 \in \mathbb{R} - G_j$ , with  $G_j$  is the Forbidden Set of system (1.1) given by

$$G_{j} = \bigcup_{n=-1}^{\infty} \{ (x_{-k}, x_{-k+1}, \dots, x_{0}, y_{-k}, y_{-k+1}, \dots, y_{0}, ) : L_{2n-1} - x_{-j}F_{2n} = 0, \quad 5F_{2n} - y_{-j}L_{2n+1} = 0, \quad j = 0, 1, \dots, k \}.$$

### 3.3. Global stability of positive solutions

In this section we study the global stability character of the solutions of system (1.1). It is easy to show that (1.1) has a unique real positive equilibrium point given by

$$E = (\bar{x}, \bar{y}) = \left(\sqrt{5}\alpha, \sqrt{5}\alpha\right)$$

where  $\alpha$  is the golden number.

Let  $I = J = (0, +\infty)$  and consider the functions

$$f: I^{k+1} \times J^{k+1} \longrightarrow I, g: I^{k+1} \times J^{k+1} \longrightarrow J$$

defined by

$$f(u_0, u_1, \dots, u_k, v_0, v_1, \dots, v_k) = \frac{5v_k - 5}{v_k},$$
  
$$g(u_0, u_1, \dots, u_k, v_0, v_1, \dots, v_k) = \frac{5u_k - 5}{u_k}.$$

**Theorem 3.3.** The equilibrium point E is locally asymptotically stable.

Proof. The the linearized system about the equilibrium point

$$\overline{W} = \left(\sqrt{5}lpha, \dots, \sqrt{5}lpha, \sqrt{5}lpha, \dots, \sqrt{5}lpha
ight) \in I^{k+1} imes J^{k+1}$$

is given by

$$X_{n+1} = AX_n, \quad X_n = (x_n, x_{n-1}, \dots, x_{n-k}, y_n, y_{n-1}, \dots, y_{n-k})^T,$$

and

So, after some elementary calculations, we get

$$P(\lambda) = \det(A - \lambda I_{2k+2}) = \lambda^{2k+2} - \frac{1}{\alpha^4}.$$

Now, consider the two functions defined by

$$a(\lambda) = \lambda^{2k+2}, \quad b(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\alpha^4}.$$

We have

$$|b(\lambda)| < |a(\lambda)|, \forall \lambda : |\lambda| = 1.$$

Thus, by Rouche's Theorem, all zeros of  $P(\lambda) = a(\lambda) - b(\lambda) = 0$  lie in  $|\lambda| < 1$ . So, by Theorem (2.4), we get that *E* is locally asymptotically stable.

**Theorem 3.4.** *The equilibrium point E is globally asymptotically stable.* 

*Proof.* Let  $\{x_n, y_n\}_{n \ge -k}$  be a solution of (1.1). By Theorem (3.3) we need only to prove that *E* is global attractor, that is

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}(x_n,y_n)=E.$$

To do this, we prove that for j = 0, 1, ..., k we have

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} x_{(k+1)2n-j} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} x_{(k+1)(2n+1)-j} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} y_{(k+1)2n-j} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} y_{(k+1)(2n+1)-j} = \sqrt{5\alpha}$$

For j = 0, 1, ..., k, it follows from Theorem (3.2) that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} x_{(k+1)2n-j} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{5F_{2n} - x_{-j}L_{2n+1}}{L_{2n-1} - x_{-j}F_{2n}}$$
$$= \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{5 - x_{-j}\frac{L_{2n+1}}{F_{2n}}}{\frac{L_{2n-1}}{F_{2n}} - x_{-j}}.$$

Using

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{F_{n+1}}{L_n} = \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{5}}, \quad \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{L_{n+1}}{F_n} = \sqrt{5}\alpha$$

we get

$$\lim_{n\to+\infty}x_{(k+1)2n-j}=\alpha\sqrt{5}.$$

Similarly we get

п

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} x_{(k+1)(2n+1)-j} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} y_{(k+1)2n-j} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} y_{(k+1)(2n+1)-j} = \sqrt{5}\alpha$$

## 3.4. Numerical confirmation

This subsection is included to verify and confirm the results we obtained in this work. As an illustration of our results, we consider the following numerical examples.

**Example 3.5.** Let k = 0 in system (1.1), then we obtain the system

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{5y_n - 5}{y_n}, \qquad y_{n+1} = \frac{5x_n - 5}{x_n}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
 (3.17)

Assume  $x_0 = 0.7$  and  $y_0 = 1.5$ . (See Fig (3.1))



Figure 3.1: This figure shows that the solution of the system (3.17) is globally asymptotically stable

**Example 3.6.** Let k = 2 in system (1.1), then we obtain the system

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{5y_{n-2} - 5}{y_{n-2}}, \qquad y_{n+1} = \frac{5x_{n-2} - 5}{x_{n-2}}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
 (3.18)

Assume  $x_{-2} = 0.5$ ,  $x_{-1} = 0.7$ ,  $x_0 = 1.6$ ,  $y_{-2} = 0.6$ ,  $y_{-1} = -50$  and  $y_0 = 1.7$ . (See Fig(3.2))

**Example 3.7.** Let k = 3 in system (1.1), then we obtain the system

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{5y_{n-3}-5}{y_{n-3}}, \qquad y_{n+1} = \frac{5x_{n-3}-5}{x_{n-3}}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
 (3.19)

Assume  $x_{-3} = 0.8$ ,  $x_{-2} = 0.7$ ,  $x_{-1} = 0.6$ ,  $x_0 = 0.9$ ,  $y_{-3} = 1.1$ ,  $y_{-2} = 1.8$ ,  $y_{-1} = 1.3$  and  $y_0 = 1.6$ . (See Fig(3.3))



Figure 3.2: This figure shows that the solution of the system (3.18) is globally asymptotically stable



Figure 3.3: This figure shows that the solution of the system (3.19) is globally asymptotically stable

## 4. Conclusion

In this work, we have successfully established a theoretical explanation related to the closed-form solution of the system of two higher-order difference equations

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{5y_{n-k} - 5}{y_{n-k}}, \qquad y_{n+1} = \frac{5x_{n-k} - 5}{x_{n-k}}, \qquad n, k \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

Also, we obtained stability results for the positive solutions of this system. Particularly, we have shown that the positive solutions of this system tends to a computable finite number, and is in fact expressible in terms of the well-known golden number. This work we leave to the interested readers.

## Acknowledgement

Authors are grateful to the Editor-In-Chief of the Journal and the anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments which improved the quality and the presentation of the paper.

## References

- [1] E. M. Elsayed, On a system of two nonlinear difference equations of order two, Proc. Jangcon Math. Soc., 18(1)(2015), 353-368.
- [2] E. M. Elsayed and T. F. Ibrahim, Periodicity and solutions for some systems of nonlinear rational difference equations, Hacet. J. Math. Stat., 44(1)(2015), 1361-1390.
  E. M. Elsayed, Solution for systems of difference equations of rational form of order two, Comp. Appl. Math., 33(1)(2014), 751-765.
  E. Camouzis and G. Ladas, Dynamics of third-order rational difference equations with open problems and conjectures, Vol5, CRC Press, (2007). [3]
- [4] [5] M. Gumus, The global asymptotic stability of a system of difference equations, J. Difference Equ. Appl., 24(6)(2018), 976-991.
- [6] M. Gumus and R. Abo-Zeid, On the solutions of a (2k+2)th order difference equation, Dyn. Contin. Discrete Impuls. Syst., Ser. B, Appl. Algorithms, 25(2)(2018), 129-143
- [7] Y. Halim and J. F. T. Rabago, On the solutions of a second-order difference equation in terms of generalized Padovan sequences, Math. Slovaca, 68(3)(2018), 625-638.
- Y. Halim and J. F. T. Rabago, On some solvable systems of difference equations with solutions associated to Fibonacci numbers, Electron J. Math. [8] Analysis Appl, 5(1)(2017), 166-178.
- [9] Y. Halim, A system of difference equations with solutions associated to Fibonacci numbers, Int. J. Difference Equ., 11(1)(2016), 65-77.

- [10] Y. Halim and M. Bayram, On the solutions of a higher-order difference equation in terms of generalized Fibonacci sequences, Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 39(1)(2016), 2974-2982.
- Y. Halim, N. Touafek and E. M. Elsayed, Closed form solution of some systems of rational difference equations in terms of Fibonacci numbers, Dyn. [11] Contin. Discrete Impuls. Syst., Ser. A, Math. Anal., 21(6)(2014), 473-486.
- Y. Halim, Global character of systems of rational difference equations, Electron. J. Math. Analysis Appl., 3(1)(2015), 204-214 [12]
- [13] Y. Halim, A system of difference equations with solutions associated to Fibonacci numbers, Int. J Difference Equ., 11(2016), 65–77 [14] V. L. Kocic and G. Ladas, Global behavior of nonlinear difference equations of higher order with applications, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht,
- (1993). [15] T. Koshy, Fibonacci and Lucas numbers with applcations, Departement of mathematics, Framingham State University, (2017).
- [16] M. R. S. Kulenovic and G. Ladas, Dynamics of second order rational difference equations: With open problems and conjectures, Chapman and
- Hall/CRC, (2001).
- [17] H. Matsunaga and R. Suzuki, Classification of global behavior of a system of rational difference equations, Appl. Math. Lett., 85(1)(2018), 57–63.
- [18] O. Ocalan and O. Duman, on solutions of the recursive equations  $x_{n+1} = x_{n-1}^p / x_n^p (p > 0)$  via Fibonacci-type sequences, Electron. J. Math. Analysis Appl., 7(1)(2019), 102-115.
- [19] S. Stevic, Representation of solutions of bilinear difference equations in terms of generalized Fibonacci sequences, Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ., 67(1)(2014), 15 pages.
- S. Stevic, More on a rational recurrence relation, Appl. Math. E-Notes, 4(1)(2004), 80-85.
- [21] S. Stevic, Representation of solutions of a solvable nonlinear difference equation of second order, Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ., 95(1)(2018), 18 pages
- [22] D. T. Tollu, Y. Yazlik and N. Taskara, On the solutions of two special types of Riccati difference equation via Fibonacci umbers, 174(1)(2013), 7 pages.
- [23] D. T. Tollu, Y. Yazlik and N. Taskara, The solutions of four Riccati difference equations associated with Fibonacci numbers, Balkan J. Math., 2(1)(2014), 163-172.
  [24] D. T. Tollu, Y. Yazlik and N. Taskara, On fourteen solvable systems of difference equations, Appl. Math. & Comp., 233(1)(2014), 310-319.
- [25] N. Touafek, On some fractional systems of difference equations, Iran. J. Math. Sci. Inform., 9(2)(2014), 303-305.
- [26] N. Touafek and Y. Halim, On max type difference equations: expressions of solutions, Int. J. Appl. Nonlinear Sci., 11(4)(2011), 396-402. [27] N. Touafek and E. M. Elsayed, On the periodicity of some systems of nonlinear difference equations, Bull. Math. Soc. Sci. Math. Roum., Nouv. Ser., 55(1)(2012), 217-224.
- [28] N. Touafek and E. M. Elsayed, On the solutions of systems of rational difference equations, Math. Comput. Modelling, 55(1)(2012), 1987-1997.
   [29] S. Vajda, Fibonacci and Lucas numbers and the golden section : Theory and applications, Department of Mathematics, University of Sussex, Ellis
- Horwood Limited (1989)
- Y. Yazlik, D. T. Tollu and N. Taskara, On the solutions of difference equation systems with Padovan numbers, Appl Math., 12(1)(2013), 15-20. [30]
- [31] Y. Yazlik, D. T. Tollu and N. Taskara, behaviour of solutions for a system of two higher-order difference equations, J. Sci. Arts, 45(4)(2018), 813-826.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: https://doi.org/10.32323/ujma.626465



# **Global Behavior of Two Rational Third Order Difference Equations**

**R.** Abo-Zeid<sup>1\*</sup> and H. Kamal<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Basic Science, The Higher Institute for Engineering & Technology, Al-Obour, Cairo, Egypt <sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author

Article Info	Abstract
<b>Keywords:</b> Difference equation, Forbid- den set, Periodic solution. <b>2010 AMS:</b> 39A20 <b>Received:</b> 29 September 2019 <b>Accepted:</b> 5 November 2019 <b>Available online:</b> 26 December 2019	In this paper, we solve and study the global behavior of all admissible solutions of the two difference equations $x_{n+1} = \frac{x_n x_{n-2}}{x_{n-1} - x_{n-2}},  n = 0, 1,,$ and $x_{n+1} = \frac{x_n x_{n-2}}{-x_{n-1} + x_{n-2}},  n = 0, 1,,$
	<ul> <li>where the initial values x<sub>-2</sub>, x<sub>-1</sub>, x<sub>0</sub> are real numbers.</li> <li>We show that every admissible solution for the first equation converges to zero. For the other equation, we show that every admissible solution is periodic with prime period six.</li> </ul>

# 1. Introduction

In [11], the author determined the forbidden sets and discussed the global behaviors of solutions of the two difference equations

Finally we give some illustrative examples.

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{x_n x_{n-1}}{x_n - x_{n-2}}, \quad n = 0, 1, ...,$$

and

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{x_n x_{n-1}}{-x_n + x_{n-2}}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots,$$

where the initial values  $x_{-2}$ ,  $x_{-1}$ ,  $x_0$  are real numbers. In [2], the author determined the forbidden sets and discussed the global behaviors of solutions of the two difference equations

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{ax_n x_{n-1}}{\pm bx_{n-1} + cx_{n-2}}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots,$$

where a, b, c are positive real numbers and the initial conditions  $x_{-2}, x_{-1}, x_0$  are real numbers. Elsayed in [19] studied the behavior of solutions of the nonlinear difference equation

$$x_{n+1} = ax_{n-1} + \frac{bx_n x_{n-1}}{cx_n + dx_{n-2}}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots,$$

where a, b, c, d are positive real constants and the initial conditions  $x_{-2}, x_{-1}, x_0$  are arbitrary positive real numbers. For more on difference equations (See [1, 3–10, 12–18, 20–28]) and the references therein. In this paper, we study the two difference equations

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{x_n x_{n-2}}{x_{n-1} - x_{n-2}}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots,$$
(1.1)

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: abuzead73@yahoo.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1858-5583 (R. Abo-Zeid), hossamkamal@gmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6540-6664 (H. Kamal)

and

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{x_n x_{n-2}}{-x_{n-1} + x_{n-2}}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots,$$
(1.2)

where the initial values  $x_{-2}$ ,  $x_{-1}$ ,  $x_0$  are real numbers.

# **2.** The difference equation $x_{n+1} = \frac{x_n x_{n-2}}{x_{n-1} - x_{n-2}}$

During this section, we suppose that

$$\lambda_{-} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\sqrt{5}}{2}$$
 and  $\lambda_{+} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{5}}{2}$ .

## **2.1. Solution of Equation** (1.1)

The transformation

$$y_n = \frac{x_{n-1}}{x_n}$$
, with  $y_{-1} = \frac{x_{-2}}{x_{-1}}$ ,  $y_0 = \frac{x_{-1}}{x_0}$  (2.1)

reduces Equation (1.1) into the difference equation

$$y_{n+1} = \frac{1}{y_{n-1}} - 1, \ n = 0, 1, \dots$$
(2.2)

By solving Equation (2.2) and after some calculations, the solution of Equation (1.1) can be obtained.

**Theorem 2.1.** Let  $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  be an admissible solution of Equation (1.1). Then

$$x_{n} = \begin{cases} -\frac{v}{(x_{0}f_{\frac{n-1}{2}} - x_{-1}f_{\frac{n+1}{2}})(x_{-1}f_{\frac{n+1}{2}} - x_{-2}f_{\frac{n+3}{2}})}, & n = 1, 3, ..., \\ \frac{v}{(x_{0}f_{\frac{n}{2}} - x_{-1}f_{\frac{n}{2}+1})(x_{-1}f_{\frac{n}{2}} - x_{-2}f_{\frac{n}{2}+1})}, & n = 2, 4, ..., \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

where  $v = x_0 x_{-1} x_{-2}$  and  $f_n$  is the solution of the difference equation

11

$$f_{n+2} = f_n + f_{n+1}, f_0 = 0, f_1 = 1, n = 0, 1, \dots$$

*Proof.* We can write the solution formula (2.3) as

$$x_{2m+1} = -\frac{\sqrt{x_{2m+1}}}{(x_0 f_m - x_{-1} f_{m+1})(x_{-1} f_{m+1} - x_{-2} f_{m+2})}$$
  
and  
$$(2.4)$$

$$x_{2m+2} = \frac{1}{(x_0 f_{m+1} - x_{-1} f_{m+2})(x_{-1} f_{m+1} - x_{-2} f_{m+2})}.$$

When m = 0,

$$x_{1} = -\frac{v}{(x_{0}f_{0} - x_{-1}f_{1})(x_{-1}f_{1} - x_{-2}f_{2})}$$
$$= \frac{v}{x_{-1}(x_{-1} - x_{-2})} = \frac{x_{0}x_{-2}}{x_{-1} - x_{-2}}.$$

Similarly

$$x_{2} = \frac{v}{(x_{0}f_{1} - x_{-1}f_{2})(x_{-1}f_{1} - x_{-2}f_{2})}$$
$$= \frac{v}{(x_{0} - x_{-1})(x_{-1} - x_{-2})} = \frac{x_{1}x_{-1}}{x_{0} - x_{-1}}.$$

Suppose that the solution formula (2.4) is true for m > 0. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{x_{2m+1}x_{2m-1}}{x_{2m}-x_{2m-1}} &= \frac{\left(\frac{v}{(x_0f_m - x_{-1}f_{m+1})(x_{-1}f_{m+1} - x_{-2}f_{m+2})}\right)\left(\frac{v}{(x_0f_{m-1} - x_{-1}f_m)(x_{-1}f_m - x_{-2}f_{m+1})}\right)}{\frac{v}{(x_0f_m - x_{-1}f_{m+1})(x_{-1}f_m - x_{-2}f_{m+1})} + \frac{v}{(x_0f_{m-1} - x_{-1}f_m)(x_{-1}f_m - x_{-2}f_{m+1})}} \\ &= \frac{v}{(x_0f_{m-1} - x_{-1}f_m)(x_{-1}f_{m+1} - x_{-2}f_{m+2}) + (x_0f_m - x_{-1}f_{m+1})(x_{-1}f_{m+1} - x_{-2}f_{m+2})}}{\frac{v}{(x_{-1}f_{m+1} - x_{-2}f_{m+2})(x_0(f_{m-1} + f_m) - x_{-1}(f_m + f_{m+1}))}} \\ &= \frac{v}{(x_{-1}f_{m+1} - x_{-2}f_{m+2})(x_0(f_{m-1} - x_{-1}f_{m+2})}} \\ &= x_{2m+2}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly we can show that

$$\frac{x_{2m+2}x_{2m}}{ax_{2m+1}+bx_{2m}} = x_{2m+3}.$$

This completes the proof.

It is clear for Equation (1.1) that if we start with the point  $(x_0, x_{-1}, x_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , we have the following: If  $x_0 = 0$  and  $x_{-1}x_{-2} \neq 0$ , then  $x_3$  is undefined. If  $x_{-1} = 0$  and  $x_0x_{-2} \neq 0$ , then  $x_5$  is undefined.

If  $x_{-2} = 0$  and  $x_0 x_{-2} \neq 0$ , then  $x_3$  is undefined. If  $x_{-2} = 0$  and  $x_0 x_{-1} \neq 0$ , then  $x_4$  is undefined.

Therefore, any point  $(x_0, x_{-1}, x_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3$  with  $x_0 x_{-1} x_{-2} = 0$  belongs to the forbidden set of Equation (1.1). The following result provides the forbidden set of Equation (1.1).

**Theorem 2.2.** The forbidden set of equation (1.1) is

$$F = \bigcup_{i=0}^{2} \{ (u_0, u_{-1}, u_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : u_{-i} = 0 \} \cup \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} \{ (u_0, u_{-1}, u_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : u_0 = u_{-1} \frac{f_{m+1}}{f_m} \} \cup \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} \{ (u_0, u_{-1}, u_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : u_{-1} = u_{-2} \frac{f_{m+1}}{f_m} \}.$$

*Proof.* The proof is clear using the arguments after Theorem (2.1) and formula (2.3).

#### **2.2.** Global behavior of equation (1.1)

In this section, we shall give two invariant sets for Equation (1.1) and a result concerns the global behavior of the solutions of Equation (1.1). Consider the set

$$D_1 = \{(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \frac{x}{1/\lambda_-^2} = -\frac{y}{1/\lambda_-} = z\}$$

and

$$D_2 = \{(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \frac{x}{1/\lambda_+^2} = -\frac{y}{1/\lambda_+} = z\}$$

**Theorem 2.3.** The two sets  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  are invariant sets for Equation (1.1).

*Proof.* Let  $(x_0, x_{-1}, x_{-2}) \in D_1$ . We show that  $(x_n, x_{n-1}, x_{n-2}) \in D_1$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . The proof is by induction on n. The point  $(x_0, x_{-1}, x_{-2}) \in D_1$  implies

$$\frac{x_0}{1/\lambda_-^2} = -\frac{x_{-1}}{1/\lambda_-} = x_{-2}.$$

Now for n = 1, we have

$$x_1 = \frac{x_0 x_{-2}}{x_{-1} - x_{-2}} = \frac{(1/\lambda_-) x_{-1} \lambda_- x_{-1}}{x_{-1} + \lambda_- x_{-1}} = \frac{x_{-1}}{\lambda_-^2}$$

Then we have

$$\frac{x_1}{1/\lambda^2} = -\frac{x_0}{1/\lambda_-} = x_{-1}.$$

This implies that  $(x_1, x_0, x_{-1}) \in D_1$ . Suppose now that  $(x_n, x_{n-1}, x_{n-2}) \in D_1$ . This means that

$$\frac{x_n}{1/\lambda_-^2} = -\frac{x_{n-1}}{1/\lambda_-} = x_{n-2}.$$

Then

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{x_n x_{n-2}}{x_{n-1} - x_{n-2}} = \frac{(1/\lambda_-) x_{n-1} \lambda_- x_{n-1}}{x_{n-1} + \lambda_- x_{n-1}} = \frac{x_{n-1}}{\lambda_-^2}.$$

This implies that  $(x_{n+1}, x_n, x_{n-1}) \in D_1$ . Therefore,  $D_1$  is an invariant set for Equation (1.1). By similar way, we can show that  $D_2$  is an invariant set for Equation (1.1). This completes the proof.

**Theorem 2.4.** Every admissible solution of Equation (1.1) converges to zero.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  is an admissible solution of Equation (1.1). Using Formula (2.4), we can write

$$x_{2m+1} = -\frac{v}{(x_0 f_m - x_{-1} f_{m+1})(x_{-1} f_{m+1} - x_{-2} f_{m+2})}$$

$$= -\frac{v}{f_m f_{m+1}(x_0 - x_{-1} \frac{f_{m+1}}{f_m})(x_{-1} - x_{-2} \frac{f_{m+2}}{f_{m+1}})}.$$
(2.5)

But

$$\frac{f_{m+1}}{f_m} \to \lambda_+ \text{ and } f_m \to \infty \text{ as } m \to \infty$$

This implies that

 $x_{2m+1} \to 0$  as  $m \to \infty$ .

Similarly, we can show that  $x_{2m+2} \rightarrow 0$ , as  $m \rightarrow \infty$ . Therefore,  $x_n \rightarrow 0$  as  $n \rightarrow \infty$ . This completes the proof.

#### Example (1)

Figure (2.1) shows that a solution  $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  of equation (1.1) with  $x_{-2} = 2$ ,  $x_{-1} = -0.2$  and  $x_0 = 1$  converges to zero.

#### Example (2)

Figure (2.2) shows that a solution  $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  of equation (1.1) with  $x_{-2} = -1$ ,  $x_{-1} = -0.2$  and  $x_0 = -1.8$  converges to zero.



# **3. The difference equation** $x_{n+1} = \frac{x_n x_{n-2}}{-x_{n-1} + x_{n-2}}$

In this section, we study the difference equation (1.2).

### **3.1. Solution of Equation** (1.2)

The transformation (2.1) reduces Equation (1.2) into the difference equation

$$y_{n+1} = -\frac{1}{y_{n-1}} + 1, \ n = 0, 1, \dots$$
 (3.1)

By solving Equation (3.1) and after some calculations, the solution of Equation (1.2) can be obtained.

**Theorem 3.1.** Let  $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  be an admissible solution of Equation (1.2). Then

$$x_{n} = \begin{cases} \frac{\mu}{(\alpha_{0}\cos\frac{(n-3)\pi}{6} - \beta_{0}\sin\frac{(n-3)\pi}{6})(\alpha_{-1}\cos\frac{(n-1)\pi}{6} - \beta_{-1}\sin\frac{(n-1)\pi}{6})}, & n = 1, 3, ..., \\ \frac{\mu}{(\alpha_{0}\cos\frac{(n-2)\pi}{6} - \beta_{0}\sin\frac{(n-2)\pi}{6})(\alpha_{-1}\cos\frac{(n-2)\pi}{6} - \beta_{-1}\sin\frac{(n-2)\pi}{6})}, & n = 2, 4, ..., \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

where  $\mu = x_0 x_{-1} x_{-2}$ ,  $\alpha_0 = -x_0 + x_{-1}$ ,  $\beta_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (x_0 + x_{-1})$ ,  $\alpha_{-1} = -x_{-1} + x_{-2}$  and  $\beta_{-1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (x_{-1} + x_{-2})$ .

*Proof.* We can write the given solution (3.2) as

$$x_{2m+1} = \frac{\mu}{\gamma_0(m-1)\gamma_{-1}(m)}$$
(3.3)

and

$$x_{2m+2}=\frac{\mu}{\gamma_0(m)\gamma_{-1}(m)},$$

where

 $\gamma_0(m) = \alpha_0 \cos \frac{m\pi}{3} - \beta_0 \sin \frac{m\pi}{3}$ 

and

$$\gamma_{-1}(m) = \alpha_{-1} \cos \frac{m\pi}{3} - \beta_{-1} \sin \frac{m\pi}{3}.$$

When m = 0,

$$\begin{aligned} x_1 &= \frac{\mu}{\gamma_0(-1)\gamma_{-1}(0)} = \frac{\mu}{(\alpha_0 \cos\frac{-\pi}{3} - \beta_0 \sin\frac{-\pi}{3})(\alpha_{-1})} \\ &= \frac{\mu}{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha_0 + \sqrt{3}\beta_0)(\alpha_{-1})} = \frac{\mu}{x_{-1}(-x_{-1} + x_{-2})} \\ &= \frac{x_0 x_{-2}}{-x_{-1} + x_{-2}}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly

$$x_{2} = \frac{\mu}{\gamma_{0}(0)\gamma_{-1}(0)} = \frac{\mu}{\alpha_{0}\alpha_{-1}}$$
$$= \frac{x_{0}x_{-1}x_{-2}}{(-x_{0}+x_{-1})(-x_{-1}+x_{-2})}$$
$$= \frac{x_{1}x_{-1}}{-x_{0}+x_{-1}}.$$

Suppose that the solution (3.3) is true for m > 0. Then

$$\frac{x_{2m+1}x_{2m-1}}{-x_{2m}+x_{2m-1}} = \frac{\left(\frac{\mu}{\gamma_{0}(m-1)\gamma_{-1}(m)}\right)\left(\frac{\mu}{\gamma_{0}(m-2)\gamma_{-1}(m-1)}\right)}{-\frac{\mu}{\gamma_{0}(m-1)\gamma_{-1}(m-1)} + \frac{\mu}{\gamma_{0}(m-2)\gamma_{-1}(m-1)}}$$
$$= \frac{\mu}{\gamma_{-1}(m)(-\gamma_{0}(m-2) + \gamma_{0}(m-1))}.$$

But we can show that

$$\gamma_0(m-1) - \gamma_0(m-2) = \gamma_0(m), m = 0, 1, \dots$$

This implies that

$$\frac{x_{2m+1}x_{2m-1}}{-x_{2m}+x_{2m-1}} = \frac{\mu}{\gamma_0(m)\gamma_{-1}(m)}$$
$$= x_{2m+2}.$$

Similarly we can show that

$$\frac{x_{2m+2}x_{2m}}{ax_{2m+1}+bx_{2m}} = x_{2m+3}$$

This completes the proof.

It is clear for Equation (1.2) that if we start with the point  $(x_0, x_{-1}, x_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , we have the following: If  $x_0 = 0$  and  $x_{-1}x_{-2} \neq 0$ , then  $x_3$  is undefined.

If  $x_{-1} = 0$  and  $x_0 x_{-2} \neq 0$ , then  $x_5$  is undefined.

If  $x_{-2} = 0$  and  $x_0 x_{-1} \neq 0$ , then  $x_4$  is undefined.

Therefore, any point  $(x_0, x_{-1}, x_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3$  with  $x_0 x_{-1} x_{-2} = 0$  belongs to the forbidden set of Equation (1.2). The following result provides the forbidden set of Equation (1.2).

**Theorem 3.2.** The forbidden set of equation (1.2) is

$$F = \bigcup_{i=0}^{2} \{ (u_0, u_{-1}, u_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : u_{-i} = 0 \} \cup \{ (u_0, u_{-1}, u_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : u_0 = u_{-1} \} \cup \{ (u_0, u_{-1}, u_{-2}) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : u_{-1} = u_{-2} \}.$$

## **3.2.** Global Behavior of Equation (1.2)

**Theorem 3.3.** Every admissible solution for Equation (1.2) is periodic with prime period six.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  is an admissible solution for Equation (1.2). It is clear that both the functions  $\gamma_{-1}(m)$  and  $\gamma_0(m)$  satisfy

$$\gamma_{-1}(m+3) = -\gamma_{-1}(m)$$
 and  $\gamma_{0}(m+3) = -\gamma_{0}(m)$ .

Then

$$\begin{aligned} x_{2(m+3)+1} &= \frac{\mu}{\gamma_0(m+2)\gamma_{-1}(m+3)} \\ &= \frac{\mu}{\gamma_0(m-1)\gamma_{-1}(m)} \\ &= x_{2m+1}, \ m = -1, 0, \dots. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly

$$x_{2(m+3)+2} = \frac{\mu}{\gamma_0(m+3)\gamma_{-1}(m+3)}$$
$$= \frac{\mu}{\gamma_0(m)\gamma_{-1}(m)}$$
$$= x_{2m+2}, \ m = -2, -1, .$$

Therefore, the solution  $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  is periodic with prime period six. This completes the proof.

#### Example (3)

Figure (3.1) shows that a solution  $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  of equation (1.2) with  $x_{-2} = -3.2$ ,  $x_{-1} = 2.8$  and  $x_0 = 0.9$  is periodic with prime period six.

#### Example (4)

Figure (3.2) shows that a solution  $\{x_n\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  of equation (1.2) with  $x_{-2} = 1.2$ ,  $x_{-1} = 1.7$  and  $x_0 = -0.2$  is periodic with prime period six.



## References

- [1] R. Abo-Zeid, Behavior of solutions of a second order rational difference equation, Math. Morav., 23 (1) (2019), 11-25.
- [1] R. Abo-Zeid, Global behavior of two third order rational difference equations with quadratic terms, Math. Slovaca, 69 (1) (2019), 147-158.
   [3] R. Abo-Zeid, Global Behavior of a fourth order difference equation with quadratic terms, Bol. Soc. Mat. Mexicana, 25 (1) (2019), 187-194.
   [4] R. Abo-Zeid, Behavior of solutions of a higher order difference equation, Alabama J. Math., 42 (2018), 1-10. [2] [3]

- [5] R. Abo-Zeid, On the solutions of a higher order difference equation, Georgian Math. J., doi:10.1515/gmj-2018-0008.
   [6] R. Abo-Zeid, On a third order difference equation, Acta Univ. Apulensis, 55 (2018), 89-103.
- R. Abo-Zeid Forbidden sets and stability in some rational difference equations, J. Difference Equ. Appl., 24 (2) (2018), 220-239.
- [8] R. Abo-Zeid, On the solutions of a second order difference equation, Math. Morav., 21 (2) (2017), 61-75

- [8] R. Abo-Zeid, On the solutions of a second order aliference equation, Math. Morav, 21 (2) (2017), 61-75.
  [9] R. Abo-Zeid, Global behavior of a higher order rational difference equation, Filomat 30 (12) (2016), 3265-3276.
  [10] R. Abo-Zeid, Global behavior of a third order rational difference equation, Math. Bohem., 139 (1) (2014), 25-37.
  [11] R. Abo-Zeid, On the solutions of two third order recursive sequences, Armenian J. Math., 6 (2) (2014), 64-66.
  [12] R. Abo-Zeid, Global behavior of a fourth order difference equation, Acta Commentaiones Univ. Tartuensis Math., 18 (2) (2014), 211-220.
  [13] A.M. Amleh, E. Camouzis and G. Ladas, On the dynamics of a rational difference equation, Part 2, Int. J. Difference Equ., 3 (2) (2008), 195-225.
  [14] A.M. Amleh, E. Camouzis and G. Ladas, On the dynamics of a rational difference equation, Part 1, Int. J. Difference Equ., 3 (1) (2008), 1-55.
  [15] L. Beio Econdidate explanation and the dynamics of a continuous difference equation, Part 1, Int. J. Difference Equ., 3 (2) (2008), 1-56.
- [15] I. Bajo, Forbidden sets of planar rational systems of difference equations with common denominator, Appl. Anal. Discrete Math., 8 (2014), 16-32.
- [16] F. Balibrea and A. Cascales, On forbidden sets, J. Difference Equ. Appl. 21 (10) (2015), 974-996
- [17] E. Camouzis and G. Ladas, Dynamics of Third Order Rational Difference Equations: With Open Problems and Conjectures, Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, 2008
- [18] H. El-Metwally and E. M. Elsayed, Qualitative study of solutions of some difference equations, Abstr. Appl. Anal., 2012 (2012), Article ID 248291, 16 [19] E.M. Elsayed, Solution and attractivity for a rational recursive sequence, Discrete Dyn. Nat. Soc., 2011 (2011), Article ID 982309, 18 pages, doi:
- [17] Land Jakyes, 2011 (2017), Intel in 2017 (2017),
- [21] M. Gümüş and Ö. Öcalan, The qualitative analysis of a rational system of diffrence equations, J. Fract. Calc. Appl., 9 (2) (2018), 113-126.
- [22] Inci Okumus and Yüksel Soykan, A review on dynamical nature of systems of nonlinear difference equations, J. Inform. Math. Sci., 11 (2) (2019),
- [23]
- V. L. Kocic, G. Ladas, *Global Behavior of Nonlinear Difference Equations of Higher Order with Applications*, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, 1993 [24]
- [25] M. R. S. Kulenović, and M. Mehuljić, Global behavior of some rational second order difference equations, Int. J. Difference Equ., 7 (2) (2012), 153–162. M.R.S. Kulenović and G. Ladas, Dynamics of Second Order Rational Difference Equations: With Open Problems and Conjectures, Chapman and
- [26] Hall/HRC, Boca Raton, 2002 .
- H. Sedaghat, On third order rational equations with quadratic terms, J. Difference Equ. Appl., 14 (8) (2008), 889-897
- [28] I. Szalkai, Avoiding forbidden Sequences by finding suitable initial values, Int. J. Difference Equ., 3 (2) (2008), 305-315.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: https://doi.org/10.32323/ujma.625939



# Some Results on Nearly Cosymplectic Manifolds

Adile Dündar<sup>1</sup> and Nesip Aktan<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Konya Necmettin Erbakan University, Faculty of Scinence, Department of Mathematics and Computer Sciences, Konya/Turkey. \*Corresponding author

## **Article Info**

Abstract

Keywords: Nearly cosymplectic mani-<br/>fold, Ricci solitons recurrent, Shrinking,<br/>Expanding, Steady.The object of this paper is to study Ricci solitons under some curvature conditions in nearly<br/>cosymplectic manifolds.2010 AMS: 05C38, 15A15, 05A15,<br/>15A18The object of this paper is to study Ricci solitons under some curvature conditions in nearly<br/>cosymplectic manifolds.Received: 27 September 2019Received: 20 December 2019Available online: 26 December 2019Available online: 26 December 2019

# 1. Introduction

Cosympletic manifold is an odd dimensional counterpart of a Kähler manifold which is defined by Lipperman and Blair 1967 [9]. In parallel with Olzak's work [1], [2], Endo investigated the geometry of nearly cosymplectic manifolds [3].

Ricci soliton is a special solution to the Ricci flow introduced by Hamilton [10] in the year 1982. In [12], Sharma initiated the study of Ricci solitons in contact Riemannian geometry. Later, Tripathi [13], Nagaraja et al. [11] and others extensively studied Ricci solitons in contact metric manifolds. Ricci soliton in Riemanian manifold (M,g) is a natural generalization of an Einstein metric and is defined as a triple  $(g,V,\lambda)$  with g a Riemannian metric, V a vector field and  $\lambda$  a real scalar such that

$$(\mathfrak{L}_{Vg})(X,Y) + 2S(X,Y) + 2\lambda_g(X,Y) = 0 \tag{1.1}$$

where S is the Ricci tensor of M and  $\mathcal{L}_V$  denoted the Lie derivative operator along the vector field V. The Ricci soliton is said to be shrinking, steady and expanding accordingly as  $\lambda$  is negative, zero and positive respectively.

In [16], [19], authors studied the properties of generalized recurrent manifolds where as the properties of generalized  $\varphi$ -recurrent manifolds have studied in [8], [16], [17] and [18].

In this paper we study some curvature conditions such that  $\varphi$ -recurrent, pseudo-projective  $\varphi$ -recurrent, concircular  $\varphi$ -recurrent and Ricci recurrent which characterize Ricci solitons in nearly cosymplectic manifolds.

# 2. Preliminaries

## 2.1. Nearly Cosymplectic Manifolds

Let  $(M, \varphi, \xi, \eta, g)$  be an (2n+1)-dimensional almost contact Riemannian manifold, where  $\varphi$  is a type of (1, 1)-tensor field,  $\xi$  is the structure vector field,  $\eta$  is a 1-form and g is the Riemannian metric. It is well known that the  $(\varphi, \xi, \eta, g)$ -structure satisfies the conditions [7] for any vector fields X and Y on M,

$$\eta(\varphi X) = 0, \quad \varphi \xi = 0, \tag{2.1}$$

Email addresses: adile.akyol@windowslive.com, (A. Dündar), nesipaktan@gmail.com (N. Aktan)

 $\varphi^2 X = -X + \eta(X)\xi, \quad \eta(\xi) = 1, \quad g(X,\xi) = \eta(X)$ 

$$g(\varphi X, \varphi Y) = g(X, Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y). \tag{2.2}$$

A nearly cosymplectic manifold is an almost contact metric manifold  $(M, \varphi, \xi, \eta, g)$  such that

$$(\nabla_X \boldsymbol{\varphi})Y + (\nabla_Y \boldsymbol{\varphi})X = 0, \tag{2.3}$$

for all vector fields *X*, *Y*. Clearly, this condition is equivalent to  $(\nabla_X \varphi)X = 0$ . It is known that in a nearly cosymplectic manifold the Reeb vector field  $\xi$  is Killing and satisfies  $\nabla_{\xi} \xi = 0$  and  $\eta$  is a contact form  $\nabla_{\xi} \eta = 0$ . The tensor field *h* of type (1,1) defined by

$$\nabla_X \xi = hX, \tag{2.4}$$

is skew symmetric and anticommutes with  $\varphi$ . It satisfies

 $h\xi = 0, \quad \eta \circ \varphi = 0, \tag{2.5}$ 

and the following formulas hold [3], [4]

$$g((\nabla_X \varphi)Y, hZ) = \eta(Y)g(h^2X, \varphi Z) - \eta(X)g(h^2Y, \varphi Z),$$
  
$$tr(h^2) = constant,$$

$$R(Y,Z)\xi = \eta(Y)h^2Z - \eta(Z)h^2Y,$$
(2.6)

$$S(Z,\xi) = -tr(h^2)\eta(Z), \tag{2.7}$$

where *R*, *S*, *Q* and  $\eta$  are the Riemannian curvature tensor type of (1,3), the Ricci tensor of type (0,2), the Ricci operator defined by g(QX,Y) = S(X,Y). Let  $(g,V,\lambda)$  be a Ricci soliton in a nearly cosymplectic manifold *M*. Taking  $V = \xi$  then from (2.4) and (1.1), we have

$$S(X,Y) = -\lambda g(X,Y). \tag{2.8}$$

The above equation yields

$$QX = -\lambda X, \tag{2.9}$$

$$S(X,\xi) = \lambda \eta(X), \tag{2.10}$$

$$r = -\lambda n. \tag{2.11}$$

Also by definition of covariant derivative, we have

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = \nabla_W S(Y,\xi) - S(\nabla_W Y,\xi) - S(Y,\nabla_W \xi).$$
(2.12)

## **3.** *φ*-Recurrent Nearly Cosymplectic Manifolds

**Definition 3.1.** A nearly cosymplectic manifold is said to be  $\varphi$ -recurrent manifold [14] if there exist a non-zero 1-form A such that

$$\varphi^2((\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z = A(W)R(X,Y)Z$$
(3.1)

for arbitrary vector fields X, Y, Z, W.

Let us consider a  $\varphi$ -recurrent nearly cosymplectic manifold. By virtue of (2.1) and (3.1), we have

$$-(\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z + \eta((\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z)\xi = A(W)R(X,Y)Z.$$
(3.2)

**Theorem 3.2.** Let given Ricci soliton on nearly cosymplectic manifolds. Then there is not exist  $\varphi$ -recurrent nearly cosymplectic manifold.

*Proof.* Contracting (3.2) with U, we obtain

$$-g((\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z,U) + \eta((\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z)\eta(U) = A(W)g(R(X,Y)Z,U).$$
(3.3)

Let  $e_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 2n + 1), be an orthonormal basis of the tangent space at any point of the manifold. Taking  $X = U = e_i$  in (3.3) and taking summation over  $i, 1 \le i \le 2n + 1$ , we get

$$-(\nabla_W S)(Y,Z) = A(W)S(Y,Z). \tag{3.4}$$

Replacing Z by  $\xi$  in (3.4) and using (2.7), we have

$$-(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = -tr(h^2)A(W)\eta(Y).$$
(3.5)

Using (2.7) and (2.4) in (2.12), we obtain

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = -[S(Y,hW) + tr(h^2)g(Y,hW)].$$
(3.6)

In view of (3.5) and (3.6), we have

$$S(Y,hW) = -tr(h^2)[g(Y,hW) + A(W)\eta(Y)].$$
(3.7)

Taking  $Y = \xi$  in (3.7), we get

$$S(\xi, hW) = -tr(h^2)[g(Y, hW) + A(W)\eta(\xi).$$
(3.8)

Using (2.1), (2.5) and (2.8) in (3.8), we find

$$-\lambda g(hW,\xi) = tr(h^2)A(W),$$
  
$$tr(h^2)A(W) = 0,$$
  
$$A(W) = 0.$$

This is a contradiction.

. .

# 4. Generalized $\varphi$ -Recurrent Nearly Cosymplectic Manifolds

**Definition 4.1.** A nearly cosymplectic manifold is said to be generalized  $\varphi$ -recurrent manifold if its curvature tensor R satisfies the relation

$$\varphi^{2}((\nabla_{W}R)(X,Y)Z) = A(W)R(X,Y)Z + B(W)\{g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y\},$$
(4.1)

where A and B are 1-forms and non-zero and these are defined by

 $A(W) = g(W, \rho_1), \quad B(W) = g(W, \rho_2),$ 

and  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  are unit vector fields associated with 1-forms A, B respectively.

**Theorem 4.2.** In a generalized  $\varphi$ -recurrent strictly nearly cosymplectic manifold  $(M_n, g)$ , the associated vector fields  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  of the 1–forms A and B respectively are co-directional.

*Proof.* In consequence of (2.1), equation (4.1) becomes

$$-(\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z + \eta((\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z)\xi = A(W)R(X,Y)Z + B(W)\{g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y\} ,$$

from which it follows by taking inner product with U that

. . .

$$-g((\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z,U) + \eta((\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z)\eta(U) = A(W)g(R(X,Y)Z,U) + B(W)\{g(Y,Z)g(X,U) - g(X,Z)g(Y,U)\}.$$
(4.2)

Let  $\{e_i\}$ , i = 1, 2, ..., 2n + 1 be an orthonormal basis of the tangent space at any point of the manifold. Then putting  $X = U = e_i$  in (4.2) and taking summation over  $i, 1 \le i \le 2n + 1$ , we get

$$-(\nabla_W S)(Y,Z) + \sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} \eta((\nabla_W R)(e_i,Y)Z)\eta(e_i) = A(W)S(Y,Z) + 2nB(W)g(Y,Z).$$
(4.3)

Again replacing Z by  $\xi$  in (4.3) and using (2.1) and (2.7), we get

$$-(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) + \sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} \eta((\nabla_W R)(e_i,Y)\xi)\eta(e_i) = \{-trh^2 A(W) + 2nB(W)\}\eta(Y).$$
(4.4)

The second term of left hand side in (4.4) with (2.1) takes the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} \eta((\nabla_W R)(e_i, Y)\xi)\eta(e_i) = \eta((\nabla_W R)(\xi, Y)\xi)\eta(\xi) = g((\nabla_W R)(\xi, Y)\xi, \xi).$$
(4.5)

Using (2.4), (2.5)and (2.6)in (4.5), we obtain

$$g((\nabla_W R)(\xi, Y)\xi, \xi) = 0. \tag{4.6}$$

In view of (4.6), (4.4) becomes

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = \{tr(h^2)A(W) - 2nB(W)\}\eta(Y).$$
(4.7)

The equation (2.12) with (2.4) and (2.7) takes the form

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = -tr(h^2)g(Y,hW) - S(Y,hW).$$
(4.8)

From equations (4.7) and (4.8), we find

$$-tr(h^2)g(Y,hW) - S(Y,hW) = (tr(h^2)A(W) - 2nB(W))\eta(Y).$$
(4.9)

Replacing *Y* by  $\xi$  then using (2.5) in (4.9) we have

$$A(W) = \left(\frac{2n}{tr(h^2)}\right)B(W).$$

This means that the vector fields  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  of the 1-forms are co-directional.

# 5. Ricci-Recurrent Nearly Cosymplectic Manifold

Theorem 5.1. Let given Ricci soliton on nearly cosymplectic manifolds. Then there is not exist Ricci recurrent nearly cosymplectic manifold.

Proof. A nearly cosymplectic manifold is said to be Ricci-recurrent manifold if there exist a non-zero 1-form A such that

	$(\nabla_W S)(Y,Z) = A(W)S(Y,Z).$	(5.1)
Replacing Z by $\xi$ in (5.1) and using (2.7), we have		
	$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = -tr(h^2)A(W)\eta(Y).$	(5.2)
Using (2.4) and (2.7) in (2.12), we obtain		
	$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = -[S(Y,hW) + tr(h^2)g(y,hW)].$	(5.3)
In view of $(5.2)$ and $(5.3)$ , we have		
	$S(Y,hW) = -tr(h^2)g(Y,hW) + tr(h^2)A(W)\eta(Y).$	(5.4)

Taking  $Y = \xi$  in (5.4), we get

$$A(W) = 0.$$

It contradicts that  $A \neq 0$ . Thus, the proof is completed.

# 6. Pseudo-projective $\varphi$ -recurrent Nearly Cosymplectic Manifold

In a nearly cosymplectic manifold M, the pseudo-projective curvature tensor  $\widetilde{P}$  is given by [20]

$$\widetilde{P}(X,Y)Z = aR(X,Y)Z + b[S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y] - \frac{r}{2n+1}(\frac{a}{2n} + b)[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y]$$
(6.1)

where *a* and *b* are constants such that  $a, b \neq 0$ .

**Theorem 6.1.** Ricci soliton in a pseudo-projective  $\varphi$ -recurrent nearly cosymplectic manifold (M,g) with 1-form non-zero A depends on the sign of  $tr(h^2)$ .

*Proof.* A nearly cosymplectic manifold is said to be pseudo-projective  $\varphi$ -recurrent manifold if there exists a non-zero 1-form A such that

$$\varphi^2((\nabla_W \tilde{P})(X,Y)Z) = A(W)\tilde{P}(X,Y)Z, \tag{6.2}$$

for arbitrary vector fields X, Y, Z, W. Let us consider a pseudo-projective  $\varphi$ -recurrent nearly cosymplectic manifold. By virtue of (2.1) and (6.2), we have

$$-(\nabla_W \dot{P})(X,Y)Z) + \eta((\nabla_W \dot{P})(X,Y)Z)\xi = A(W)\dot{P}(X,Y)Z).$$
(6.3)

Contracting (6.3) with U, we obtain

$$-g((\nabla_{W}\widetilde{P})(X,Y)Z,U) + \eta((\nabla_{W}\widetilde{P})(X,Y)Z)\eta(U) = A(W)g(\widetilde{P}(X,Y)Z,U).$$
(6.4)

Let  $e_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 2n + 1), be an orthonormal basis of the tangent space at any point of the manifold. Then putting  $X = U = e_i$  in (6.4) and taking summation over i,  $1 \le i \le 2n + 1$ , we get

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,Z) = A(W) \{ S(Y,Z) - \frac{r}{2n+1} g(Y,Z) \}.$$
(6.5)

Replacing Z by  $\xi$  in (6.5) and using (2.1) and (2.7), we have

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = -A(W)\{tr(h^2) - \frac{r}{2n+1}\}\eta(Y).$$
(6.6)

Using (2.7) and (2.4) in (2.12), we obtain

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = -[S(Y,hX) + tr(h^2)g(Y,hX).$$
(6.7)

In view of (6.6) and (6.7), we have

$$S(Y,hX) = A(W) \{ tr(h^2) + \frac{r}{2n+1} \} \eta(Y) - tr(h^2)g(Y,hX).$$

Taking  $Y = \xi$  and using (2.5), (2.8), (2.11) we get

$$A(W)\{tr(h^2) - \frac{\lambda n}{2n+1}\} = 0.$$

for non-zero A(W) we find

$$\lambda = \frac{tr(h^2)(2n+1)}{n}.$$

Hence, the proof is completed.

# 7. Concircular $\varphi$ -Recurrent Nearly Cosymplectic Manifold

The Concircular curvature tensor of (M,g) is given by [21]

$$\widetilde{C}(X,Y)Z = R(X,Y)Z - \frac{r}{2n(2n+1)}[g(Y,Z)X - g(X,Z)Y].$$
(7.1)

**Definition 7.1.** A nearly cosymplectic manifold is said to be concircular  $\varphi$ -recurrent manifold if there exist a non-zero 1-form A such that

$$\varphi^2((\nabla_W C)(X,Y)Z) = A(W)C(X,Y)Z. \tag{7.2}$$

for arbitrary vector fields X, Y, Z, W.

**Theorem 7.2.** Ricci soliton in a concircular  $\varphi$ -recurrent nearly cosymplectic manifold M with 1-form non-zero A depends on the sign of  $tr(h^2)$ .

*Proof.* Let us consider a concircular  $\varphi$ -recurrent nearly cosymplectic manifold. By virtue of (2.1) and (7.2), we have

$$-(\nabla_W \widetilde{C})(X,Y)Z + \eta((\nabla_W \widetilde{C})(X,Y)Z)\xi = A(W)\widetilde{C}(X,Y)Z.$$
(7.3)

Contracting (7.3) with U, we obtain

$$-g((\nabla_W \widetilde{C})(X,Y)Z,U) + \eta((\nabla_W \widetilde{C})(X,Y)Z)\eta(U) = A(W)g(\widetilde{C}(X,Y)Z,U).$$

$$(7.4)$$

Let  $e_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., 2n + 1), be an orthonormal basis of the tangent space at any point of the manifold. Then putting  $X = U = e_i$  in (7.4) and taking summation over i,  $1 \le i \le 2n + 1$ , we get

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,Z) = -A(W) \{ S(Y,Z) - \frac{r}{2n+1} g(Y,Z) \}.$$
(7.5)

Replacing Z by  $\xi$  in (7.5) and using (2.1) and (2.7), for a constant r, we have

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = A(W)\eta(Y)\{tr(h^2) + \frac{r}{2n+1}\}.$$
(7.6)

Using (2.7) and (2.4) in (2.12), we obtain

$$(\nabla_W S)(Y,\xi) = -[S(Y,hW) + tr(h^2)g(Y,hW)].$$
(7.7)

In view of (7.6) and (7.7), we have

$$S(Y,hW) = -\{tr(h^2) + \frac{r}{2n+1}\}A(W)\eta(Y) - tr(h^2)g(Y,hW).$$
(7.8)

Taking  $Y = \xi$ , and using (2.5) and (2.8) a characteristic vector field in (7.8), we get

$$A(W)\{tr(h^2) + \frac{r}{2n+1}\} = 0.$$
(7.9)

Using (2.11) in (7.9), for non-vanishing A, we have

$$\lambda = \frac{tr(h^2)(2n+1)}{n}.$$

So, we have desired result.

## References

- [1] Z. Olszak, Nearly Sasakian manifolds, Tensor, N.S., 33(1979), 26.
- [2] Z. Olszak, Five-dimensional nearly Sasakian manifolds, Tensor, N.S., 34(1980), 273-276.
- [3] H. Endo, On the curvature tensor of nearly cosymplectic manifolds of constant  $\varphi$ -sectional curvature. An. Stiint. Univ. Al. I. Cuza Iași. Mat. 51(2)(2005), 439-454.
- [4] A. De Nicola, G. Dileo, I. Yudin, On nearly Sasakian and nearly cosymplectic manifolds, Ann. Mat., (2017), https://doi.org/10.1007/s10231-017-0671-2.
   [5] D.E. Blair, Riemannian geometry of contact and symplectic manifolds, Progress in Math., 203, Birkhauser Boston 2002.
- [6] D.E. Blair, D.K. Showers, Almost Contact Manifolds with Killing Structures Tensors II., J. Dier. Geom., 9(1974), 577-582.
- [7] D.E. Blair, Contact Manifolds in Riemannian Geometry, Lecture Notes in Math. 509, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (1976).
- [8] S. K. Chaubey, On generalized  $\varphi$ -recurrent trans-Sasakian manifolds, (to appear).
- [9] P. Libermann, Sur les automorphismes innit-esimaux des structures symplectiques et de atructures de contact, Coll. G-eom. Di. Globale, (1959), 3759.
   [10] R.S. Hamilton, The Ricci flow on surfaces, Mathematical and General relativity (Santa Cruz, CA, 1986), American Math. Soc. Contemp. Math. 71 (1988), 237-262.
- [11] H.G. Nagaraja, C.R. Premalatha, Ricci solitons in Kenmotsu manifolds, J. Math. Anal., 3 (2) (2012), 18-24.
- [12] R. Sharma, Certain results on K-contact and  $(\kappa, \mu)$ -contact manifolds, J. Geom., 89 (2008), 138-147.
- [13] M.M. Tripathi, *Ricci solitons in contact metric manifolds*, arXiv:0801, 4222v1, [math DG] (2008).
- [14] U.C. De, On φ-recurrent Kenmotsu manifolds, Turk J. Math., 33 (2009), 17-25.
- [15] J. P. Jaiswal, R. H. Ojha, On generalized  $\varphi$ -recurrent LP-Sasakian manifolds, Kyungpook Math. J., 49(2009), 779-788.
- [16] A. Basari, C. Murathan, On generalized  $\phi$ -recurrent Kenmotsu manifolds, Fen Derg. 3(1)(2008), 91-97.
- [17] D. A. Patil, D. G. Prakasha, C. S. Bagewadi, On generalized φ-recurrent Sasakian manifolds, Bull. of Math. Anal. and Appl., 1 (3)(2009), 42-48.
- [18] J. P. Jaiswal, R. H. Ojha, On generalized  $\varphi$ -recurrent LP-Sasakian manifolds, Kyungpook Math. J., **49**(2009), 779-788.
- [19] U. C. De, N. Guha, On generalized recurrent manifolds, J. Nat. Acad. Math. India, 9(1991), 85-92.
- [20] B. Prasad, A pseudo projective curvature tensor on Riemannian manifold, Bull. Cal. Math. Soc., 94 (2002), 163-169.
- [21] K.Yano, Concircular geometry-I. Concircular transformations, Proc. Japan Acad., 16 (1940), 195-200.

**UJMA** 

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: https://doi.org/10.32323/ujma.649122



# **On a Competitive System of Rational Difference Equations**

Mehmet Gümüş<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Faculty of Science and Arts, Department of Mathematics, 67100, Zonguldak, Turkey

## Article Info

#### Abstract

Keywords: Equilibrium point, Global stability, Rate of convergence, System of difference equations 2010 AMS: 39A10, 40A05 Received: 20 November 2019 Accepted: 18 December 2019 Available online: 26 December 2019 This paper aims to investigate the global stability and the rate of convergence of positive solutions that converge to the equilibrium point of the system of difference equations in the modeling competitive populations in the form

$$x_{n+1}^{(1)} = \frac{\alpha x_{n-2}^{(1)}}{\beta + \gamma \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(2)}}, x_{n+1}^{(2)} = \frac{\alpha_{1} x_{n-2}^{(2)}}{\beta_{1} + \gamma_{1} \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(1)}}, n = 0, 1, \dots$$

where the parameters  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \alpha_1, \beta_1, \gamma_1$  are positive numbers and the initial conditions  $x_{-i}^{(1)}, x_{-i}^{(2)}$  are arbitrary non-negative numbers for  $i \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ .

# 1. Introduction

Difference equation or discrete dynamical system is a diverse field which impacts almost every branch of pure and applied mathematics. Every difference equation determines a dynamical system and vice versa. Recently, there has been a big interest in studying difference equation systems. One of the reasons for this is a necessity for some techniques which can be used in investigating equations arising in mathematical models describing real life situations in population biology, economics, probability theory, genetics, psychology, see [10, 11]. Therefore, the asymptotic behavior of solutions of the system for rational difference equations has received huge interest, see [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 13].

This paper deals with the following two-dimensional system

$$x_{n+1}^{(1)} = \frac{\alpha x_{n-2}^{(1)}}{\beta + \gamma \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(2)}}, \ x_{n+1}^{(2)} = \frac{\alpha_{1} x_{n-2}^{(2)}}{\beta_{1} + \gamma_{1} \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(1)}}, \ n = 0, 1, \dots$$
(1.1)

where the parameters  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \alpha_1, \beta_1, \gamma_1$  are positive numbers and the initial conditions  $x_{-i}^{(1)}, x_{-i}^{(2)}$  are arbitrary non-negative numbers for  $i \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ . Actually, in [15] some dynamical behaviors of the system (1.1) has been studied. But, we notice that the authors have not examined various properties of system (1.1), namely, the global stability, the rate of convergence and the asymptotic behavior. Our aim in this paper is to give a complete picture as regards the global behavior of positive solutions of system (1.1). That is, we here study the global asymptotic stability of zero equilibrium and the rate of convergence of solutions.

The following the boundedness and the local stability results have obtained in [15].

**Lemma 1.1.**  $(\bar{x}_1, \bar{x}_2) = (0, 0)$  is always an equilibrium point of system (1.1).

**Theorem 1.2.** If both  $\frac{\alpha}{\beta} < 1$  and  $\frac{\alpha_1}{\beta_1} < 1$ , then every positive solution of system (1.1) is bounded.

**Theorem 1.3.** If both  $\frac{\alpha}{\beta} < 1$  and  $\frac{\alpha_1}{\beta_1} < 1$ , then the zero equilibrium point of system (1.1) is locally asymptotically stable.

In the present paper, we will provide some results about the global behavior and the rate of convergence of positive solutions that converge to the zero equilibrium point of the system (1.1), in the regions of parameters described in Theorem 1.3. In addition to this, we will present the

Email address and ORCID number: m.gumus@beun.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7447-479X (M. Gümüş)

use of *Poincaré's Theorem* and a devolopment of *Perron's Theorem* to conclude the precise asymptotics of positive solutions that converge to the equilibrium.

Consider the following one-dimensional system of difference equations

$$x_{n+1} = f_1(x_n, y_n), n = 0, 1, \dots$$

$$y_{n+1} = f_2(x_n, y_n), n = 0, 1, \dots$$

$$(1.2)$$

where  $f_1, f_2$  are continuous functions that maps some set *I* into *I*. The set *I* is an interval of real numbers. System (1.2) is competitive if  $f_1(x, y)$  is non-decreasing in *x* and non-increasing in *y* and  $f_2(x, y)$  is non-increasing in *x* and non-decreasing in *y*. System (1.2) is called anti-competitive system, if the functions  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  have monotonic character opposite to the monotonic character in competitive system. It is well know that the dynamical properties of competitive populations has received great interest from both theoretical and mathematical biologists [14] due to its universal commonness. Competitive and anti-competitive systems were studied by many authors (see [1, 4, 5, 8]). Especially, studying the rate of convergence of solutions of some systems of difference equations is a topic of big interest [2, 3, 9]. We state that the following theorems give precise information about the asymptotics of linear non-autonomous difference equations. Consider the scalar *mth*-order linear difference equation

$$y_{n+m} + p_1(n)y_{n+m-1} + \dots + p_m(n)y_n = 0$$
(1.3)

where *m* is a positive integer and  $p_i : \mathbb{Z}^+ \to \mathbb{C}$  for  $i \in \{1, ..., m\}$ . Suppose that

$$q_i = \lim_{i \to \infty} p_i(n), \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
 (1.4)

exist in  $\mathbb{C}$ . For the following limitting equation of (1.3)

$$y_{n+m} + q_1 y_{n+m-1} + \ldots + q_m y_n = 0, \tag{1.5}$$

the asymptotics of solutions of (1.3) are given the following results. See [10, 13].

**Theorem 1.4.** (*Poincaré's Theorem*) Consider (1.3) based on the condition (1.4). Let  $\lambda_i$  for i = 1, ..., m be the roots of the characteristic equation

$$\lambda^m + q_1 \lambda^{m-1} + \ldots + q_m = 0 \tag{1.6}$$

of the limiting equation (1.5) under the condition that  $|\lambda_i| \neq |\lambda_j|$  for  $i \neq j$ . If  $x_n$  is a positive solution of (1.3), then either  $x_n = 0$  for all large n or there exists an index  $j \in \{1, ..., m\}$  such that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{x_{n+1}}{x_n}=\lambda_j.$$

The releated results were obtained by Perron, and one of Perron's results was improved by Pituk, see [13].

**Theorem 1.5.** Assume that (1.4) holds. If  $x_n$  is a positive solution of (1.3), then either eventually  $x_n = 0$  or

$$\lim \sup(|x_{nj}|)^{1/n} = |\lambda_j|$$

where  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_m$  are the roots (not necessarily distinct) of the characteristic equation (1.6).

$$Y_{n+1} = [A + B(n)]Y_n$$
(1.7)

where  $Y_n$  is an *m*-dimensional vector,  $A \in C^{m \times m}$  is a constant matrix and

$$B:\mathbb{Z}^+ o C^{m imes m}$$

is a matrix function satisfying

 $||B(n)|| \to 0$ , when  $n \to \infty$ ,

where  $\|.\|$  denotes any matrix norm which is associated with the vector norm  $\|.\|$ . See [12].

**Theorem 1.6.** (*Pituk*) Suppose that condition (1.8) holds for system (1.7). If  $Y_n$  is a solution of (1.7), then either

 $Y_n = 0$ 

for all large n or

Consider

 $\theta = \lim_{n \to \infty} \|Y_n\|^{1/n}$ 

exists and  $\theta$  is equal to the modulus one of the eigenvalues of the matrix A.

**Theorem 1.7.** (*Pituk*) Suppose that condition (1.8) holds for system (1.7). If  $Y_n$  is a solution of (1.7), then either

 $Y_n = 0$ 

$$\theta = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\|Y_{n+1}\|}{\|Y_n\|}$$

11 \* 7

exists and  $\theta$  is equal to the modulus one of the eigenvalues of the matrix A.

(1.8)
### 2. Global Behavior of the system (1.1)

In this section, we investigate the global behavior of the system (1.1).

**Theorem 2.1.** If both  $\frac{\alpha}{\beta} < 1$  and  $\frac{\alpha_1}{\beta_1} < 1$ , then the zero equilibrium point of system (1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

*Proof.* We know by Theorem 1.3 that the zero equilibrium point  $(\bar{x}_1, \bar{x}_2) = (0, 0)$  of the system (1.1) is locally asymptotically stable. So, it suffices to prove for any solution  $\{(x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)})\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  of system (1.1) that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)}) = (0, 0)$$

From the boundedness result system (1.1) it is clear that it is sufficient to prove that  $\{(x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)})\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  is decreasing. We have that

$$0 \le x_{n+1}^{(1)} = \frac{\alpha x_{n-2}^{(1)}}{\beta + \gamma \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(2)}} < \frac{\alpha}{\beta} x_{n-2}^{(1)}$$

and

$$0 \le x_{n+1}^{(2)} = \frac{\alpha_1 x_{n-2}^{(2)}}{\beta_1 + \gamma_1 \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(1)}} < \frac{\alpha_1}{\beta_1} x_{n-2}^{(2)}$$

By induction on *n*, one has

$$0 \le x_{3n+i}^{(1)} < (\frac{\alpha}{\beta})^{n+1} x_{-3+i}^{(1)}, \ i = 1, 2, 3,$$

and

$$0 \le x_{3n+i}^{(2)} < (\frac{\alpha}{\beta})^{n+1} x_{-3+i}^{(2)}, \ i = 1, 2, 3$$

Thus, for  $\frac{\alpha}{\beta} < 1$  and  $\frac{\alpha_1}{\beta_1} < 1$ , we can have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)}) = (0, 0)$$

This completes the proof.

# 3. Rate of Convergence

In this section, we will characterize the rate of convergence of a solution that converges to the equilibrium point

 $M = (\bar{x}_1, \bar{x}_2) = (0, 0)$ 

of the system (1.1).

Using Theorem 1.6 and 1.7, we obtain the following rate of convergence result.

**Theorem 3.1.** Suppose that  $\frac{\alpha}{\beta} < 1$  and  $\frac{\alpha_1}{\beta_1} < 1$ . Let  $\{(x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)})\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  be any positive solution of the system (1.1) such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n^{(1)} = \overline{x}_1,$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n^{(2)} = \overline{x}_2$$

where  $M = (\bar{x}_1, \bar{x}_2)$  and M is globally asymptotically stable. Then, the error vector

$$E_{n} = \begin{pmatrix} e_{n}^{1} \\ e_{n-1}^{1} \\ e_{n-2}^{1} \\ e_{n}^{2} \\ e_{n}^{2} \\ e_{n-2}^{2} \end{pmatrix}_{6\times 1} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{n}^{(1)} - \bar{x}_{1} \\ x_{n-1}^{(1)} - \bar{x}_{1} \\ x_{n-2}^{(1)} - \bar{x}_{1} \\ x_{n-1}^{(2)} - \bar{x}_{2} \\ x_{n-1}^{(2)} - \bar{x}_{2} \\ x_{n-2}^{(2)} - \bar{x}_{2} \end{pmatrix}_{6\times 1}$$

of every positive solution of the system (1.1) satisfies both of the following asymptotic relations:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} ||E_n||^{1/n} = |\lambda_i J_F(M)|, \text{ for some } i = 1, 2, \dots, 6$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{||E_{n+1}||}{||E_n||} = |\lambda_i J_F(M)|, \text{ for some } i = 1, 2, \dots, 6$$

where

 $|\lambda_i J_F(M)|$ 

is equal to the modulus one of the eigenvalues of the Jacobian matrix evaluated at the equilibrium point M.

*Proof.* Let  $\{(x_n^{(1)}, x_n^{(2)})\}_{n=-2}^{\infty}$  be any positive solution of the system (1.1) such that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n^{(1)} = \overline{x}_1$$

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n^{(2)} = \overline{x}_2$$

To find the error terms, we have

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n+1}^{(1)} - \bar{x}_1 &= \sum_{i=0}^2 A_i (x_{n-i}^{(1)} - \bar{x}_1) + \sum_{i=0}^2 B_i (x_{n-i}^{(2)} - \bar{x}_2) \\ x_{n+1}^{(2)} - \bar{x}_2 &= \sum_{i=0}^2 C_i (x_{n-i}^{(1)} - \bar{x}_1) + \sum_{i=0}^2 D_i (x_{n-i}^{(2)} - \bar{x}_2). \end{aligned}$$

Set

$$e_n^1 = x_n^{(1)} - \overline{x}_1,$$
  
 $e_n^2 = x_n^{(2)} - \overline{x}_2;$ 

it follows that

$$e_{n+1}^{1} = \sum_{i=0}^{2} A_{i} e_{n-i}^{1} + \sum_{i=0}^{2} B_{i} e_{n-i}^{2}$$
$$e_{n+1}^{2} = \sum_{i=0}^{2} C_{i} e_{n-i}^{1} + \sum_{i=0}^{2} D_{i} e_{n-i}^{2}$$

where

$$\begin{split} A_{0} &= 0, A_{1} = 0, A_{2} = \frac{\alpha}{\beta + \gamma \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(2)}}, \\ B_{0} &= -\frac{\alpha \gamma x_{n-2}^{(1)} x_{n-1}^{(2)} x_{n-2}^{(2)}}{(\beta + \gamma \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(2)})^{2}}, B_{1} = -\frac{\alpha \gamma x_{n-2}^{(1)} x_{n-2}^{(2)}}{(\beta + \gamma \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(2)})^{2}}, B_{2} = -\frac{\alpha \gamma x_{n-2}^{(1)} x_{n-1}^{(2)} x_{n-1}^{(2)}}{(\beta + \gamma \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(2)})^{2}}, \\ C_{0} &= -\frac{\alpha_{1} \gamma_{1} x_{n-2}^{(2)} x_{n-1}^{(1)} x_{n-2}^{(1)}}{(\beta_{1} + \gamma_{1} \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(1)})^{2}}, C_{1} = -\frac{\alpha_{1} \gamma_{1} x_{n-2}^{(2)} x_{n-1}^{(1)} x_{n-2}^{(1)}}{(\beta_{1} + \gamma_{1} \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(1)})^{2}}, C_{2} = -\frac{\alpha_{1} \gamma_{1} x_{n-2}^{(2)} x_{n}^{(1)} x_{n-1}^{(1)}}{(\beta_{1} + \gamma_{1} \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(1)})^{2}}, \\ D_{0} &= 0, D_{1} = 0, D_{2} = \frac{\alpha_{1}}{\beta_{1} + \gamma_{1} \prod_{i=0}^{2} x_{n-i}^{(1)}}. \end{split}$$

Taking the limits, it is clear that

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{n\to\infty}A_0=0,\ \lim_{n\to\infty}A_1=0\ \text{and}\ \lim_{n\to\infty}A_2=\frac{\alpha}{\beta+\gamma\bar{x}_2^3}\\ &\lim_{n\to\infty}B_0=-\frac{\alpha\gamma\bar{x}_1\bar{x}_2^2}{(\beta+\gamma\bar{x}_2^3)^2},\ \lim_{n\to\infty}B_1=-\frac{\alpha\gamma\bar{x}_1\bar{x}_2^2}{(\beta+\gamma\bar{x}_2^3)^2}\ \text{and}\ \lim_{n\to\infty}B_2=-\frac{\alpha\gamma\bar{x}_1\bar{x}_2^2}{(\beta+\gamma\bar{x}_2^3)^2},\\ &\lim_{n\to\infty}C_0=-\frac{\alpha_1\gamma_1\bar{x}_1^2\bar{x}_2}{(\beta_1+\gamma_1\bar{x}_1^3)^2},\ \lim_{n\to\infty}C_1=-\frac{\alpha_1\gamma_1\bar{x}_1^2\bar{x}_2}{(\beta_1+\gamma_1\bar{x}_1^3)^2}\ \text{and}\ \lim_{n\to\infty}C_2=-\frac{\alpha_1\gamma_1\bar{x}_1^2\bar{x}_2}{(\beta_1+\gamma_1\bar{x}_1^3)^2},\\ &\lim_{n\to\infty}D_0=0,\ \lim_{n\to\infty}D_1=0\ \text{and}\ \lim_{n\to\infty}D_2=\frac{\alpha_1}{\beta_1+\gamma_1\bar{x}_1^3}. \end{split}$$

That is

$$\begin{split} A_{2} &= \frac{\alpha}{\beta + \gamma \bar{x}_{2}^{3}} + \zeta_{n}, \quad B_{0} = -\frac{\alpha \gamma \bar{x}_{1} \bar{x}_{2}^{2}}{(\beta + \gamma \bar{x}_{2}^{3})^{2}} + \tau_{n}, \quad B_{1} = -\frac{\alpha \gamma \bar{x}_{1} \bar{x}_{2}^{2}}{(\beta + \gamma \bar{x}_{2}^{3})^{2}} + \upsilon_{n}, \quad B_{2} = -\frac{\alpha \gamma \bar{x}_{1} \bar{x}_{2}^{2}}{(\beta + \gamma \bar{x}_{2}^{3})^{2}} + \delta_{n} \\ C_{0} &= -\frac{\alpha_{1} \gamma \bar{x}_{1}^{2} \bar{x}_{2}}{(\beta_{1} + \gamma_{1} \bar{x}_{1}^{3})^{2}} + \lambda_{n}, \quad C_{1} = -\frac{\alpha_{1} \gamma \bar{x}_{1}^{2} \bar{x}_{2}}{(\beta_{1} + \gamma \bar{x}_{1}^{3})^{2}} + \varepsilon_{n}, \quad C_{2} = -\frac{\alpha_{1} \gamma \bar{x}_{1}^{2} \bar{x}_{2}}{(\beta_{1} + \gamma \bar{x}_{1}^{3})^{2}} + \eta_{n}, \quad D_{2} = \frac{\alpha_{1}}{\beta_{1} + \gamma \bar{x}_{1}^{3}} + \varphi_{n} \end{split}$$

where  $\zeta_n \to 0$ ,  $\tau_n \to 0$ ,  $\upsilon_n \to 0$ ,  $\delta_n \to 0$ ,  $\lambda_n \to 0$ ,  $\varepsilon_n \to 0$ ,  $\eta_n \to 0$ ,  $\varphi_n \to 0$  for  $n \to \infty$ . Thus, the limitting system of error terms about the equilibrium *M* can be written as follows:

and  $||D(n)|| \to 0$ , when  $n \to \infty$ . This completes the proof.

## 4. Conflict of Interests

The author declares that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this manuscript.

### Acknowledgement

The author would like to thank the Editor and the anonymous referees for their careful reading and constructive suggestions.

### References

- [1] D. Burgic, M. R. S. Kulenovic and M. Nurkanovic, Global Dynamics of a Rational System of Difference Equations in the plane, Comm. Appl. Nonlinear Anal., 15 (2008), 71-84.
- [2] D. Burgić and M. Nurkanović, The Rational System of Nonlinear Difference Equations in the Modeling Competitive Populations, 15th International Research/Expert Conference, Trends in the Devolpment of Machinery and Associated Tehnology, TMT, (2011).
- [3] D. Burgić and A. Huskanovic, The Rational System of Equations in the Modeling Anti-Competitive Populations, 18th International Research/Expert
- [6] D. Darge and Y. Haskalovic, The relational dynamic is producing this modeling that competitive relations, Four international research Expert Conference, Trends in the Devolpment of Machinery and Associated Tehnology, TMT, (2014).
  [4] A. Brett, M. Garic-Demirovic, M. R. S. Kulenovic and M. Nurkanovic, *Global behavior of two competitive rational systems of difference equations in the plane*, Commun. Appl. Nonlinear Anal., **16** (2009), 1-18.
  [5] D. Clark, M. R. S. Kulenovic, and J. F. Selgrade, *Global asymptotic behavior of a two dimensional difference equation modelling competition*, Nonlinear
- Analysis. Theory, Methods & Applications, 52 (7) (2003), 1765-1776.
- [6] M. Gocen and M. Guneysu, The Global Attractivity of some ratinal difference equations, J. Comp. Anal. Appl., 25(7) (2018), 1233-1243.
- [7] M. Gocen and A. Cebeci, On the periodic solutions of some systems of higher order difference equations, Rocky Mountain Journal of Mathematics, 48(3) (2018), 845-858.
- [8] T. F. Ibrahim, Two-dimensional fractional system of nonlinear difference equations in the modeling competitive populations, International Journal of Basic & Applied Sciences, **12** (5) (2012), 103-121. S. Kalabušić and M. R. S. Kulenović, *Rate of convergence of solutions of rational difference equation of second order*, Advances in Difference Equations, [9]
- 2 (2004): 1-19 [10] V. Kocić and G. Ladas, Global behavior of nonlinear difference equations of higher order with applications, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht,
- (1993).
- [11] M. R. S. Kulenović and G. Ladas, Dynamics of second order rational difference equations, Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, London (2001). [12] M. R. S. Kulenović and O. Merino, Discrete Dynamical Systems and Difference Equations with Mathematica, Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, London (2002).
- [13] M. Pituk, More on Poincaré's and Perron's Theorems for Difference Equations, Journal of Difference Equations and Applications, 8 (3) (2002), 201-216. [14] J. F. Selgrade and M. Ziehe, *Convergence to equilibrium in a genetic model with differential viability between the sexes*, Journal of Mathematical Biology, **25** (5) (1987), 477–490.
- [15] Q. Zhang, L. Yang and J. Liu, Dynamics of a system of rational third-order difference equation, Advances in Difference Equations, 136 (2012), 1-6.